
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2017-0224
EB-2017-0255
EB-2017-0275

	Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.
Union Gas Limited

EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership



	VOLUME:

DATE:
	Volume 3
April 26, 2018
Ken Quesnelle

Susan Frank
Michael Janigan
	Vice-Chair and Presiding Member
Member
Member


EB-2017-0224
EB-2017-0255
EB-2017-0275

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.

Union Gas Limited

EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership

Applications for approval of the cost consequences

of 2018 cap and trade compliance plans
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Thursday, April 26, 2018,

commencing at 9:03 a.m.

----------------------------------------

VOLUME 3
----------------------------------------

BEFORE:


KEN QUESNELLE

Vice-Chair and Presiding Member


SUSAN FRANK

Member


MICHAEL JANIGAN
Member
LJUBA DJURDJEVIC
Board Counsel

LAUREN MURRAY
VALERIE BENNETT
Board Staff
MYRIAM SEERS
Union Gas
ADAM SPIERS

JOSH CHARLES
DENNIS O'LEARY
Enbridge Gas

JOHN WOLNIK
Association of Power Producers of Ontario (APPrO)
TOM BRETT
Building Owners and Managers Association, Toronto (BOMA)

SCOTT POLLOCK *
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

JULIE GIRVAN
Consumers' Council of Canada (CCC)
ROGER HIGGIN
Energy Probe Research Foundation

KENT ELSON
Environmental Defence (ED)

DWAYNE QUINN *
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)

DAVID POCH
Green Energy Coalition (GEC)

LAURA VAN SOELEN 
Industrial Gas Users' Association (IGUA)

MATT GARDNER
Low Income Energy Network (LIEN)

ROBERT WOON
Ontario Sustainable Energy Coalition (OSEA)
MARK RUBENSTEIN
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
SHELLEY GRICE
Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition (VECC)
1--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.


2ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION - PANEL 1



D. Johnson, S. McGill, F. Oliver-Glasford, 

J. Murphy, A. Langstaff; Affirmed
3Presentation by Ms. Oliver-Glasford


9Examination-In-Chief by Mr. O'Leary


16Cross-Examination by Mr. Pollock


22Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn


36Cross-Examination by Ms. Van Soelen


42--- Recess taken at 10:17 a.m.


42--- On resuming at 10:37 a.m.


43Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin


67Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik


80Cross-Examination by Mr. Gardner


87Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett


112--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:49 p.m.


113--- On resuming at 1:49 p.m.


113Procedural Matters


115Cross-Examination by Mr. Woon


132Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson


165--- Recess taken at 3:21 p.m.


165--- On resuming at 3:42 p.m.


173Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch


205Procedural Matters


208--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:54 p.m.




3EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  ENBRIDGE PANEL 1 PRESENTATION.


122EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR ENBRIDGE PANEL 1


148EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  DOCUMENT SUBMITTED BY E-MAIL BY MR. ELSON.




26UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO GO OVER UNION'S APPROACH TO IT AND IDENTIFY WHAT THOSE DIFFERENCES ARE FROM A PGVA POINT OF VIEW; IN OTHER WORDS, WHAT ARE THE DIFFERENCES THAT MAY IMPACT COSTS TO RATEPAYERS IN THE HANDLING OF THESE COSTS.


50UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO PROVIDE DATA REQUESTED IN DR. HIGGIN'S TABLE


57UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO PROVIDE THE SPLIT BETWEEN THE TWO PROGRAMS, HOW MANY HOMES AND HOW MANY ADAPTIVE THERMOSTATS FOR EACH ONE.


96UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO PROVIDE MR. BRETT WITH CITATIONS IN THE EVIDENCE FOR DISCOUNTED VERSUS NON-DISCOUNTED DATA.


123UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  TO PROVIDE MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE LOW INCOME BEHAVIOURAL PILOT PROGRAM MENTIONED AT EXHIBIT C, TAB 5, SCHEDULE 2, PAGE 29


125UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  TO EXPLAIN WHY, IF YOU ADD UP THE RATEPAYER-FUNDED OF 43.162 MILLION AND THE GIF-FUNDED OF 41.427 MILLION, IT'S ABOUT $24 MILLION LESS THAN THE 109 MILLION.


132UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER FTES AT UNION GAS PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE MERGER BETWEEN ENBRIDGE AND SPECTRA AND THE CURRENT NUMBER OF FTES TODAY


167UNDERTAKING NO. J3.8:  TO FILE A COPY OF CCAP ON THE RECORD.






Thursday, April 26, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.  Mr. O'Leary, good morning.

MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, panel members.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, you have your witness panel here.  If -- they are here.

MR. O'LEARY:  They are ready to proceed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Well --


MR. O'LEARY:  Why don't I start with some introductions.  First of all --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Perfect.

MR. O'LEARY:  -- my name again for the record is Dennis O'Leary, counsel for Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.  On my left is Craig Fernandez, and on my right, the most important person that we have, Bonnie Adams, who is in charge of the electronic portion of the case.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  If I could introduce the panel.  Starting at the far end is Mr. Daniel Johnson, supervisor, DSM, policy planning, and analytics.  To his right is Mr. Steve McGill, manager, business development.  In the middle we have Ms. Fiona Oliver-Glasford, manager, carbon strategy.  To her right is Ms. Jennifer Murphy, climate policy and cap-and-trade compliance senior advisor, and at the far end is Mr. Andrew Langstaff, carbon market specialist.

If I could ask the panel to be sworn in, please.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  I'm going to do this as a panel.
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION - PANEL 1

Daniel Johnson,
Steve McGill,
Fiona Oliver-Glasford,
Jennifer Murphy,
Andrew Langstaff; Affirmed.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  And I just have one question.  I will direct it to you Ms. Oliver-Glasford, on behalf of the panel.  That is, do you adopt the pre-filed evidence, the interrogatory responses prepared by the company, any undertaking responses that may be generated during the course of this proceeding as the evidence put forward by the company on behalf of the panel?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.

Sir, we're ready to proceed with a presentation and with some very short evidence-in-chief.  I simply wanted to ask whether or not there are any preliminary matters, knowing --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't believe so, Mr. O'Leary, so whenever you are ready.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So then -- thank you, Bonnie -- we have a presentation that is going to be delivered by the panel.  Perhaps we could ask to have that marked as an exhibit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K3.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  ENBRIDGE PANEL 1 PRESENTATION.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  Turning to you --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Whenever you're ready --


MR. O'LEARY:  -- Ms. Glasford, could you please provide the Board with a summary of what the company has done?
Presentation by Ms. Oliver-Glasford:

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Great.  Just to start out, you will note that the date says April 24th.  We didn't want to waste any more trees in printing it, so apologies for the incorrect date.

Good morning, Board Panel.  Today I am proud to be making the opening presentation in this hearing on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution.

I'll take you on a brief journey from our last hearing for the 2017 cap-and-trade compliance plan to the 2018 cap-and-trade compliance plan you have before you today.

To that end the presentation firstly covers a retrospective of 2017, then moves to an overview of the 2018 compliance plan and planning processes, a snapshot of what is new in 2018, and concludes with the 2018 compliance plan asks.

In this slide we'll take you through a brief 2017 retrospective.  Year one of cap-and-trade at Enbridge Gas Distribution was established and implemented smoothly.  Administration and business systems were in place on time and are being sustained adequately.  Governance processes are appropriate and effective, whilst demonstrating flexibility.

Sustained communication has taken place with customers about cap-and-trade as required by the Board's framework through outreach to customers via Enbridge's web, our bills, cap-and-trade conferences, customer meetings and trade shows, as well as communicated to our customers as a co-benefit of DSM.

Ongoing engagement and monitoring of cap-and-trade policy has occurred, including offset market development, California post-2020 rule development, and the Pan-Canadian framework.

Ongoing engagement with GreenON Fund to, where possible, apply for incremental energy efficiency and discuss and introduce new low-carbon solutions; for example, RNG and geothermal.

Here we take you through some lessons learned in implementing cap-and-trade to date.  Cap-and-trade requires time and investment to establish and sustain.  The learning curve in Ontario was enhanced by others' experiences in California and Quebec.  Understanding policy development in our own, as well as in our linked, jurisdictions is critical in better understanding the carbon market.

In order to assess incremental opportunity of any type, existing market activity and conditions or a baseline must be known.  And where a framework for economic analysis of investments exists, they should be updated to reflect carbon costs as per the Board's long-term carbon price forecast, or the LCTPF, which we sometimes call it.

Enbridge's one-year 2018 compliance plan filed on November 9th, 2017 is cost-effective, reasonable, and optimized.  It is prudent and exhibits strong governance.  The Board concluded in its decision on the 2017 that that was so for the 2017 compliance plan, and Enbridge's 2018 only builds on the 2017 plan and learnings.

As listed, all key elements within the Board's framework were addressed.  As per the Board's framework, Enbridge will file its 2018 results and seek disposition of 2018 costs in its August 1st, 2019 annual monitoring report.

The key assumptions and knowns in the 2018 compliance plan include Enbridge's 2018 annual compliance obligation is 20.1 million tonnes of CO2e, derived from volumes which are net of DSM and incremental energy efficiency forecasts.  And as a point of reference, that forecast is down roughly 5 percent from 2017's forecasted volumes.

Cap-and-trade remains in place in Ontario for 2018.  We did our planning based on that assumption, and the Ontario offset regulation is now final.  Western Climate Initiative linkage was effective January 1st, 2018.  And California's cap-and-trade program is now definitively extended out post-2020.

Enbridge is a related entity in WCI, the Western Climate Initiative, with Union Gas and Gazifère Incorporated.  In a linked market, all WCI products are fungible, with liquidity being increased with now entrants into the WCI market.

And 1.9 billion was raised through cap-and-trade in Ontario that will be invested in low-carbon initiatives, with a significant focus on energy efficiency.  2018 revenues are -- to be similar.

Enbridge notes that the market is still relatively new and there are still unknowns in place including, for example, the upcoming election and ensuing carbon policy and transparency to how revenues will be recycled back into the market, amongst other unknowns.

The Board's cap-and-trade framework and guiding principles are the foundation upon which the 2018 compliance plan was built.  Enbridge ensured cost-effectiveness was critical in the planning process.

In evidence, each of the guiding principles is addressed.  The 2018 compliance plan relied an some foundational inputs, including the carbon strategy report and carbon market report being completed just over a year ago now, which we felt were still relevant for 2018 planning.

From there, Enbridge recognize the need to layer on some more contemporary elements to enhance planning.  Those elements include a third-party report offset, market insight and strategy, intelligence gained from intelligence channels, experience, third-party 2018 carbon forecasts, a Bard-provided long-term carbon price forecast, the Board- provided marginal abatement cost curve, and the development of an abatement construct.

What's new in 2018?  In 2018, there are several items that are new; the use of the marginal abatement cost curve and long-term carbon price forecast, and expanded consideration of customer and facility-related abatement, including the introduction of an abatement construct.  The abatement construct has several elements, including complementary criteria to the Board's guiding principles, a four-stage initiative funnel, low carbon initiative funds and two FTEs to assess and manage abatement initiatives -- and just to clarify, the abatement construct does address customer as well as facility-related abatement -- a third party report around offsets, a proposal for RNG procurement, incremental energy efficiency captured in volume and GHG forecasts, and the addition of a working group in Enbridge's cap-and-trade processes and governance.

So just a quick overview of the abatement construct.  The abatement construct provides transparency to stakeholders around how Enbridge is assessing abatement initiatives moving forward and over the longer-term.  The construct provides a consistent approach in common language that we hope helps streamline processes in planning, in regulatory hearings, and in the implementation of abatement initiatives.

Streamlining helps drive cost efficiency.  The abatement construct illustrates not only continuous improvement from 2017, but will also allow for continuous improvement moving forward when resources are in place.  The abatement construct includes complementary considerations to the Board's guiding principles, including funding, timely advancement of technology, support of government targets, efficient and rational development, and respect for appropriately modified regulatory constructs.

It also mobilizes financial and people resources to enable abatement initiatives to come to fruition over time in compliance planning.

The low carbon initiative fund is intended to enable the identification and development of GHG-reducing technologies to progress into future abatement opportunities for compliance purposes.  The LCIF proposes up to $2 million in available funds per year starting in 2018, and commits to only tracking actual costs in the GGEIDA.  It provides stable and predictable funding around low carbon initiatives.  It provides the benefit of leveraged funding as most government funds require a commitment of funding from the proponents when they go to provide submissions for those funds.

There has been initial estimates on what the LCIF would be spent on, based on experience and internal discussions with people knowledgeable in such areas.  The specifics on each initiative would be further scoped by the two FTEs identified in conjunction with the funding, and will be subject to management review.  When initiatives are deemed to be advantageous for ratepayers, they will move to the proposal stage and will be formally proposed with a more fulsome business case for implementation.

All spending will be subject to review and clearance when 2018 results are filed on August 1st, 2019.

Next slide.  Finding that the 2018 -- sorry, 2018 compliance plan asks a finding that the 2018 compliance plan is compliant with the Board's framework and is a reasonable and optimized plan, including the $2 million LCIF and the two additional FTE to assess and manage abatement initiatives.

Clearance of 2016 administration costs for cap-and-trade, approval of final 2018 cap-and-trade unit rates, and approval of 2018 customer and facility GHG variance accounts.  Thank you.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Ms. Oliver-Glasford.  Just a couple of questions to other panel members.

Turning to you first, Mr. Johnson, you will recall there was some discussion here on Tuesday about the use of the MACC, and I'm wondering if you could assist the panel by advising what Enbridge did in terms of its use of the MACC.

MR. JOHNSON:  Certainly, thank you.  Yes, so Enbridge certainly took a very similar view to Union in terms of our understanding of what was written in the framework, but that the MACC was really intended as a principal tool that we were to rely on and that the Board would rely on when looking at our compliance plans.

There were spots obviously within the framework that said other information could be used, and our interpretation of that was that other information could be used if it created a very compelling reason, or there was very strong evidence to suggest that there should be some deviation from the MACC.  So based on that, we really did use the MACC as our key part or our most important part of looking at our compliance options.

In terms of how we used the MACC, again similar I think to what we heard from Union, the MACC identifies a number of opportunities and determines how cost-effective they are relative to the price of carbon.  It does not account for the existing programs and again, I think we've talked a lot about or heard a lot about how we have very substantial existing demand-side management programs in market.  So in order to effectively use the MACC, we had to compare those results against our existing programs and we had to make a couple of adjustments to do an apples-by-apples comparison.

What I mean by that is the MACC, for example, was a province-wide study, so we had to make an adjustment to compare the results in the MACC to our franchise area to make sure we were doing a proper comparison.

The second adjustment that we had to make was that the MACC was based on a conservation potential study and that study is a gross study, whereas all our results for DSM we call net results.  So we had to make an adjustment for net-to-gross to do that comparison, the results of which showed when we did that comparison that our existing programs with DSM, at a high-level, exceeded the opportunities -- or the cost-effective opportunities identified within the MACC.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  We heard some discussion the other day about natural conservation.  Can you tell us how that is relevant to this discussion, and your evidence about the CPS being a gross study?

MR. JOHNSON:  Certainly.  So within the conservation potential study, the reference case attempts to account for natural conservation and we differentiate that from net-to- gross.  Probably the best example I can give is to take an example in a home of a furnace.  So an existing home might have a furnace that's 80 percent efficient, and it is nearing the end of its useful life and the customer is considering replacing that.  The code today says they would need to replace that furnace with something that's 90 percent.  That is the minimum that they would be allowed to replace it with, so that difference between 80 percent and 90 percent, that's natural conservation.  It has to happen.

The conservation potential study attempted to exclude those opportunities when it was done, and our programs also exclude those opportunities.  We would not count that difference between 80 and 90 percent.

What our programs attempt to do is encourage the customer to go from 90 percent to, say, 95 percent and that difference is what our programs would claim, and that's also the types of opportunities that were identified in the CPS.

In our programs there is an additional factor applied, which is free ridership or, more broadly, net to gross, and that accounts for the fact that a customer may, of their own volition -- perhaps they are very environmentally conscious -- may say, I want to go to that 95 percent efficient furnace anyway, despite our programs being present, and so that's what we call a free rider, and that's discounted off the results of our program.

The conservation potential study didn't apply that net to gross adjustment as part of the methodology.  It can be in some cases a very significant one, so you would, you know, you would expect to see it clearly articulated where that discount was applied.

In fact, if we can just quickly pull up the conservation potential study.  I forget the reference, Exhibit...

MR. O'LEARY:  KT1.5.

MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you.  And you will see in footnote 34 here it says that:
"Measured TRC Plus results do not include program costs such as program administrative (non-incentive) costs and adjustments for Free ridership spillover effects and persistence."

Free ridership spillover colloquially being net to gross.  So that's why in our view this study was a gross number, so again, in order to compare it properly against our results we had to provide that discount factor.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right, did Enbridge do any analysis beyond the MACC?

MR. JOHNSON:  We did.  Again, I think one of the challenges with the MACC is, as I understand, we didn't have full visibility into the mechanics of how the MACC worked.  So not knowing, you know, we could see the assumptions in the report and understand those, but we couldn't see exactly the way in which it was applied, so kind of as a, what I'll call a gut check, we did do our own analysis in the -- again, using the conservation potential study and our understanding of how the framework sets out the expectations.

So again, if I could quickly ask you to pull up the framework itself on page 23, the second paragraph.  So this is from the framework, where it says:
"Any activities..."

And I'll refer to "activities" here as an example being incremental abatement.

"...include in the compliance plans that are more expensive per tonne of CO2 than the annual carbon forecast price, the utilities should provide a qualitative and quantitative description of the strategic value in these investments."

So in other words again I think the Board is saying that they're expecting -- and this is again my interpretation -- to compare the price of a program versus the price of carbon, but again, you can use other information if there is a strong reason to deviate from that.

So the analysis that we did from the CPS is we again looked at our existing programs and said if we were to do something incremental could we do that activity for less than the price of carbon?  The way we did that analysis is we looked at what's called the constrained case in the conservation potential study and looked at if we now then went to the semi-constrained case, so to drive incremental results.

The reason we use the constrained case is it's pretty close to our existing programs in terms of results and spend.  It is not exactly because, again, you know, this study was done a number of years ago, but it gives you an indication of with all energy efficiency programs, as you do more and more work, it gets harder and more expensive.  You need either greater incentives or new technologies, which tend to be more expensive, to drive those results.

So in that analysis, when we went from the constrained to the semi-constrained, we took the total carbon abatement and the total program cost from the CPS and compared those and got a result of $60, and again, we don't need to turn it up, but you can see the math if anyone is interested that we did that in our response to Staff IR 24 on attachment 2, page 3.

Basically this drew the same results that we had from the MACC, which was the incremental carbon abatement within the cap-and-trade framework was not cost-effective.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Johnson.

One further question.  There was also some discussion the other day about CCAP and GreenON, and if you can tell me how that is relevant to this proceeding.

MR. JOHNSON:  Certainly.  So I think we've heard that there is a lot of incremental dollars as a result of CCAP funding, a number of which are targeted at energy efficiency, and our understanding is they are meant specifically to go after incremental programs to the existing programs in market, so in other words, you know, they are to try to avoid duplicating and go after additional energy efficiency.

So despite the fact that our results or our analysis showed that it wasn't cost-effective, even if there was something cost-effective, incremental cost-effective abatement, we would be very cautious about pursuing that, given we don't know where those government dollars are going to be spent, given the government has specifically said they intend in some cases to target incremental programs, we would be hesitant just in terms of not wanting to either start developing something only to have the government launch something or, even worse, as we've already discovered in one case with our adaptives, where the program ends up being duplicated, and that's ineffective use of society's money, whether it is ratepayer or tax dollars or I guess, regardless of where the source of that money is.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Johnson.

If I could turn to you very briefly, Mr. McGill, could you provide us with a status report on the RNG procurement proposal?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.  Yesterday we received a letter from the Minister of Energy indicating to us that the proposed funding in support of our RNG procurement plan will not be available until after the provincial election in June.  And as such, we are putting the procurement RFP on hold for the time being and we're in the process of communicating this information to the parties that have responded to the RFP, so for the time being that process is going to be on hold.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. McGill.

Mr. Chair, the panel is now available for cross-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.

I understand we have CME, Mr. Pollock, on the phone this morning.

MR. POLLOCK:  Yes, that's correct, Mr. Chair, thank you.  And thank you to the -- thank you to the panel as well for your time.  I want to apologize in advance if I cut you off during your answer.  I'm not going to know whether or not you are considering your answer or you're finished, so if that happens, I apologize.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'll try to do air traffic control.

[Laughter]
Cross-Examination by Mr. Pollock:

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you very much.  So I was going to ask a few questions about RNG, especially in light of the information that you just mentioned, panel.  So if we could turn up Exhibit C, tab 5, Schedule 2, page 10, please.  And if we could scroll to the bottom, please.  All right.  Great.  Thank you.

So Table 2, as I understand it, panel, is an example of how the RNG procurement program would work; is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, it is.

MR. POLLOCK:  And it shows sort of ten years' worth of both the overall cost at row D and then the forecasted cost for both traditional gas and the cost of carbon; is that right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. POLLOCK:  So do I understand it that your RNG mechanism is fairly similar to Union's, if not the exact same?

MR. McGILL:  My understanding is that it is very similar.  I believe that there are some differences between our PGVA accounting treatment and Union's, but I'm not familiar with Union's methodology.

MR. POLLOCK:  Understood.  Thank you.

So at the time that you would theoretically, I guess now, enter into a contract with an RNG producer you would do things, correct, or at least two things:  First, you would get a ten-year forward price forecast for the cost of natural gas, and you'd apply those values as sort of a notional ratepayer-funded amount for the cost of gas; is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that forecast of traditional gas cost would be representative of what the cost of gas would be to our customers without embarking on the RNG procurement program.

MR. POLLOCK:  Right, and that would be for the full ten years, starting, like, at the time you entered into the contract, you would then forecast out ten years or however long the contract was; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  And the second thing would you do, very similarly, is you would take ten years' worth of the long-term carbon price forecast and you would map out the cost of carbon for ten years as well; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, for the same period of time.

MR. POLLOCK:  Right.  And then the difference, anything that was left over between the contract cost and what you had already added up for ratepayer fundings, would be the amount covered by the government; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. POLLOCK:  So I don't know if it's necessary to turn it up, but JT2.6 was an undertaking, and you were asked about how your proposal interacts with the variance accounts.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  And as I understood it, there wasn't really much of a role for the variance accounts insofar as the amount that you forecast at the start for those ten years is the amount that ratepayers are going to be charged as part of that year over year.  Is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, in terms of the purchased gas variance account, the forecast price with respect to the RNG volumes would become part of the PGVA reference price and the -- be recovered through our system gas supply charge.

MR. POLLOCK:  So there wouldn't really be variances that you would expect, correct?

MR. McGILL:  We wouldn't expect significant variances, no, in that it's a ten-year price forecast and the actual cost of gas over that ten-year period of time will be different.  So the only difference that would flow through the variance account would be the difference between the forecast price of the RNG volume versus what the actual cost of gas was.

But in terms of bill impact, there wouldn't be any in that it's the PGVA reference price that is reflected in our system gas supply charge.  I think that's what that undertaking shows.

MR. POLLOCK:  Right.  So am I right in thinking that there's a forecast risk insofar as the price of gas and the price of carbon may change depending -- from what you're forecasting?

MR. McGILL:  There will be differences between the forecast price and the actual cost of gas over that period of time.  But the way the PGVA reference price is set is that there would not be a difference in what customers pay for gas over that period of time with respect to that RNG volume.

MR. POLLOCK:  Right.  So what you forecast in the original is what they're going to pay over the ten years; there will be no change in that.  The only risk is between whether they are paying more or less than what the market would be normally, absent the RNG?

MR. McGILL:  Correct.

MR. POLLOCK:  Got you.  So will Enbridge be negotiating any contractual mechanisms to mitigate the forecast risk at all, so if you're off by a certain amount in your forecast, you get to reforecast or terminate or anything?

MR. McGILL:  No, these contracts will be sets for ten-year periods of time.  What we will be endeavouring to do is fix the cost of the RNG that we procure over that period of time, and then we will have -- presumably, we will have a fixed amount of subsidy funding available and that will dictate what we can acquire in terms of the RNG volumes over the ten-year period of time.

So if there are differentials, it will show up in the absolute volume of RNG that we procure over the ten-year period of time.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, understood.  Could we turn up CCC 10, please?  Thank you very much.

I see this interrogatory response in a new light given that the RNG funding is sort of on hold.  But right sort of at the top of page 2, I guess, if we scroll down, you mention that Enbridge also does not see a high-risk that carbon pricing will seek to exist.

And I guess my first question on that is: Is this something that you keep an eye on, that you monitor continually?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think there's a couple of things at play right now.  We are leading up to an election in Ontario and there are different views on cap-and-trade and carbon pricing across the various parties that are contending in that election.

The other factor is that the federal government seems to be bound and bent in bringing in some kind of carbon pricing regime.  They are talking about going to $50 a tonne by 2020, and that they're saying that that regime will be imposed on the provinces where the provinces want to work cooperatively with them or not.

So, we believe that for the foreseeable future, there will be some sort of carbon pricing regime in play in Ontario.

MR. POLLOCK:  And I guess I just wanted to ask you: Assuming for a second that you haven't yet secured RNG funding from the government and the provincial government decides to scrap cap-and-trade, would you still be pursuing RNG contracts with producers seeking other funding or going ahead with the project in any form?

MR. McGILL:  Well, if the funding failed to materialize, I think we would try to find other ways to make this happen.  I'm not sure exactly where we would turn in order to do that, but we would have to reassess the program and how it's funded and seek alternatives to that.

MR. POLLOCK:  And I suppose my final question would be:  Assuming that the provincial cap-and-trade is eliminated and not replaced with anything provincially, would you be using the pan-Canadian framework cost of carbon in terms of your mechanism, or would you be using a different number?

MR. McGILL:  I will hand that over to one of my fellow panel members.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think we will be waiting to see what happens.  Each of the provinces do have a deadline to identify to the federal government whether they are going to be in fact putting in a cap-and-trade system, or whether they're going to be using the federal back stop pricing.  So at that point, we will have a better sense of what the provincial government will do.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So in terms of, I guess, the broad possibilities, either it will be the cap-and-trade program price as it's currently constituted, another provincial price depending on what the provincial government decides to do, or the pan-Canadian framework cost of carbon.  Those are the three most likely scenarios?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I think that's correct.

MR. POLLOCK:  All right, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Pollock.  Mr. Quinn, are you available?  Has anybody been in touch with Mr. Quinn this morning?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes, he's on the line.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir, sorry.  I was on mute.

First off, I appreciate the Panel allowing us to call in and appreciate Board Staff setting it up.  So I apologize for the delay.  I was just trying to be on mute while I was waiting.  So if I may proceed with the same concerns that Mr. Pollock had expressed, I hope we can guide the witness panel through our questions.

I had advanced to Ms. Adams that I want to start actually with JT2.6, which Mr. Pollock was referring to a moment ago.  I appreciate he was getting some clarity, but I just want to make sure -- this was a big challenge in our technical conference for everybody to be on the same page, so I just want to make sure that I understand it.

First off in JT2.6, in table 1, if you could turn that up, Ms. Adams, please, for the panel and let me know when you're there.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We're there, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So I think what Mr. Pollock was asking is if you were to look at that table and the forecast cost of traditional gas supplies, this is the gas supply forecast that is going to, for lack of a better term, be embedded in the contracts and will fix the price of RNG.  Is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  I don't think this price would be embedded in the RNG procurement agreements.  It would be the price identified in row D of the table that would be embedded in those contracts, and that the forecast price would be what we would use as an input into our PGVA reference price year over year, over the ten years.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the importance is it is not in the contract per se broken out that way; it's the bottom line that's in the contract.  But for the purposes of the ratepayer exposure on the commodity cost, that is what is in line A?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And what I thought I heard you say is if the price of gas -- to throw a number out -- is $3 in year two, 45 cents then would go into PGVA for prospective recovery from ratepayers over the next period?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that's helpful and I appreciate that.  I just want to then turn to the final table.  It is table 3 that breaks down the relative costs of allowances, offsets and RNG.

Now, I understand these are illustrative, and so I would just take you to the RNG line, row -- the RNG row has a price of $17.  Do you have that up?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so that $17 would essentially be the bottom line from table 1, row D that you referred to before that is embedded in the contract?

MR. McGILL:  In this example, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So in that example.  Okay.  So if the cost that the $17 is illustrative, if that cost is actually $30, that would be the cost that would be put in that line and would form part of your portfolio of instruments for compliance; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Can you just give us a moment?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McGILL:  Yeah, just to be clear, the line in table 3 that's identified as RNG, the $17 equates to the carbon price that is reflected in, I believe, row B of table 1 in this exhibit.

MR. QUINN:  So, I'm sorry, then you are saying that that is the --


MR. McGILL:  If you look at footnote 4 to table 3, it says:

"The notional carbon value for the RNG volumes corresponds to the 2018 amount in the LTCPF, which is $17 per tonne of carbon."

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I see that now.  Thank you.  Okay.  So I think I have clarity on your tables.  The final question then I would have in that area, you noted some differences with Union, and again, both utilities, I think, have been trying to be helpful in providing a respective display of their intended handling of these costs.

Would it be possible by undertaking for Enbridge to go over Union's approach to it and identify what those differences are from a PGVA point of view?  In other words, what is -- what are the differences that may impact costs to ratepayers in the handling of these costs?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we can undertake to speak with Union and try to identify those differences.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate that.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO GO OVER UNION'S APPROACH TO IT AND IDENTIFY WHAT THOSE DIFFERENCES ARE FROM A PGVA POINT OF VIEW; IN OTHER WORDS, WHAT ARE THE DIFFERENCES THAT MAY IMPACT COSTS TO RATEPAYERS IN THE HANDLING OF THESE COSTS.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I'd like to move then -- and again, Ms. Adams has been helpful.  This projection.  It was very helpful to us by remote -- if you could go to Environmental Defence 32 just as a starting point to get context.  And when you get to that interrogatory response if you can go to page 2, please.

Actually, I should start on page 1 to make sure I am allowing everybody to follow along with us.  In this interrogatory -- and I'm assuming it is up; is that correct?

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  What was asked was a breakdown between what is ratepayer-funded and acquisition programs in DSM versus GIF-funded program relative to the
-- Enbridge's commitments; that is, undertaking in a GIF-funded program to reduce greenhouse gases.

Now, this was interesting, and maybe it is just me that is having trouble putting this all together, but if I look at table 1, if I understand table 1 -- like, the first table, ratepayer-funded resource acquisition programs, this would be all of Enbridge's programs related to resource acquisition, so it would include residential, commercial, industrial; correct?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just one moment, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And the best that I was able to figure this out, because I was trying to then compare to table -- the second table, which is on the top of page 2, the GIF-funded program, is a GIF-funded program, though, specifically residential and aligned predominantly with the whole home improvement program?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, the GIF funding is as you describe.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, what I was trying to do is to be able to compare apples to apples, and honestly, I spent some time in your DSM evidence from the generic proceeding and I was trying to loop things together, and I can't put the pieces in the puzzle together, so I did advance to Ms. Adams, I thought which might be helpful, a table of what I was trying to figure out, and ask the panel, and of course if you need to do this by undertaking, but to allow us to compare what's being done in the -- in the Green Fund program versus DSM; and very importantly, where are the allocation of the benefits of the respective programs?  So do you have that table up?

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So when I was trying to compare apples to apples I wanted only to compare it versus the comparable program that Enbridge would be running, which I understand is the same type of program in DSM, to ask what was in the 2018 forecasted budget for DSM and, again, what would be generated in terms of natural gas savings and then the equivalent tonnes of GHG carbon dioxide emissions, and then just the factors that contribute to that, what are the number of homes forecast, but very importantly, out of these respective programs -- and I'm going to check this question with the witness panel -- in the DSM program, you are going to get savings of millions of cubic metres of natural gas.  The number has to be filled in the box.  But it is correct that you are going to get lifetime savings of natural gas; correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And there would be able to be calculated a lifetime GHG impact from that savings; correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  Again, you are referring to our DSM programs?

MR. QUINN:  I am referring to your DSM programs specifically.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so what I'm trying to understand is -- and I assume I've got a spelling error in this thrown-together table -- but for 2018 and 2019, what if any compliance benefit does that DSM program actually provide to the utility and, of course, as ratepayers paying for those compliance programs, what compliance benefit, if any, can be expected from the DSM investment that we're making?  So just first off, are you clear in understanding what I'm trying to get at?

MR. QUESNELLE:  The panel is conferring, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Good morning, Mr. Quinn.  I think we're going to try to respond to what I believe you're asking, and then if you don't feel like we're doing a good job, please feel tree to clarify your question, but I think that's really where we have a bit of a disconnect between cap-and-trade and energy efficiency, in that cap-and-trade we have a legal obligation to procure against the gate station volumes, so presumably there are savings from DSM as well as the Green Investment Fund, which we have netted off of our forecasted gate station throughputs for purposes of procuring allowances, but, you know, these things are developed as per the EM&V framework in DSM and confirmed in that context.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I'm going to play that back if I may, Ms. Oliver-Glasford.  What I'm understanding you to say is the savings from DSM do create the opportunity for compliance reductions in your GHG obligations; is that correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, on a forecasted basis.  So again, the forecast is that those savings do occur.  We believe in our energy efficiency programs, but what we are actually procuring allowances on has to be what actually goes through our gate station for purposes of meeting our cap-and-trade obligation.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So translated back, then, to the GIF program, the green fund programs, to the extent you spend 41 million, there will be no necessarily verification of those lifetime metres cubed, nor lifetime greenhouse gas reductions.  Your proof is in the pudding as to what goes through the gate station in that annualized period.

MR. JOHNSON:  I would say that that's true from the point of view from within the cap-and-trade framework.  Obviously, the government, who is providing that money, we do report in to them on the results.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then what I would like to do is, if Enbridge could still fill in that table, because I guess what I'm still trying to grapple with the respective programs and their value, which is now twofold -- yes, efficiency reduction.  But implicitly, there has got to be a GHG impact.  So using the same basis as to what you're assuming in the Green Fund program, using that same metric, you should be able to calculate what the expected savings are, or I think forecast -- Ms. Oliver-Glasford said on a forecast basis, we would expect that.

Could Enbridge undertake to fill in this table with those -- in the missing boxes, and then just explain what you said to me in a way that is helpful to the Board and helpful to us in terms of being able to understand the respective benefits of two parallel programs trying to achieve different results for different purposes, but having hopefully a dual layer benefit?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  I think this is really the nut of it that you've pointed out here, and I think trying to fill out this chart is not going to be helpful.

I think what we need to do is take a bit of a step back and the point in me trying to explain that we're buying allowances based on actual throughput was really to call out the point that we are doing it -- we are buying allowances or offsets, or however we're doing our procurement to meet the actual obligation.  This is a top-down measurement.

DSM is a worthy investment.  It drives reductions.  But those are measured and evaluated on a bottom -- from a bottom up basis, and to try and determine at any point at the end of a year when we've had an actual number, what might have been our energy efficiency savings, I think -- you know, I harken back to a number of years ago when there was discussions around looking at billing analysis and looking at energy efficiency in different ways.

So you have a fundamental disconnect there.  We can account for, in our cap-and-trade compliance plan, what is being forecasted in energy efficiency.  But to try and marry them up in a very linear fashion is a very difficult exercise.

And so to that end, Enbridge and Union jointly put a letter forward to the Board requesting that the price of carbon is considered and used when assessing the cost-effective opportunities and DSM under the DSM framework, so that it might be most helpful to everybody involved, because to try and parse out pieces is going to be very difficult and it will continue to be very difficult.

And so, Mr. Quinn, I can understand.  This has really been something that we've been trying to get our heads around.  But I feel like there's a -- you know, there's two different ways of looking at this.  One is a cap-and-trade compliance obligation and one is the DSM framework, which has the bottom up development of those forecasted results.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I think and I heard in your answer, Ms. Oliver-Glasford, that, you know, it forms the expectation that -- I guess I would just put a different perspective on that.  What is it we can expect out of what we are investing, we being ratepayers in DSM and we being contributor's to the green funds because of the carbon cap-and-trade obligations.

So if both of these charts are on the basis of what expectation can we expect from these investments that we're making, that at least provide a comparator for the purposes of understanding the value of what we can expect from the dollars we are investing.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn, could I ask you to hone in on what value you think that would be providing this panel in making its determination within the ambits of our task here in this hearing?

MR. QUINN:  Well, thank you, sir.   If I look even to the bottom line -- and I was trying to figure this out in my own head, and maybe the witness panel can answer this question -- the DSM program is obviously forecast to create savings of natural gas.  The corollary benefit to those savings are greenhouse emission reductions.

I'm trying to equate for myself and the Board, I believe, would be interested in the value of these investments, to look at the DSM investments as having that extended benefit of not just energy efficiency, the purpose of energy efficiency, but toward the end game of reducing the carbon cost.  There is an amount of compliance that ought to be expected.  Whether it will be realized or not, Ms. Oliver-Glasford, I take your point to actually calculate it specifically would be difficult.

But to determine what the value of the investment is in the DSM program when you see it vis-a-vis the amount of compliance reduction that could be expected from that investment, I think is helpful.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Helpful in what way, Mr. Quinn?  If we made a determination -- and I'm not going to even try to state a dollar amount -- if it was a certain value, what do we do with that?

MR. QUINN:  Well, what we could do, sir, is to understand the value of the parallel investments being made, potentially reducing, might I say, over-investment in some sectors such that we invest the dollars -- if DSM is to be spread across the rate classes for good reasons of public interest that we've done over time, should the green funds actually be, quote-unquote spread out to a lot of people, or should they be focussed on where we can get our biggest bang for the buck, as some people have said in this process?

So to the extent that the compliance plans are to be optimized, one of the clear metrics in optimization is what is it you're getting for a bang for your buck.  And so to see these numbers in parallel helps my client, at least, understand the value of what we'd be investing in, and I respectfully suggest the Board might be interested in that for the greater public interest of two parallel programs and what are we getting from each.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn, Mr. O'Leary, do you have something to contribute?

MR. O'LEARY:  I hope so, sir, just perhaps a comment that might help me understand exactly what's being looked for here.

First of all, we submit, sir, that obviously DSM is the subject of an already approved plan, and it is going to be the subject of a midterm review as well.  But there already is a plan in effect that is based on forecast gas savings, which are then converted using the exchange value or the reference change to GHG emissions that are then netted out of the forecasts which are used in this proceeding.

I might remind Mr. Quinn that questions dealing with GHG emissions forecasts and volume forecasts are actually subject to the written hearing portion of this proceeding, and one might submit that your questions relate to that.

In respect of the Green Investment Fund, it is a relationship and funding is coming from the government of Ontario, and Enbridge is responsible to respond to its contractual commitments to the government of Ontario and felt it was important to proceed with that.  That is a matter that is not actually within the jurisdiction of this Board, other than to require the company to use the forecast savings as part of its forecasts in this proceeding, and that has taken place.

So the company has complied fully with the reductions for the forecasts that are included in rates, and that has happened.

So as the panel has indicated, our submission, sir, is that there wouldn't be any value to the panel by the completion of this chart, and as we've heard, it is going to be a fairly difficult exercise to complete, and as it's of little value or if it relates to the written hearing it shouldn't be approved.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn?  Are you still with us, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, sorry, sir, I muted again while Mr. O'Leary was talking.

I understand his perspective.  I guess the amount of time to generate this table, if could I ask the witness panel, would that be 15 minutes, half an hour?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn, we are not interested in having things on the record that may not be of relevance.  I think Mr. O'Leary --


MR. QUINN:  Oh, okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- has just made his -- it is not a matter of the time factor that we are looking at at this point.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, sir.  Given that -- the clarifications from Mr. O'Leary and given some of this is in argument, we will struggle to make our argument without a better understanding -- as Ms. Oliver-Glasford pointed out, this is the nub of the issue, and I can say definitively I don't understand at all.  I was looking for the utility's assistance with it.  If it is not going to be incurred here, then maybe in response to whatever the Board decides in response to a letter that was filed by the utilities asking for a lot of this to be done DSM, maybe we'll bring it up then and maybe we can get that comparison at that time, sir, so I'll defer, and I'll end my question there in respect to the Board's time.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  And I'm not sure exactly if it be the right place, but there is a midterm review.  If part of what you are looking at is a general nexus issue between the two programs, and I take it it is, that might be the proper home for it, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I accept that, sir, and I thank you again for your time and your indulgence to be on the phone.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.

Why don't we carry on, and we'll break a little bit later on.  Ms. Van Soelen.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Van Soelen:

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  Good morning, panel.  Laura Van Soelen on behalf of IGUA.  I just have a few questions for you today.  My first set of questions pertains to CCC 17, and this pertains to the abatement construct.

You state here that what Enbridge is doing with the abatement construct is formalizing its approach and thinking to abatement initiatives, and I was wondering if you could expand on that, explain what you mine formalizing your approach?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  In putting forth the abatement construct, we were hoping to identify and clarify how we might, in fact, meet the intentions of the cap-and-trade framework for us to assess abatement opportunities.  We felt it was important to try and put a bit of a structure in place to create consistency, transparency, and clarity as to how we would approach low-carbon abatement opportunities.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So I understand from the wording you are formalizing your approach that there may be an approach right now but it may be something less formal; is that a fair understanding?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I mean, I think it's fair to say that we are engaged in the market.  We watch where -- we've got a lot of technical specialists and people who are watching developments, but in order to be relevant in mobilizing low-carbon initiatives for the purpose of abatement for our ratepayers, we felt it was necessary to put a more structured approach in place and introduce some resources.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So can you explain for me a bit more clearly who would -- prior to the implementation of the abatement construct, who would be engaged in this kind of work, looking for new abatement technologies and initiatives at Enbridge?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  The resources that are currently engaged in watching research-type activities are primarily funded through demand-side management currently, DSM.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And --


MR. McGILL:  Just -- excuse me, just to clarify, the people that have worked on these initiatives, they're part of our business development group, and just to be clear, much of the cost of that group is allocated to the DSM program.  So what, in fact, you find is, is that people investigate and follow up on these things as a small part of their regular jobs at the company.  So I just want to make that clear that, you know, their primary focus is supporting the DSM programs, but where they find time they'll investigate these opportunities and do their best to develop them, and what we are trying to do now is shift and put more focus on these carbon abatement opportunities.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And that shift in focus is going to be achieved through the addition of the two new FTEs that you've spoken about; is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, and the LCIF.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Yes.  Okay.  I did want to ask about the LCIF.  It involves or it could include, I suppose, both facilities-related and customer-related abatement initiatives and technologies; is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And I looked through your evidence, but didn't see that there was any indication of any balancing or any quota between the number of facilities-related initiatives you might look at in a given year versus customer-related; is that correct?

MS. MURPHY:  So as you observed, we haven't set out any target or quota on a split between facility and customer-related abatement through the LCIF.  However, you know, noting that our emissions, 99 percent are customer emissions, and therefore likely the larger opportunities for abatement are on the customer side, so I'm not trying to say that that would mean 99 percent of the funding should go there, but the focus of the LCIF will predominantly be towards customer-related, but where we can, we are seeking to look at our own facility-related emissions as well and leverage the LCIF funding.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  That's helpful.  That's exactly what I expected, because it only seems to make sense in the context of, you know, the customer obligations are 99 percent of the obligation, it would make sense that you would focus your spending there.

Given that, and given that there are some customers who are not responsible for paying the customer-related charges, has Enbridge given any consideration to dividing the LCIF funding perhaps in two, such that there would be some funding directed at facilities-related initiatives and another group of funding or subset of the funding directed to customer-related initiatives?

MS. MURPHY:  I think at this point, no, we haven't looked at doing that.  We've put together the abatement construct and the LCIF and proposed it in this year's evidence.  This is the first year where we've set out the abatement construct and the LCIF, so at this point we haven't thought that, you know, dividing them.  It may be part of our continuous improvement in the future.  I don't want to exclude it for future years, but at this point it's not something that we've considered.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And I would ask you:  Is that something that makes sense to you from an administrative standpoint or from Enbridge's perspective?

MS. MURPHY:  It could.  My concern there is, for example, if we said 100,000 is for facilities and then we think we've got a great project, if it's 150, have we limited ourselves?  Or if there a project that could have a lower cost on the facilities side, but that funding is not allocated that way, I don't want to necessarily restrict ourselves, and that split or having separate amounts could be limiting.  I'm not sure.  I think it's something we'd have to really think through and look at the pros and cons before we would do that.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Has Enbridge established any internal guidelines to determine whether a proposed activity is appropriate for inclusion in regulated services or activities, as opposed to being an activity that you are looking at in a funnel that might actually more properly sit outside of the unregulated business?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McGILL:  I think we would deal with that at the third stage of the process, when we bring a proposal to the OEB.  We would -- in developing a proposal, we would take into account the aspect of that initiative and determine whether we believe they should be something done within the regulated utility, non-utility inside GGEIDA, or in an affiliate entity and make what we believe is the proper kind of proposal to the Board at that time.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So it is possible then that it there would be an initiative that ratepayers have funded and has been brought through stages 1 and 2, that ultimately ends up being more appropriate for the competitive side of business?

MR. McGILL:  And if that was the case, if we were to try to implement something outside of the GGEIDA, whatever we were going to do would be subject to the Affiliate Relationships Code for utilities, and we would bring that before the Board before we embarked on such an endeavour.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I just wanted to pick up on the letter that you made reference to, Ms. Oliver-Glasford, the letter from Friday, April the 20th.

And you noted in that letter that Enbridge and Union are both of the view that the assessment of energy conservation is more appropriately considered as part of the DSM framework, as opposed to being considered under the cap-and-trade framework.

Does Enbridge view energy efficiency as being something distinct from abatement?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I believe that energy efficiency comprises a piece of abatement, yes.

I think it's simply the matter of the clarity in how we would assess what we need to buy, so it's that top-down, bottom up disconnect perhaps, or clarity that is provided for energy efficiency by it having its own framework.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  Those are my questions, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Why don't we take a 20-minute break and return at 10:30.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:17 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:37 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Higgin, I believe you were up next.

MR. O'LEARY:  If I could make --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  -- just one very preliminary matter --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.

MR. O'LEARY:  -- I believe that Mr. McGill would like to clarify one of his responses given to a question asked by Mr. Quinn on the phone a few moments ago.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, by all means.

MR. McGILL:  Just with that example of a 45-cent difference between the forecast cost of traditional gas supply in the model versus an actual cost in a year of $3.

The effect would be, just as demonstrated in our undertaking response, JT2.6, in that the forecast of the traditional gas cost will be included in the determination of the PGVA reference price, so there would be no variance recorded in the PGVA with respect to those volumes.

So that's shown pretty clearly in that undertaking response, so I just wanted to make that clear that customers wouldn't see that 45-cent difference in their gas supply chart.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I see.  Thank you very much.  If somebody could bring that to Mr. Quinn's attention to take note of the transcript.  Thank you.  Dr. Higgin.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, panel.  I'm representing Energy Probe today, and I have questions in two areas, both of which have been explored a lot, but I still have a few clarifications I'm trying to get.  And I've listed my evidence references, and I've given them to Enbridge so that we can follow.

So I'd like to start with the DSM, your existing program, and the compliance plan.  So I looked for a high-level estimate of the impact of EGD's approved -- emphasis -- DSM and GHG reductions related to that for two-15 to two-20 in millions of tonnes and CO2, of course, and millions of M-cubeds.  And I couldn't easily find that in the evidence in this case.  I did start to mind some of the original approvals of the DSM program and came up with some estimates, but I am looking for -- do you have -- can you help me with that?  For example, just to finish the question, we do have the two-18 volumes and GHG estimates, which are shown as Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, appendix A in this case, and it shows the GHG reductions for the approved DSM plan but -- for two-18.

Can you help me on this overall question of the six-year M cubed lifetime and GHG estimate?  Is there something on the evidence that would give us a baseline?  My whole questions are related to baselines.

So if you don't have a reference I will be asking further information, and we can do it by undertaking, which I'll request later, so if that's okay, I don't want to waste time here discussing it.  If it is not available, not immediately available, let's put it aside for now and I'll ask for an undertaking later.  Is that okay?

MR. JOHNSON:  Can you just repeat for us exactly what it is you're looking for?

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, I'm looking straightforwardly for the approved plan for DSM from two-15 to two-20 and the estimates of M cubed and the associated, using the conversion, GHG reductions for those -- that period?

MR. JOHNSON:  So just taking the DSM plan, which is filed within the DSM hearing, just taking those numbers and applying the carbon factor to it?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, I would hope that in doing so you would take account of what had actually happened so that when we're now sitting in two-18 you would have some estimate of whether or not, for example, two-15 is audited, but two-16, two-17 aren't yet audited, but at least you'd have estimates for the savings for those years and the associated.  In other words, it is no good just going back to two-15 and say that was approved.

Can you give us an update your best forecast at this point for the plan?  That's all, just the baseline.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay, so for two-18 to two-20 you are looking for forecasted --


DR. HIGGIN:  No, forecasted, yes, and then historic but unaudited, of course, for some years.

MR. O'LEARY:  Could I simply ask Dr. Higgin if he could advise us how these years that do not deal with the compliance plan before the Panel would be relevant in this proceeding?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, you can, because basically it comes back to the question of us all understanding where the baseline is, where the compliance fits with that baseline.  And I'm trying to just simply establish that there is a baseline of savings related to your approved, which the ratepayers pay for, DSM programs.  That's all I'm trying to do.  So I think when we look at the funnel, your funnel, and you start to look at, as you should do, enhanced DSM opportunities through the funnel, and that's one of the opportunities, then we need to know where the baseline is.  That's all, sir, that's my --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Enhanced abatement activities?

DR. HIGGIN:  Sorry?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that DSM?  Are you referring to abatement on the DSM --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, DSM -- oh, yes, DSM.  If you look at the presentation today, sir, if we can just -- if this is going to be the argument, to the slide that Enbridge provided about baselines, perhaps, that's slide 4.  You see there the fourth bullet, sir, that says "any opportunity of any type", and that includes DSM, "existing market activity and conditions", that's the baseline, that's the DSM baseline, "should be known".  That's all I'm asking, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, it is Ms. Oliver-Glasford's presentation.  Perhaps I could ask her, first of all, to consider what Dr. Higgin has simply said in terms of his understanding of what you are referring to in terms of baseline.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, the baseline to which I am referring would include our existing DSM forecasted results, as has been identified by Mr. Johnson and is also outlined in the evidence.  It would also include -- and this is the really big component -- the spending that will take place through GreenON Fund, expected to be roughly $1.3 billion over the next three years, spent on energy efficiency that would then form the basis of a baseline.

So we are not going to have transparency to a full baseline at this juncture without transparency to that funding.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think Dr. Higgin is just interested in the element of the baseline which is representative of your DSM program.  Can that be achieved?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, and I think if I'm understanding it correctly, at least for 2018 that is provided in our response to ED 24.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I've read 24, Mr. Chair, and that's for the one year, and then as far as the GIF, then if you look at your evidence there, and I think I've listed it here, it's Exhibit C, tab 5, Schedule 2, pages 28 to 29.  That gives you the incremental amount that's related to the Green Energy Fund for two-18.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You are interested in the actual for two-15 and the estimated unaudited for '16?

DR. HIGGIN:  So, sir, there would be an increment, and I was going to bring out a table that might help in a minute, that is occurring to the programs because of the GIF, and it started in, I believe, in two-16 and then continues going forward.  That is another -- an add-on, and --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Higgin, I understand your interest is in verifying the baseline for 2018.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  I apologize, but I'm struggling here in terms of -- so if I understand, the information you want exists for 2018 in the evidence and in the undertakings -- or in the IRS, my apologies.  But what you are asking for is for us to recreate that for 2015, 2016 and 2017 unaudited, 2019, and 2020 on a forecast basis?

DR. HIGGIN:  The information, to be clear, is the baseline information for your approved DSM program, 60 million a year funded by the ratepayers.  That is the baseline that I'm asking for.

And then, coming back to the construct, incremental DSM is one of the components that you should be looking at, and you have found funds from the GIF and they're incrementing the DSM program.  That's my understanding.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I was with you right until you gave that final clarification, Dr. Higgin.

The baseline that you are asking for -- now, in the DSM applications and the approvals, there was -- an amount which you -- the DSM savings which would be audited for 2015.  Is that the number you're looking for, or was it some other?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, sir, I'm looking for the whole program horizon as it was approved, updated if needed for historic results.  That's the five -- sorry, six-year horizon, because we would like to understand how that fits, for example, with the last three years being the MACC and so on.

So I'm just trying to get a baseline, so we can try to position how much savings M-cubed and associated greenhouse gas emissions would result from the existing Board-approved DSM program.  That's all.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Higgin, you mentioned that you were going to introduce a table.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I have one, sir, to try and clarify.  I have given copies to Staff, and if you could bring that up.  I also gave it to counsel so that they would try to minimize discussion on this.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm looking at it, and I'm thinking maybe it would assist in explaining what you're after.

DR. HIGGIN:  I gave it to counsel this morning  before we got into this debate, and I was trying to avoid a debate, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think it may actually assist in defining what you are after.

MR. O'LEARY:  I was going to say, sir, if it saves time or helps Mr. Higgin.  Obviously we have the data that's contained in the DSM plans that have been approved so there is that baseline information.

There is currently the 2015 clearance application, which is not yet decided and that's still controversial in terms of the actual results there.  2016 and 2017 are not audited, so there are certainly a number of caveats to whatever is given.

It's information that is there.  I'm not still certain that it is of great help.  But it would help move us along, we could populate the top portion of this table, again with the caveat that I'm not sure how it helps determine the baseline used for 2018.  But it is information that's available.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I did take -- my understanding is that the baseline that's referred to in your presentation, Ms. Oliver-Glasford, does contain an element of the DSM.  So I think whatever number you used for that would be the number I would expect would be in that slot under 2018 and then backtrack from there, whatever state it's in, unaudited or not approved yet, whatever caveats are required.  I think that would be helpful.

MR. O'LEARY:  So we can do that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, so that will be?

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO PROVIDE DATA REQUESTED IN DR. HIGGIN'S TABLE


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So since my client is more focussed on the residential sector, we are asking for a breakout of the residential program in the same way.  So if you remember the volume forecast for -- there is a general service class and a component of the general service class forecast and the reductions is the residential.  So because we're interested in the residential, we are just trying to get the same information for the residential sector; that's the bottom part of the table.

I'll leave counsel to respond.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, we have several concerns with the bottom half of the table, the first of which is that as indicated, the application here is a top-down application in terms of its format.  So the baselines that are presented are based on the top-down approach.

I'm not certain how breaking down, to a program level, the figures for a particular program would be of any benefit to this panel.  But the concerns really flow down.  If you go to the bottom of the table, I think what Dr. Higgin is looking to do is to try and compare the cost per cubic metre saved and the cost of a tonne of carbon saved between what is undertaken and achieved through the GIF program and what's undertaken and achieved through the DSM program.

And as I said, DSM is the subject of regulatory oversight, and all of the various tests that we know exist under the DSM framework, where the GIF program is operated with the Government of Ontario, that has made decisions to fund that that are totally separate and apart from DSM.

So to compare the two would, first of all, be inappropriate.  But secondly, it is not, we submit, of any help to this panel because the dollar or the average cost of those two things can be of no assistance today, because it is not an issue that goes to what's going to be included in rates for the instruments that are required by Enbridge to meet its obligations for 2018.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.

DR. HIGGIN:  Could I just respond to that, sir?  This is an anecdotal piece, and that is I registered in 2017 for the home energy retrofit program for Enbridge.  I was accepted, okay?

So then I went through the program, and then in about January of this year I got a cheque.  The cheque came from the GIF program, government of Ontario, not from Enbridge.  So the two programs must be meshed together from a consumer point of view, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Higgin, you heard Mr. O'Leary's submission on this, and I believe you were here when Mr. Quinn was on the phone earlier.

I take it the top portion of this table would provide information that would, on the whole element of the DSM and the baseline that you are referring to, that's referred to in the -- in this plan, the compliance plan.  And so I understand the validity of that.

But when you get down into the program level below, now it appears to me as though we're in the same conversation that we've had with Mr. Quinn, that the nexus between the two plans and perhaps that's a conversation that could be had at the midterm review or somewhere else.

But I don't know that that's going to be of any help to this panel in determining what it has to determine.

DR. HIGGIN:  I think, sir, it comes back to the funnel and it comes back to incremental DSM, which the company, rightly, is pursuing with funds from the government.

And so this is an incremental DSM activity that is abatement activity under this framework that we're working with today, which is for the abatement part of that program.  That's all.  That's why it's interesting.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I mean if you could -- and I don't want to, you know, have you, before your cross-examination, provide your argument.  But how would you use that information to make your client's point?

DR. HIGGIN:  My view is we don't know that, yet, sir, until we have information that would say whether or not the number of homes that have been added under the GIF and the cost that that is incurring relative to the baseline number of homes and costs is reasonable.

That's the question, because if it is not coming out of the company's budget, it is coming out of the taxpayers.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That is not something that we would be making a ruling on, though.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, no, but it is something that would be information that would assist our argument, and we don't have the information.  That's all.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I will just leave it there, and if you can suggest then that we will just do the top part of the table, I'm satisfied and we can move on.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  So can I just ask you then to turn up one of the other references, which I'm going to go to, and it's, as you have said, your response to Board Staff number 24, which is Exhibit C, tab 5, schedule 1, page 15.  And I am just going to allow you just to look at that.

You gave an extensive review and the reasons and rationale for why you believe that additional DSM programs would not be cost-effective in this response; am I correct?  That's what -- the essence if we were to take this response?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I believe, as Mr. Johnson pointed out earlier, what our response tries to outline is that we did use the Board-provided marginal abatement cost curve to determine if in the cap-and-trade framework there was cost-effective incremental energy efficiency, and we did not see that there was.  And furthermore, that if we were to, indeed, have a full market view of all of the activity that was being invested in energy efficiency, that would be necessary in order to understand the incremental costs of incremental energy efficiency.

DR. HIGGIN:  All right.  Thank you.  So could you look at the table that you've provided.  Actually, it was an extract that came originally in your evidence, which was -- and I've given the reference from the reference was -- the original evidence was C -- Exhibit C, tab 5, schedule 2, page 26 and table 3.

All I'm interested in, because my client is most interested in residential, is to get your explanation, understand -- give me an understanding of the right-hand column, the 56.2 million cubic metres that you have listed there, and then also, of course, the footnote says what the values are for two-18, '19, '20.

So I just want to understand that number, where it's derived from, and what does it represent, the 56.2 million.

MR. JOHNSON:  So you've pulled up the evidence, but I think you earlier referenced a response to Staff 24.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, it is the same table, I believe.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, but there is some more detail in the response to Staff 24.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  Can we pull that up, attachment 1, page 1?

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. JOHNSON:  So I think in the request we were asked to provide some more detail, and the detail of that math is basically broken down below, if you can scroll down, so we have three programs that we viewed as being part of residential, our HEC program, which we've talked about.  Our adaptive thermostat program, and our low-income Part 9 would all contribute to residential savings, so we took the sum of the forecast across that same period, added it up, which is where we got the 56 million, and that's the value that appears in the row for residential in the table above.

DR. HIGGIN:  So you are saying that the 19.3 is a component of the 56 that's for the residential sector?

MR. JOHNSON:  You are referring to the 19.3 from 2020?

DR. HIGGIN:  Three years, yes.  Oh, sorry, 56, I get it, sorry, yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  So there are three years there from our programs, because again, the MACC was over a three-year period.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  I think I understand that now.

Can we go back now to look at the GIF numbers that you have put into your forecast for two-18.  This is the year we are dealing with.  And if you could look at Exhibit C, tab 5, schedule 2, and pages 28 to 29, and paragraph specifically 81 and 82.

I just want you to confirm that these are the numbers that you have used in the forecast for 2018, and we would expect, as the Chairman said, to see that these would be the numbers you would present when you talk about the GIF for two-18, which is 5.559 10 cubed M cubed and 10,420 tonnes of CO2e, and that's related to the enhancement that you have to your residential key program, which is both more homes and thermostats; correct?  Are those the enhancements?

MS. FLAMAN:  That is correct, and that is reflected in Ms. Murphy's customer-related volumes by rate class --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MS. FLAMAN:  -- Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, page 6, where it does show in column 3 that same number being captured.

DR. HIGGIN:  So can you tell us how many homes does that account for, that increment in two-18, forecast, of course.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I believe subject to check we gave that number in the technical conference as 7- to 8,000 homes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Was that for both measures or was that just for retrofit?  Please clarify.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, can you explain what you men by "both measures"?

DR. HIGGIN:  The adaptive thermostats and the home retrofit.  So I'm looking for both numbers as to how many homes got home retrofits and how many got adaptive thermostats for two-18 using those funds forecasted.

MR. QUESNELLE:  In addition to your own?

DR. HIGGIN:  They wouldn't give me adaptive thermostat, sir.  I was not under the program at that time.  I had to buy my own.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is a better way to do an audit, Mr. Higgin.

[Laughter]

[Witness panel confers]

DR. HIGGIN:  Sorry, if you don't know I'm quite happy to --


MR. QUESNELLE:  It sounds like they have it.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  7,000 units is a confirmed for 2017, and 2018, I believe they indicated that the number would be slightly higher than that.

DR. HIGGIN:  That is home retrofits?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think we'll have to do an undertaking.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That is to provide the split between the two programs, how many homes for each one.

DR. HIGGIN:  How many homes and how many adaptive thermostats --


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO PROVIDE THE SPLIT BETWEEN THE TWO PROGRAMS, HOW MANY HOMES AND HOW MANY ADAPTIVE THERMOSTATS FOR EACH ONE.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  My next questions go to the old subject of RNG.  So basically there's been more put on the record today, so I'm trying to try and work with that.

So as you've stated in response to Mr. Pollock this morning, if the weighted average cost of gas is higher then EGD will procure more or less RNG, but not rebate anything to ratepayers.  I think that -- if I paraphrase that, and I'm going to just explore that with Table 3 in your Undertaking 2-6.

So that's the purpose of trying to understand your statement this morning.  And I'm sorry, I don't have the transcript.  My notes may be not totally accurate, so please correct me if that's your statement.

MR. McGILL:  Okay, what table 2 in Undertaking JT2.6 shows is that on line 9 --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. McGILL:  -- because the forecast price with respect to the RNG volume is what will be used to determine the PGVA or the actual price in any given year, there will be no gas costs or traditional gas cost variance attributable to the RNG volume that flows through to the system gas supply charge.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that's the first part.  Then you said something to the effect that if there's a difference and we may procure less RNG because we have so much government money and it can only go so far, and we can only subsidize so much.

MR. McGILL:  Our ability to purchase the RNG under this model will be constrained by basically the prices that is are offered under the RFP process.  So that in the example in the original evidence in C5.2, at any given price and at any given level of funding that's available, there will be a maximum amount of RNG that we can procure; that's the point I was trying to make, so that the variances in gas costs year in/year out shouldn't affect that.

DR. HIGGIN:  So I had some follow-up questions about the price that's been put into the table and of course that is, I assume, because you mentioned that the --a ten-year price, $3.69.  Is that just to confirm that?

MR. McGILL:  I think the example in the undertaking is really just targeting one year, right, so the actual forecast would be a forecast of those costs over the ten years of the RNG procurement arrangement.

DR. HIGGIN:  But the forecast is driven by the price of carbon as the driver for that forecast, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Well, there are two forecast elements.  The first is the forecast of traditional gas costs, and then the second is the forecast of carbon cost.  And for the forecast of carbon, we used the OEB's mid level carbon price forecast.

DR. HIGGIN:  All right.  So let's deal with the overall weighted average cost of gas for the portfolio, and how that will vary based on many variables, including supply, transportation over the ten-year period --


MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- that will vary.  And so there will be variances that have to flow, and continue to flow as they do now, through the PGVA, right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  However, I think that your construct here is that the gas -- the RNG gas price is, in essence, fixed -- and when I say fixed, I use quotes -- based on carbon forecasts and the contract price.  Is that fixed?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So there won't be any variations flowing through the PGVA.  But can you clarify whether ratepayers may actually win or lose, depending on the difference of the weighted average cost of gas over that period?

MR. McGILL:  In terms of the way the gas supply charge is set, the answer would be no.  In terms of a potential opportunity, if gas -- actual gas costs in the future were less, or a potential risk in terms of future gas costs being higher, that is a potential risk that the customer would see.

So in the example in the undertaking where we've assumed actual costs for all of the components that are captured in the PGVA, and we've added in the RNG supply, you can see in that example that there is a 4 cent per gJ variance.  But that's not driven by the RNG price that is included in that PGVA reference price determination.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  If I could just add one note to Mr. McGill's comments, just as a reminder that this RNG that is being supplied is, you know, estimated to be a very, very small percentage of the gas supply overall.  My understanding is it's less than even half a percent.

DR. HIGGIN:  I understand that's the materiality issue that Union brought us to, and we understand it.  So the issue for us is whether there is any impact on ratepayers at all, and how -- never mind how small; that's the issue for us.

So can I just come back to one other question to clarify?   When you were looking for gas supply in normal circumstance, Enbridge would survey the market and would contract for supply based on a number of considerations.

So can we look at the table and say, well, one of the supply sources that you use here, and I think it's at line number 3, is 1.63 Ontario production.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Let's look at that one.  So, here we are.  It is made in Ontario, good stuff, you know, made in Ontario.  Why wouldn't we basically benchmark the RNG to that as an example so that the ratepayers are accepting that as part of their gas portfolio and basically we could do the same thing perhaps and that would vary over the year?  It's the Dawn price, I think, or something ...

MR. McGILL:  Okay.  So what we used in our example was an NGX forecast of a CDA delivered gas price over the ten years and the reason -- having said that, you know, I think we haven't made a final determination as to whether or not we'd use an NGX ten-year forward forecast or not to determine that price.

But the reason we did that was because we were looking for some kind of future gas cost, price forecast that was publicly available and that was easily referenced, so that we could, in our view, limit potential for debate as to how that price was determined or how that cost forecast was determined.

So that's why we wouldn't pick any particular line off this table of the elements that flow into the PGVA.  That's the reason we did it.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just coming back to conceptually, you could have benchmarked it to Ontario production which is likely to be there over the next ten years, and the price will vary.  And you're contracting for that supply going forward, right?  You could have done that?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we could have done that.

DR. HIGGIN:  And if there was a difference in price, the variation in price, then I suggest to you that the difference should not be flowed to ratepayers, but it should be part of the government subsidy that would make up the difference.

But that is a matter for argument that we won't go to, thank you.

One last set of questions followed from Union, and we hopefully will be quick.  Union responded in JT1.32 to my question and that was about how, as the intellectual property for projects under the low carbon fund dealt with.  So that was the question.  If you could just look up at the response and what Union had to say, and I'm just going to ask you the same question.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, in general, I agree with Union's response.  But I'd like to qualify that in that the nature of the LCIF investigations and development of initiatives will be such that it is highly unlikely that any intellectual property will accrue to Enbridge Gas Distribution.

It is our expectation that most of the intellectual property involved with these initiatives will be retained by the equipment manufacturers that are bringing new products and appliances and services to the market.

In the event that there was any intellectual property that did accrue to Enbridge Gas Distribution we would be taking the same position that Union has articulated in its undertaking response.

DR. HIGGIN:  You would retain the commercial rights to that, your part of it, and then you would have a licence to use the technology as part of the deal with the partner; is that my understanding?  That you would own part of the intellectual property, it would have a commercial value to Enbridge?

MR. McGILL:  Well, given that I've been involved in the negotiation of a number of agreements that involve ownership and licensing of intellectual property, I would suggest that that would be a case-specific negotiation with that counter-party, and that in some cases we may end up owning some IP, in some cases we'll be licensing it or obtaining a licence to use that IP.

But I guess my overall response is that we would agree with the position articulated by Union that the ownership of any IP that did accrue to Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. would be retained by that entity.

DR. HIGGIN:  By the party or by Enbridge?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  I think we've just confused the thing, because I have, as you may know, quite a history in intellectual property, one of my many things, and that is when you partner there is a sharing of the intellectual property and also there are licensing provisions to go to the parties.  I'm just trying to clarify how much of the intellectual property, subject to negotiation, that you may retain for, to be frank, your shareholder, and how much then will be just done as a licence to use the overall technology, which the licence then is also -- has a fee, and if you sub-licence you'll get money for it.

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think the point I'm trying to make is that each one of these instances would be case-specific, so I can't really comment on --


DR. HIGGIN:  I know.

MR. McGILL:  -- how those rights would be attributed to the various parties and some type of nature of agreement that we haven't even contemplated entering into at this point in time.

DR. HIGGIN:  I think we have your answer.  We may argue that it should be public domain because it is, one, funded by ratepayers, and two, the wider application of this to greenhouse gas abatement is something that is in the public interest, so just so you know where we're coming from on that issue.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You've given a clear question --


DR. HIGGIN:  I was just telling him what our argument would be.

MR. McGILL:  No worries coming from now, but just a couple of points.  One is that any other asset the company invests in, whether it is a piece of software or a piece of pipe on the ground or the meter on the side your house, the company owns that asset.  We don't see the IP as being any different from that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. McGILL:  The second point is that whatever benefits are derived from some potential unidentified IP that might accrue to the company through initiatives that are developed in the IC through ICIF or -- LCIF funding -- I'll try to get it right -- would be subject to whatever rate-setting regime is in place at the time, so the Board would have a view to that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  One question on the low-carbon technologies to follow up, it was mentioned, I believe, at the technical conference that Union, I think it was, but it doesn't matter, that asked this question, does EGD participate in other low-carbon technology projects?  And the examples that were discussed was ETIC -- you know ETIC, of course -- NGTC in Quebec, and GRI in the United States.

Are you actually investing money in low-carbon projects with those entities?

MR. McGILL:  We have participated in projects -- just to be clear, it is the Gas Technology Institute in the U.S. --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes sorry.

MR. McGILL:  -- GTI, and others in the past, you know, based on my experience most of these things have been oriented towards either gas utilization or conservation measures, not specific to carbon abatement per se, so some of those things have gone on in the past to the extent we've had budget to participate in them, and typically these are cost-sharing arrangements, and if we do participate the results of these studies are made available to us.  That's the extent of it.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  And I think if I could just add to Mr. McGill's comments, that the low-carbon initiative fund was designed and proposed for our ratepayers.  A lot of the projects that may be underway in different technologies or pieces are not underway for the purpose that -- the explicit purpose of supporting abatement for our ratepayers in the compliance plan, and so when we looked at the framework it was determined that if we were going to enable a transparent approach to low-carbon abatement that the low-carbon initiative fund was necessary.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Do you have a list of any of those other low-carbon technology projects which, as you said, is cooperative with ITIQ, Gas Technology Institute, and NGTC at this time that are funded through your general R&D but you put a designator on it that says it has a low-carbon benefit, this project?  Do you have a list of those projects that you are supporting that also have low-carbon benefits if commercial?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McGILL:  We just need to check our -- sorry, we just need a minute to check a reference here that might be helpful.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  That would be helpful.  Maybe it's something you filed in your annual update.

MR. McGILL:  I believe it's -- thanks.  I believe it's in one of our interrogatory responses, at least what -- with respect to --


DR. HIGGIN:  Why don't we say that you'll come back to us with the reference and then we can move on.  I'll use my time, and as time to move on --


MR. McGILL:  The reference is --


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. McGILL:  -- Exhibit I1.EGDI.Staff.23.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you for your patience.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.

Mr. Wolnik, APPrO.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik:

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, thank you.  Good morning, panel, my name is John Wolnik, and I represent the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.  And I've got two areas of questions that I'd like to pursue this morning, if I could.

The first area is in your LCIF, and I want to better understand some of the rationale and the thinking that went into choosing some of these projects.  Now, based on another response to Staff 23, you're seeking $300,000 to pursue an expanded NGV program for the heavy-duty truck transportation market; is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is what is shown in the chart on page 4.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  At the technical conference I had a discussion with Ms. Sigurdson about the need for that, and the response at page 66 indicated that:

"So for these demonstration projects the idea is evolve into the large transport truck market.  We want to understand what some of the barriers to adoption might be."

I think that's what she said.  Do you recall that?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that is one of the things we were trying to overcome, are those barriers.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.

And I wonder if we could turn to my compendium at tab 3, which is Exhibit 1.3.  Do you have a copy of that or have you looked at that?  It was filed last week.  This is a press release that was issued last week by Union Energy Solutions LP, or UES, which is an unregulated affiliate of Union Gas; do you see that?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I do.


MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  In paraphrasing the first paragraph and the third one, it looks like UES is announcing that it's entered into an agreement with Clean Energy Fuels Corp. to construct a network of three CNG refueling stations along Highway 401 to enable heavy-duty trucks to confidently travel across Canadian and provincial borders.  Do you see that?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, I do.


MR. WOLNIK:  The second-last paragraph on the same page indicates that:

"Clean Energy Fuels already has 570 CNG stations operating across North America."

Do you see that?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  And on the very last page of this press release, there is an indication that UES is currently embarking on establishing a network of compressed natural gas refueling stations along Ontario's 400 series highways.  Do you see that?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, great.  So I just wanted to pursue this a little bit further then.  Are you familiar with this commercial venture by UES and Clean Energy Fuels?


MR. McGILL:  My knowledge of this endeavour doesn't go much past what has been disclosed in this press release.


MR. WOLNIK:  So it's news to you, too?


MR. McGILL:  We knew Union Gas was working on something like this, but I didn't know whether it was going to be Union Gas or Union Gas Energy Services.


MR. WOLNIK:  Did you know it was targeting the heavy-duty truck market?


MR. McGILL:  I think we would have assumed that, that that's where we see the biggest potential for expanding our NGV program is in that market.


MR. WOLNIK:  Are you familiar with Clean Energy Fuels Corp.?


MR. McGILL:  At a very, very high level, yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  And would you agree that with 570 CNG stations across North America, one would expect that they are a fairly knowledgeable operator and serve multiple sectors of the market?


MR. McGILL:  That's probably a fair assumption.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Have you ever had discussions with them to jointly pursue opportunities?


MR. McGILL:  Not to my knowledge, no.


MR. WOLNIK:  Are you aware that there is already at least one commercial NGV station in Ontario that's targeting the trucking industry, the one in Mount Forest?


MR. McGILL:  I don't have knowledge of that station, no.


MR. WOLNIK:  Do you know if there are other private NGV stations that are targeting that industry?


MR. McGILL:  I think that I'm aware that there are a number of private NGV refueling facilities on our system, and I'm aware that we have been working on installing one that will be available to the public in the Niagara region, and believe that that, if it's not up and running already, it will be in the near future.


MR. WOLNIK:  And that was privately-funded, was it?


MR. McGILL:  To the best of my knowledge, that is an Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. endeavour and any assets there would be under the rate-regulated utility assets.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So in terms of this UES and Clean Energy Fuels venture, they seem to be of the opinion that it's already a commercial reality to serve this heavy-duty transportation market.


So in light of that, why does Enbridge need $300,000 to begin to look at the barriers and the feasibility of serving this market?


MR. McGILL:  Well, I think based -- Enbridge has been serving the NGV market in Ontario for a very long period of time and we've had, I would say, ups and downs with respect to that.  I know originally we were targeting small fleet vehicles, principally taxicabs, things like that.  We had a large number of public refueling stations on the system.  That kind of basically fell by the wayside and the biggest opportunity now is large heavy vehicles and long-haul trucking.


Our experience is that when we deal with fleet operators, they typically don't want to make a commitment to convert very expensive fleet equipment, tractor trailer trucks principally, over to natural gas unless they know there is going to be a reliable refueling network available to them.


So you kind of have this chicken and egg proposition. In order to get the fleet operators to invest in the vehicles, they need to know that they're going to have a reliable supply of fuel to operate them with.


So it's been very difficult to try and establish any kind of scale in this industry that would support the investments in the refueling infrastructure.  So what we are trying to do is work with -- use the LCIF funding to work with some of these operators to get them into the market, and bring about a reduction in their GHG emissions by doing so.


MR. WOLNIK:  I fully appreciate that.  I guess my point was a little bit different, though.  You've got private money going into the business, including one of your affiliates, because I think under the -- my understanding is if UES is an affiliate of Union, it is also an affiliate of Enbridge.  Is that right?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, that would be correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  So if you've got private money going into this industry, why do you need ratepayers to now come up with $300,000 to pursue this?  That's the part that I'm confused about.


MR. McGILL:  Well, we need to look at sort of the evolution of NGV and the two different organizations prior to the merger.


As I've said before, Enbridge Gas Distribution has been involved in the NGV market -- I can remember it going back to the mid 1980s.


MR. WOLNIK:  So do I, actually.


[Laughter]


MR. McGILL:  And we've always been there in one way, shape or form.  Union, I think sometime probably in the 1990s, backed out of it.  They haven't operated an NGV program for a long period of time.  They are coming back into -- or trying to come back into the industry, and I'm assuming this venture is a way they see to do it.


On the other hand, RNG program has been part of the regulated utility operation for the entire period of time, and that's where we believe the appropriate place for it should remain.


MR. WOLNIK:  Have you employed NGV-related employees now?


MR. McGILL:  Pardon me?


MR. WOLNIK:  Do you have an NGV department with employees in it?


MR. McGILL:  The way we're organized right now, I wouldn't characterize it that way.  We do have people that support the NGV program.  I wouldn't call it a NGV department per se the way we're organized today.


MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Does this entity -- UES appears to be looking at other clean energy technologies.  Does Enbridge have any unregulated affiliates doing something similar?


MR. McGILL:  As far as I know, not with respect to NGV.


MR. WOLNIK:  What about other clean technologies?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, we're one of the largest wind and solar electricity generators in North America.


MR. WOLNIK:  If I could narrow it down a bit, I do recognize that.  Any clean technologies related to investments that might come around from some of your LCIF investments?


MR. McGILL:  I don't believe so, no.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thanks.  Given that the LCIF is ratepayer-funded money, will Enbridge make all non-private project information freely available to the public on a timely basis, so that anyone can benefit from this ratepayer-funded research?


MR. McGILL:  Just on your last question before that, I am aware that there is one Enbridge-affiliated company that is involved in the RNG business, but I don't see that as directly connected to what we are trying to achieve with LCIF funds.


The second point is that our power-to-gas initiative is being conducted in a separate affiliate company that is separate and apart from EGDI.


MR. WOLNIK:  So -- and maybe just to follow up on --


MR. McGILL:  If go back to your other question --


MR. WOLNIK:  -- those additional points then, they would be subject to the affiliate rules, then?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  They wouldn't have any preferential access to information?

MR. McGILL:  None.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  So the prior question that I asked:  Will Enbridge make all non-private project information freely available on a timely basis so that anyone can benefit from the research, do you have a response to that?

MR. McGILL:  I think we responded to that in one of our undertaking responses -- or, pardon me, interrogatory responses, and we can find that reference for you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McGILL:  Yes, and that would be Exhibit I1.EGDI.SEC.15.  So it will be part C of the response to that question.

MR. WOLNIK:  So as I read that, you are supportive of making final report findings available to the public.  You may find or someone else may find the information that -- the research that you do -- may find that helpful in them pursuing a similar application of technologies.  Why wouldn't you make all of the information available that's ratepayer-funded?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think the reason that we would -- well, one, we've indicated that we would make final reports available.  Two, I wouldn't want the company to be issuing interim reports or progress reports or things of that nature that haven't been validated to the point where we see them as final.

With respect to the way our process works, anything that we want to bring forward to the implementation phase is going to come to the OEB through the proposal stage, so there would be significant reporting on the public record for any of those things.  Any initiatives that we pursue that we can't advance to that point in time, we would provide a final report to indicate what we did, what our findings were, and what, you know, why we decided not to pursue it as an initiative to bring forward for implementation.

MR. WOLNIK:  So times change, and that original research that you did, you don't think that could be valuable to somebody else?

MR. McGILL:  Perhaps it could be.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  I'd like to move on, talk a little bit about your hydrogen to gas project, and you are looking for $500,000 for -- to do technical due diligence.

To me, that seems like a lot of money to do technical due diligence, so I want to just ask a few questions on that.  In addition to the $500,000, you are also looking to hire two new people to support all of the LCIF initiatives, as I understand it, part of which could be this hydrogen to gas; is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  Okay, so one thing I want to make clear is that the initiative -- I'll take a step back.  Probably we didn't identify the power to gas initiative properly when we were including it as part of the LCIF initiatives.

Power to gas itself is the production of hydrogen, and that's not what we are intending to pursue through the LCIF funding program.  What we are intending to pursue and need to pursue there is developing standards and protocols for the injection and blending of hydrogen into the traditional natural gas stream.

There's a number of technical concerns associated with that in terms just of the physical properties of hydrogen, and really, what we need to do is an engineering study to determine to what extent we can include portions of hydrogen in our gas distribution system and be assured that we are maintaining the current level of safety and reliability and integrity of that system.

So that's what that $500,000 is for.  We don't want to go ahead and start injecting hydrogen into our gas distribution system and finding that we have problems with the premature deterioration of parts of the system or problems with customer appliances that are being fuelled by our system, so we see this as a very critical thing in order to make sure that when we do bring hydrogen into the system we are doing it in a very responsible and safe manner.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.

And I don't know if you are aware, but Union also has money budgeted in their LCIF for a hydrogen project; were you aware of that?

MR. McGILL:  To some extent, yes, I think it is a small amount of money, and I think whatever they do would be complementary to what we are considering doing.

MR. WOLNIK:  And they are working to a large extent with AGA and CGA to sort of identify a lot of those issues?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Are you working with them as well?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we would be working with industry partners in trying to establish what these standards are going to be.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.

Now, this is perhaps just a little more of a general question rather than just hydrogen, but I had a discussion with Union about -- there was a discussion with Union about pursuing some of these technologies, and I think Mr. Trofim from Union talked about, that the two distribution systems are different, and that was part of the justification, I think, for both companies to be actively looking at some these things.

In your opinion what are those very specific differences in the distribution systems that require both companies to pursue these independently?

MR. McGILL:  Okay, I'm not going to try and qualify myself as a technical expert on our distribution system or Union's, but I think there is some -- based on my knowledge of their system versus ours, I think particularly the northern Ontario portions of their system, I think the characteristics of them are significantly different, in that you're looking at typically branches of distribution systems that come directly off TransCanada's system, and they have a lot of, I think, operational considerations that stem from those kind of distinctions, whereas --


MR. WOLNIK:  I guess -- excuse me, I guess what I'm trying to get at is what are those differences and how do they affect -- why do both of you have to pursue it?  You have branches off TransCanada as well.  You can go along your system, you know, towards eastern -- east of the GTA here.  You have very parallel situations.  Yes, it is a bit colder up there, I get it, but you have cold areas as well.

What are those things that you both need to do in order to provide proof of concept?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  It is my understanding from Ms. Sigurdson at the technical conference that, although some of the buckets that were large or similar, the technologies or the specifics of a specific initiative are different, so they've looked at a different technology or a different approach than our Union counterpart, so I believe there has been some collaboration around ensuring that those projects are, in fact, complementary and not duplicative.

MR. WOLNIK:  So with the example of this hydrogen to gas then, it appears that getting it right is important for both of you, and customers as well, I get that, but it seems to me that it is more appropriate for one of you to have the concept proven before you go and start to look at, perhaps, different technologies as to how to apply that.  Does that make sense to you?

MR. McGILL:  I think perhaps to some extent it does, but as you alluded to, there are physical differences in our systems.  So, you know, to the extent that we're operating at different pressures with different pipe materials in some cases, and different parts of the systems are different ages, all those things have to be taken into consideration and distinguished between the two entities.

MR. WOLNIK:  Sounds like there could be like a thousand differences when you put it all together, so are you going to do a thousand different trials to marry up with each of the temperature differences, each of the pipe sizes, each of the different customer sizes?  It just seems to me that you need to develop a proof of concept and then see how it should be applied to each of those different characteristics, rather than go out and develop these demonstration projects that are unique to each franchise.

MR. McGILL:  Well, I don't know that there would be a thousand different tests, but I think there would be different aspects of each system that need to be tested.

So for example, if we are buying one brand of valve that has a certain type of plastic or nylon sealing system in it and Union is using another one, the impact of hydrogen on those two different components could be very different.  So all those things, those details need to be taken into account.

MR. WOLNIK:  Mr. Chair, I think I'm over my time, so I'll stop here.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.  Mr. Gardner, I believe you are up next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Gardner:


MR. GARDNER:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Matt Gardner for in LIEN.  Three topics for my questions today.  GreenON, I am going to ask you about Union's building skins program and how Enbridge plays into that, and then get into a bit of the GIF discussions that we've already had from a different angle.

So my first question is one just for clarity.  I understand, based on your evidence, your application and other materials, that Enbridge is actively monitoring, has been bidding on and will be bidding, where appropriate of course, on RFPs as they come out from GreenON.  Is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's accurate.

MR. GARDNER:  We heard from Union earlier this week that Union expects GreenON may fund behavioural programs for residential.  So my question to the panel is:  Will Enbridge monitor to see if GreenON -- whether or not GreenON comes up with funding for such a type of a program, if there are opportunities for Enbridge to revisit whether behavioural initiatives make sense either through GreenON funding or, if not, through its own compliance plan?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We will be continuing to actively monitor the RFPs that come out and determining if there's value, and putting in an application at that point.

MR. GARDNER:  Any thought to date on specifically the behavioural aspect or educational aspect of where GreenON is at and where Enbridge is at as a whole thinking about that piece?  Maybe that ties in with your DSM programs now that we're three years in.

MR. JOHNSON:  Are you referring to within the context of DSM or cap-and-trade, or specifically GreenON?

MR. GARDNER:  Incremental to DSM.

MR. JOHNSON:  So I think, you know, as we've talked about, definitely something that we're looking at what's happening with GreenON.  And then in terms of DSM, it's not something that's on our radar right now, given that we have had a recent decision from the Board saying that's not something that we should pursue.

MR. GARDNER:  What about the RFP that Union and Enbridge have jointly bid on specific to a low income energy efficiency initiative funded through GreenON?  Can you tell us anything by way of update about where that's at?

MR. JOHNSON:  I don't have an update on the status of that at this time.

MR. GARDNER:  The reason I ask is it was mentioned twice in response to LIEN interrogatories, and that was roughly four months ago.  So I don't know, if anything has changed since.

I understand if it's confidence, given that it's an RFP process.  But if there's any status update whatsoever that you are able to allude to -- is the RFP still ongoing?

MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check, as far as I know, they are in the process of making a decision.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Any other GreenON-funded initiatives expected specific to low income on the horizon that you know of?

MR. JOHNSON:  Not that I'm aware.

MR. GARDNER:  So I want to shift to the building skins and building envelope systems initiative that is in its infancy, that Union has proposed in its application.  I realize that Enbridge hasn't included that in its application.

What we learned from Union is that both Union and Enbridge attended a workshop through MaRS for that particular initiative, funded by Union.

And so my question to the panel is: Why was Enbridge there?  What did you learn from that workshop?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Gardner, I'm not sure that anybody on this panel was in attendance there at that workshop.

MR. GARDNER:  Is there anything that the panel can provide in terms of if you've liaised with someone that was there, and you understand why Enbridge was at the workshop and there must have been a reason why you would have attended with Union.  Any thoughts?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I would presume that, you know any time there's an interesting technology or new program, certainly -- you know, that has energy efficiency or GHG reduction benefits, that there would be interest to be involved.  So I would suspect that was the basis, interest to determine whether will there could be a program, or a technology put into the DSM framework.

MR. GARDNER:  Do you think -- so Union is at the stage right now for RFPing for that technology, and they think that perhaps by the end of this year they'll be at the stage where they can look at a pilot study.  Will Enbridge also be looking at that Union pilot study and then thinking about whether that makes sense for Enbridge's customers, low income customers?  Will you take advantage of what Union learns through that process?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Certainly we do look to learn from others, including Union Gas.  If there's a specific thing that would be helpful, perhaps we could take an undertaking on that.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  I'm not exactly sure how it would be crafted, but what are your thoughts on that?

I mean, perhaps the undertaking is to find out from those who attended at the workshop or who are in the know about what Union is doing with the building skins program and finding out what your plan is, to work with Union to investigate what Union's going to learn through its initiative.

MR. O'LEARY:  Perhaps, sir, I could suggest that we discuss this offline over lunch, and come back and perhaps clarify the nature of an undertaking, if that's acceptable, Mr. Gardner.

MR. GARDNER:  That's fine.  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Is there any thought process as to whether, in the next plan filing coming up August 1st for 2020, if there will be any stage 1 initiatives specific to low income programs?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McGILL:  At this point, I don't think we can say whether or not any of the initiatives would be specific to the low income market segment.

But I think in terms of how we go about implementing those programs, we would definitely be taking the low income segment into account and determining how best to deliver the programs to people in that category.

MR. GARDNER:  Will there be any additional residential-focus initiatives that will become stage 1 that already in your chart?  I think it was Board Staff at IR 24, if I have that right -- anyway, in your plan for 2018 and in that specific list coming up for your next compliance plan that's not there now?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think that the initiatives that we want to pursue in 2018 are the ones we've identified in our evidence.  I'm not aware of any additional initiatives that we would introduce in 2019 at this point in time.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  I just have a few more questions about the GIF and home energy retrofit program.

Any thought on what will happen with the whole home retrofit program once the GIF funding is gone, exhausted, once the three-year program is over and done with?

MR. JOHNSON:  I think we'd certainly like to see the program continue in terms of, if it didn't then we would have to make adjustments to our program given the new budget realities.

MR. GARDNER:  And continue because you think that it won't be saturated, that there will still be room to fit with the equivalent or the similar DSM program for those non-gas fuels; is that why?  It won't be saturated by the end of the three years.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, you lost me on the non-gas fuels part.

MR. GARDNER:  Well, I just, I see the -- I think the beauty of the whole home retrofit program is that it dovetails with the existing DSM program that is gas-specific and it covers off non-gas fuels.

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.  So you're right.  We would certainly have to revert back to our original program or some modification of our original program, which would be targeted to gas customers only.

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, I'll add a little bit to that as well.  Again, we would certainly at that point look to collaborate just with IESO or the electric utilities to hopefully have at least a gas-electric, but again, that would be subject to their programs and interests as well.

Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I wanted to turn around and see what that was.  Anyway, it's gone.

[Laughter]

MR. GARDNER:  There is a specific reference that Dr. Higgin brought up earlier.  I don't think we need to bring it up on the screen, but it is in your application, and it relates to the GIF and the funding, and specifically my question is:  There is an element of the funding that was specifically targeted by Enbridge to be used for "educational and behavioural-based GHG reductions.".

Can you elaborate on what this means?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think this will need to be part of our discussion on the break.

MR. GARDNER:  Fair enough.  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Gardner.  Mr. Brett.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  I actually didn't realize the order had been changed, but that's my problem.  Let me -- let me just start off by a couple of follow-up questions on the issue of intellectual property, to Mr. McGill and anybody else there.

Am I right -- let me ask it this way:  Did Enbridge consider inviting the federal or the provincial government to co-fund some of its R&D abatement projects?

MR. McGILL:  I don't believe we have approached the -- well, in terms of the provincial government, we've had discussions with them with respect to funding RNG procurement.  We've had discussions with them about how we can work with them with respect to our geothermal ground-source heat-pump program that is the subject of, what is it, EB-2017-0319, and we work with NRCan, for example, but I'm not aware that we have entertained discussions of joint funding specific projects at this point in time.

MR. BRETT:  Generally speaking you've funded them -- you propose to fund them, with the exception of the items you mention, you propose to fund them yourselves as part of your abatement funnel programs; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's fair to say that we've put together high-level estimates for initiatives, recognizing that that funding may, in fact, enable us to seek additional funding through various funding opportunities.  Most of the funds that are in place do require leveraged funding.  They won't fund the whole thing, so some of that is to be relevant in terms of mobilizing abatement initiatives.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, they might not fund the whole thing, but you might -- that might not preclude you from asking for more money in subsequent years in your -- in your compliance programs, more money from ratepayers; right?  In other words, you are saying that it may be that in the future we would go out and ask the government to partly fund these projects, but you haven't done that this year, except to the extent Mr. McGill mentioned, and you don't know yet whether you'll do it in any subsequent year, even though you are saying that the $2 million will not fund the totality of the development costs for the various projects in the funnel; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Enbridge would seek to leverage funding where it was available on a technology-by-technology or initiative-by-initiative basis, and at this time we don't intend to -- I mean, our intention is to ask for up to $2 million per year starting in 2018.

MR. BRETT:  And would you agree with me that the -- you mentioned the Affiliate Relationships Code.  Would you agree with me that the affiliates relationship code does not specifically deal with intellectual property?  It is not one of the things that it deals with in any detail.  In other words, the sharing of the revenue streams and the economic gains associated with intellectual property, they are developed by the regulated utility, right?

MR. McGILL:  I would have to go back and read the Affiliate Relationships Code to be certain that there are no references to intellectual property, but my recollection of it is that it is quite clear in terms of transfer of assets and as far as I can make out intellectual property would be an asset.

MR. BRETT:  The -- let me ask you this:  What I understand -- I understand you were saying that each of these technologies that you are developing, I'll call them your funnel technologies, are going to be -- you will deal with other parties, perhaps, as required, and each is a very specific case, but as I heard you a while ago, as a general principle you are not prepared to -- you are not prepared to -- to assert that any gains, either revenue gains or other economic gains that Enbridge or any of its affiliates would derive from this intellectual property, will be shared with ratepayers; am I right in that?  You are not agreeing that any of the benefits will be shared with ratepayers?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think the point I'm trying to make is that if there was a transfer of -- okay.  First, it's highly unlikely we're going to derive any original intellectual property out of these initiatives, so that's one consideration.  The second is that any transfer of an asset would be governed by the Affiliate Relationships Code.  The third thing is, to the extent that there were any benefits derived from intellectual property rights that may end up residing in the utility, they would be subject to whatever rate-setting mechanism is in place at that point in time.

So I think there is a number of protections there for the ratepayers with respect to what happens with respect to any intellectual property that might be derived from this effort.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, one more question.  I think you mentioned in your reply to Dr. Higgin or one of the other questioners that while this is an asset, intellectual property that is associated with these developments is an asset, like any other utility asset, like a piece of pipe or a valve, but it's -- but those are -- it's not quite the same, is it?  Those are utility assets you mentioned that will stay in the utility.  The intellectual property associated with some of these projects may initially or ultimately accrue to a non-regulated affiliate of Union or a non-regulated -- sorry, of Enbridge, or a non-regulated division, and it may be difficult -- so if that's the case would you -- if that's the case then -- that's a different -- that's a different situation than a piece of pipe or a valve, is it not?  I mean, it's not a good analogy, in other words.

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think an asset is an asset.  An example is back in late 1999, we transferred a customer information system that was being developed by the utility to an unregulated affiliate, and that was subject to the Affiliate Relationships Code.  So a software application in and of itself is largely intellectual property.  We did that; that was subject to review by the Board and subject to the Affiliate Relationships Code as it stood at the time.

MR. BRETT:  All right, let me move on.  I'd like to deal briefly with -- I'd like to have you look up -- this is a question that I asked Union, as well.

I'd like you to turn up page 3 of the compendium.  Do you have our compendium there?  I gave it to your counsel yesterday, so I assume you've got it.  And just for everybody's assistance, including the Board Panel, this is the same compendium that I used, but just the different parts of it will be used in different ways.

So if you look at page 3, that is an excerpt from the environmental commissioner of Ontario's annual energy conservation progress report, 2016-2017.

I have for copies, by the way if you need more hard copies.  Does anybody -- do you need more hard copies up there?

On page 3, this is under the title of -- well, you can see the punch line there in -- on the grey, dark grey paper: "Utilities should examine spending more on conservation as part of their cap-and-trade compliance programs."

But I want to go back and just direct you to the paragraph, the second-last paragraph on the on the left-hand side of the page.  It starts:
"Costs and benefits can also be looked at from the perspective of the utility.  How much does the utility need to pay to save a cubic metre of gas?”

In simple terms, they go on to say, "the total DSM program cost in 2015," so they're going way back, I guess because 2015 has the best numbers, "was 68.1 million."

And then down in the -- and the total cumulative gas savings were 2,433,000,000 cubic metres.  And the non-discounted cost per cubic metre of gas saved is 2.86 cubic metres.

Do you have any reason to believe that that is not a fair or accurate summary for 2015?

MR. JOHNSON:  I have no reason to suspect that that's anything but accurate.  The only thing I would comment is that I'm assuming, just the way it's written, that is a combination of the utilities, not just Enbridge.

MR. BRETT:  Right, I'm assuming that as well.  Then it goes on to say:
"Put into the context of Ontario's carbon price (as established by its new cap-and-trade program), 2.86 million cubic metres would be the equivalent to paying" -- sorry, "2.86 cents per cubic metre would be the equivalent of paying $15 per tonne of CO2 equivalent over the lifetime of the conservation measures."

Then you go on to say:
"This price is lower than the market price of GHG allowances, which was established at just over $18 for CO2 equivalent in Ontario's first two auctions."

I guess those would be March and June of 2017.

So the same question: Are you -- do you have any reason to think that that is not an accurate comparison, or an accurate comment?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  A couple of things, and I think Mr. Johnson will add on to my ...

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, could you speak up into your mic a little bit more?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, just a couple of comments, and then Mr. Johnson will add on to my response.

I do note that that is 2015 results, and we're looking at a 2018 compliance plan and, as we know, results for energy efficiency are not necessarily linear.

But I'd also like to point out that although it may be a less expensive way, it states in that last paragraph that this is not guaranteed.  What we're dealing with in cap-and-trade is a requirement to meet the actual throughput, in terms of our legal obligation, to the government.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Just before we go to Mr. Johnson, I was going to ask you this.  They are 15 -- maybe, Mr. Johnson, you could cover this off.

I agree it's 2015 numbers, but would you see any reason to believe and let's -- we are dealing at a fairly general level here, but I'm assuming that as time goes on, your -- two things would happen, going from 2015 to 2018. You would have more savings produced and you'd have spent more money.

On the other hand, the carbon price is probably not exactly what it was in 2015, but it doesn't look like it would be too different from that $18.  In any event, is the proportionality -- is there proportionality there that would mean that this -- it's likely that this proposition would continue to be valid in 2018, just looking at the numbers?  Never mind the -- leaving aside the point about guarantee and not guaranteed.

MR. JOHNSON:  So I think there are a couple of things that I would preface it in terms of answering your question.

The first is just that in that line, the second paragraph at the end that you referred to, it says the non-discounted cost of cubic metres of gas saved.  So again, there is no adjustment for the time value of money that the future benefits.

So in a DSM framework, when we do that calculation for a TRC calculation, we would discount those benefits to present day.  So you might get a higher number if you were to do that math.

The second thing that you alluded to -- and again I'm not surprised by the result of this, because we do know we have very good, very cost-effective programs in place.  But our programs -- and especially I think you would likely see this again, and it would be subject to check, but between 2015 and 2018, we have done more.  But in order to do more, it gets more expensive.  So if you were to re-do that math in 2018, you may find that while we were achieved more savings in total, those savings have been more expensive to get.

So again, I think this is looking at our average program, like this number that's provided here is our average program, but the marginal part of our program, the last bit that we've added, would be more expensive than this average.

MR. BRETT:  Would you be able to do just a re-do of that number for 2018, using your cost -- I guess using your forecast costs and your forecast savings and comparing -- and using what you're using for the allowance, your forecast of your allowance payment, the market payment for allowances in '18?  Could you do that as an undertaking?

MR. O'LEARY:  Could I ask Mr. Brett, perhaps just as a point of clarification, what number he wants to re-do?

MR. BRETT:  I want them to re-do, I guess, the four numbers.  One is the total cost -- forecast cost of the utility programs, DSM programs for 2018, just looking at these two paragraphs here, the total forecast cumulative gas savings for 2018.

I think some of the -- you can leave the non-discounted portion of it as it is.  Or if you wish, you can make an attempt to quantify the effect of discounting.

And then third would be the -- well, third would be just the division, the cost in cents per cubic metre.

And finally, what number should be used instead of $15 for CO2 equivalent, if we are talking about 2018?  I think that's probably a little low for 2018.  That's it.

MR. O'LEARY:  So just to move matters along I would think that we already have on the record at least from Enbridge's perspective its forecast for DSM in 2018 and the GHG equivalent, so that would already be there, Mr. Brett.  I would think that any argument you want to make about the value of that is something that could be done based on what's on the record already.


MR. BRETT:  Well, I'm not making any argument at the moment.  I'm just asking for you to do the -- for Enbridge to do the analysis because you have the knowledge.  You mentioned the question -- the issue of non-discounted versus discounted.  You have a practice that you associate with that, and you have quite a few people in your department.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Brett, I think Mr. O'Leary is suggesting that the numbers are already on the record.


MR. BRETT:  All right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps if you could be taken to them, as to where Mr. Brett would get that information or reference?


MR. O'LEARY:  We could provide that in a response, if we can't do it already.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. BRETT:  That would be helpful.


MR. O'LEARY:  Or after the break.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J3.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO PROVIDE MR. BRETT WITH CITATIONS IN THE EVIDENCE FOR DISCOUNTED VERSUS NON-DISCOUNTED DATA.


MR. BRETT:  The other thing that you, as part of that, I would like you to comment on what you think the -- and I don't think this is on the record.  I'd like you to comment on what you think the impact would be of moving from a non-discounted to a discounted assessment of those savings.  Okay?


MR. JOHNSON:  Using the --


MR. BRETT:  The point that you raised, so I just, I'm asking you to give us -- to give me a -- give me an order of magnitude impact, moving from a discounted to a -- non-discounted to a discounted value.


MR. JOHNSON:  Using the assumptions that we use in the DSM framework?


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.


MR. JOHNSON:  Okay, that would obviously require a fair bit of math.  I mean, order of magnitude, it wouldn't be -- in the order of magnitude, it wouldn't be ten times, but I couldn't give an accurate number at this point.


MR. BRETT:  All right, well, let's leave it at the moment.  I don't --


MR. McGILL:  Excuse me, just with respect to this kind of assessment, something that I'd like to point out is that when we're talking about DSM or conservation programs, 100 percent -- although, as an ancillary benefit of them, they produce the overall carbon footprint of the gas distribution utility, 100 percent of the economic benefits of those programs flow to the participants that take part in them.


So in terms of reducing the carbon cost to all customers, they don't.  They only reduce it for the customers who participate in the program, based on the way our carbon costs are recovered in our rates, and I think that's an important consideration to take into account when you are trying to distinguish between what is an abatement activity versus what is a conservation activity.


MR. BRETT:  You'd agree with me, though, that the impact -- that there is an incentive because of the way these programs are -- the way this comparison is made, there is an incentive for customers to engage in conservation programs.  If they engage in a conservation program -- let me put the framework this way:  They will realize gas savings which will help them.  They will also contribute to abatement technology so that you will have to ask for less -- you will have to purchase less allowances, so that certainly not every customer -- every customer gets this benefit at once, but over a period of years, as I think was mentioned yesterday, a lot of customers participate in CDM programs, whether it is rate -- whether it's rate-supported or whether, as in the case of your home retrofit program, it is highly leveraged by government funds, which you think is a good idea.  You certainly said that in your DSM, in your report.  You are going to get a lot of -- you are going to get two bangs for the buck, effectively.  And nobody is forced to stay out of it -- no consumer is forced to stay out of an energy efficiency program.  He has the right to participate, and you want him to participate.  That's why you spend money promoting your programs.  And it's also a matter of you -- as you know, of high government policy.  The government stated on more occasions than we can count that conservation is the first resource that should be utilized.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is this leading to further examination, Mr. Brett?


MR. BRETT:  Sorry?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is this leading to further examination.  Are you setting up the context for a question somewhere here?


MR. BRETT:  Well, I was just asking him to -- I was looking to sort of get an agreement that there was a balance there, because it's not a simple story with one side to it; there is a balance.  But let me move on.


I would like to ask you to turn up -- this was something -- turn up page 6, please, of our compendium, BOMA's compendium.  And this is the subject -- this is, as I mentioned yesterday, this actually is a BOMA interrogatory to Union Gas in last year's compliance proceeding, and the question -- part of the question really was to, first of all, understand the nature of the relationship between the GIF funding and the home reno rebate program and in particular how savings -- how emissions savings would be attributed -- these are emissions savings -- would be attributed either to Union's DSM portfolio or the GIF.  And Union answered the question last year, and you can see that over on page 2 of 2.  Yeah, you already turned it up.  That's great.


And I read into the record yesterday these provisions here, at 1 through 4, which essentially assigned 80 percent of the savings to the utility so long as they are contributing some money to the retrofit.


So my question to you is:  Is this, to the best of your understanding, is this the same arrangement you have with the government; in other words, these four points here?


MR. JOHNSON:  So I'm familiar with the program at a high level, not at a very detailed level.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. JOHNSON:  One comment I can make that I notice is different is, I believe, our smart thermostat attribution is different.  At a high level it looks similar, but again, that would be subject to check.


MR. BRETT:  Just on that point, because it's -- your thermostat program, is that -- that remains in existence, I take it?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, it does.


MR. BRETT:  Sorry?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  But aside from that you think it's similar, right, or it's the same aside from that?  Same basic formula, 80/20 formula?


MR. JOHNSON:  Again, subject to check I think it's similar.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And as they say down below in the last little paragraph:

"Homes attributed to Union's DSM portfolio will count toward their DSM resource acquisition scorecard and they'll also count toward their shareholders' incentive."

And I assume that that would be the same under your arrangement?  Does that strike you as reasonable?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, homes that are part of our program would count towards our results.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  Okay, and then there is only one other question I have on this, and that is on the question of how -- of compensation for this program, and I talked to Union a little bit about this.


My understanding is that you get a -- you've been given -- under the GIF program you've been given a certain amount of money in '16, '17, and '18 which I described as a top-up or supplement to your own financing, your own budget, DSM budget for that home retrofit program for those three years.

Can you give me, very roughly -- well, let's leave that aside.

Now, Union said yesterday that -- they told us yesterday that they received another $15 million from the government of Ontario in an agreement signed two weeks ago.  Are you also going to get an additional amount of money from the government shortly, to your knowledge?

MR. JOHNSON:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. BRETT:  And in Union's case, they said they'd expended all of their funds and they needed more money to effectively get this -- carry this program through to the end of 2018.

Now, have you expended all your funds in your DSM budget for this program for 2018, or do you have money left?

MR. JOHNSON:  Again, I'm not as familiar with the details of this program, but not to my knowledge.

MR BRETT:  What?  That you've still got money left?

MR. JOHNSON:  Or that we're forecasting to use the money that we have.

MR. BRETT:  I'm talking about your DSM budget now, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  To my knowledge, we don't have an issue where we're running out of money.

MR. BRETT:  You don't have an issue, all right.  So you are in a different position from Union that way.

Now, part of the -- so you get money each year.  Now,  assume that in the case of Union, this was certainly the case, part of that money, a modest portion of that money is going to pay for your administration costs of the program.

Is that the case with you as well?  In other words, it's earmarked for administration.  Let's say you get $20 million and 19 of that is supposed to flow through to the customers.  There's a million dollars in my example that is dedicated to -- you get that to offset your cost of administering program and marketing the program, which is part of what you do as part of this deal.  Is that the case with you?

MR. JOHNSON:  So again, I'm not sure about the numbers.  But what we do is have them fully allocated -- fully allocated overhead cost is associated to the GIF program.

MR. BRETT:  You're reimbursed by the government, effectively?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, they would cover the full costs.

MR. BRETT:  And they would -- you've included that in your actual mainline cost.

So I understand what you're saying, a fully allocated cost, now do you have -- do you have employees that are earmarked to do this?  In other words, employees who that are earmarked to effectively carry -- to effectively do this larger program?  In other words, visualize the situation if you didn't have the government funding, you were spending 8 million bucks a year, you have a certain number of people that are administering that program.

Now you move from spending 8 to spending 20.  You need extra arms and legs to do that.  Have you hired extra people to do that?  Or maybe put it this way, the FTEs that you have, that you are forecasting that are in rates, are some of those FTEs dedicated to administering the incremental part of this program?

MR. JOHNSON:  So with the exception of what you said there with respect to within rates.  So we do have a number of FTEs that work on the overall program, and a portion of them are allocated to DSM and would be, as you've described, within rates.  And a portion are allocated and the money comes from the GIF program for those incremental results.

MR. BRETT:  So a portion of those people that are supported in rates are assigned to the GIF program?

MR. JOHNSON:  The dollars, yes; the dollars for them would be from the GIF program.

MR. BRETT:  But the question I guess I'm trying to get at is are you being paid twice?  Are you getting both -- are you using both money from ratepayers to pay for the incremental employees and at the same time, recovering, let's say, a million dollars a year from the government to do that task?

MR. JOHNSON:  No, we're not.

MR. BRETT:  Why not, in the way I've just described it?

MR. JOHNSON:  Again, so we have a total number of people to run the full program, and we allocate a portion and would be paid for by the DSM program, and a portion that would come from -- that would be allocated and paid for by the GIF program.

MR. BRETT:  I see.  So what you are saying is you need to use less money from your ratepayers pot to fund this program because you're getting money, a million dollars, from the government.  Is that it?

MR. McGILL:  I'll just try and simplify this.  We recover the fully-allocated incremental cost of facilitating the GIF program for the province.  That's the end of it.

MR. BRETT:  All right, I'll move on.

I'd like you to turn up, if you could, page 47 of the compendium.  Do you have that?  This is an excerpt from your submission to -- as you can see, it is an extract from your submission to the DSM mid-year review.

If you look at paragraph 26, this may be for you -- well, I think whoever might like to answer them, but Ms. Oliver-Glasford, I suspect, easier for you initially.  Look at paragraph 26.  You say:
"In its simplest form, the company believes that DSM is carbon abatement programming.  It is a policy instrument that the Board can leverage to help the government achieve its objectives, and to help ratepayers maximize the benefits of lower GHG emissions and reduced energy costs."

Do you still stand by that statement?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I believe DSM is an excellent policy instrument for reducing energy and GHG emissions.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And if we go on to 27, you say there that:
"In this new context and new policy environment, Enbridge wishes to be clear that the company's intention is to be forefront of carbon abatement activity.  Enbridge will continue to offer highly cost-effective and meaningful DSM services to the best of its ability, and will seek to find ways to partner with government and stakeholders to continue to enhance energy efficiency programming."

Do you still stand by that statement?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I would recognize that this was the application in the DSM midterm review.  So in the context of the DSM midterm review, that is still relevant, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I understand.  I guess I would say that when you qualify it in the way you do, are you suggesting that you would make a different statement in this hearing from the DSM review and why would the -- why would there be a difference in the two?

I mean, it's a quote from the DSM review, but it talks about abatement, emissions.  And so these things are -- it talks as if these things are tied together very closely, right?  You wouldn't be taking a different position here than you would be in the DSM review with respect to how CDM abatement, which is your -- which seems to be your most highly cost-effective abatement activity at the moment -- you wouldn't be changing your view on the significance of that depending on the audience you were talking to.  You were talking to the same audience, but under a different silo.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I would not be changing that point of view that DSM is a valuable tool.  I would point out, though, that these are different contexts and different frameworks.

And so much in the same way that I pointed out at the beginning where cap-and-trade is an actual number that we have to procure against, so essentially a top-down number, DSM is built from a bottom up basis.  So trying to compare them is very difficult, and hence the reason why there are no other jurisdictions trying to, on an apples to apples basis, put them together.

They are -- they work hand in hand and they are valuable to consider.  Energy efficiency has the co-benefit of reducing GHG emissions, but they are -- the frameworks function differently and have different limitations.

MR. BRETT:  Well, you'd agree they are complementary and that they both offer benefits under the cap-and-trade framework, in the sense that if you have, as was pointed out yesterday, if you have a succession of energy CDM abatement projects over a period of years, that's going to gradually, presumably -- set aside for a moment the measurement program, measurement issue, because that's a new issue that you've raised today, this idea of top-down versus bottom-up, and I want to address that.

But subject to that you agree they're complementary, that compliance programs -- let's leave aside some of the marginal stuff that -- like offsets and abatement projects that aren't going to take shape for another five years or so -- are two big tools that you have, presumably are purchasing allowances one way or the other, perhaps purchasing an offset from California, and a big CDM abatement.  That's your other big tool, right?  So they are complementary in that sense.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  In some ways they are, but in the DSM framework, for example, one of the big things that was discussed was cross-subsidization between non-participants and participants, and the Board went through a lengthy process and determined that the appropriate level was $2 per month for that.

So when you look at DSM, there may be more cost-effective options, but they have to be looked at in light of what that would cost the average ratepayer to pursue.  And that needs to be a part of a broader discussion.

The MACC tool was provided to say beyond that, within the scope of that, is there anything that's cost-effective, and what it shows is that there is not, without changing the premise of that $2 per month.

MR. BRETT:  Well, I think I'll -- I'm not going to get into the details of the MACC with you, but I would -- but you are not suggesting, I take it, that if the Board were to say in this proceeding -- at the end of this proceeding, look, we would like you to develop -- we would invite you to develop and implement some CDM abatement or to try in either this year and/or next year, the remaining part of '18 or halfway through, of course, and '19, you would not -- and were prepared to give you some leeway in terms of the $2 per month per customer rate impact, you would not object to doing that.  I mean, you would look at that; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  So I guess one thing that I was just a little confused about what you were saying there was you mentioned the $2 cap, so you are referring to if they -- if out of this proceeding they suggested that in the DSM framework we make a change?

MR. BRETT:  Well, I'm really quoting, I think your -- I think Ms. Oliver-Glasford said in the technical conference yesterday, she talked about this -- I'm not sure I can pull it up right at the moment, but she talked about this -- of having this $2 per customer restraint.  I picked that out as one element, but really what I'm saying is -- what I'm asking is -- what I'd like to ask you is, the Board has a framework for this, of course, and an element of that is -- one element, among several, among many, is this idea of a, you know, that there's a concept of maximum impact on ratepayers that is part of this, but there's nothing -- and I asked Union this same question -- there is nothing in the Board's framework that precludes you from adding CDM to either this year or next year?  I mean, there are practical issues around what you can do this year because of timing, and those were discussed at some length yesterday, but there is nothing in the Board's cap-and-trade framework, as it's now drafted, that precludes you from offering CDM abatement; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  So what I would say is there is the imitations that the Board has set and the tools that they have provided, which is the MACC, that shows that there isn't anything cost-effective within the cap-and-trade framework.

I think what you are suggesting is now, within the DSM framework, could more be done, and to your point, there is a separate limitation in the DSM framework, which is that $2 cap, and to me, that conversation would belong within the DSM framework.

MR. BRETT:  That was an element that was introduced by your boss yesterday, saying that $2 is -- I'm sorry, not yesterday, it was introduced in the technical conference, and I can give you a reference if like after lunch, but essentially you spoke about -- your point, I think -- or I'm going to ask you this:  I think the point you were trying to make is, look, if you are going to ask us to do more CDM abatement, over and above the CDM that we are now doing, you've got to give us more resources.  Is that not a fair summary of what you were trying to say?  I mean, there were other things you were trying to say, but in terms of the capabilities as an organization you were saying, You've got to give us more resources.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  So I think, you know, that certainly is an accurate representation of the DSM barriers or I guess constraints, if you will.  In terms of cap-and-trade it is a different framework; it is a different matter.  The time horizon for it is different.  And so when you start to look at the benefits of energy efficiency, they may well be there, but the timing of the benefits and the results aren't matched up, and so you start to get into more complex policy issues that need to be addressed in a fulsome way in a DSM --


MR. BRETT:  Do you not really, though -- this gets back to your top-down bottom-up stuff that you introduced this morning.  Effectively, is that not a measurement program?  In other words, let me put that a little differently:  Wise people can get together, I assume, and design a system of measurements that would allow you to effectively compare -- would effectively allow you to draw into the cap-and-trade regime, because we're talking about CDM measures here that reduce the need for you to apply for more allowances, so there are abatement measures, as you've said yourself several times in your DSM proposal.

Surely, some smart minds can figure out a way to essentially deal with this -- this timing difficulty.  I mean, what you were saying, I think, is, if I understood you earlier today, Look, we're dealing with actual gas.  The test that for how many emissions we have to produce is the volume of gas that is driven by the amount of -- volume of gas that's delivered to our city gate.  That, by the way, leaves the ratepayer, I think, worried about dealing with losses, but leaving that aside, and so that's an actual amount, but on the other hand you do get actual amounts from DSM abatement programs as well, you'll get them at a different time, and the -- and the -- do you not?  And I will grant you that the process for determining what those actual amounts are, the gas savings that are flowing from DSM projects, has been made a little more difficult by these very long evaluations and verification procedures on which the Board is trying to fix, as I understand it.

So --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Before lunch?

[Laughter]

MR. BRETT:  Yes, before lunch.  So I just want to ask you, is that not -- is that not essentially -- it's not a philosophical difference, is it?  It's a technical measurement problem.  How do you compare -- how do you basically get these two determinants of emission reduction and DSM into the same framework?  How do you rationalize the differences in timing, which is not the only difference, but it's one of the more practical ones; how do you rationalize that difference?  Isn't that the case?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it is difficult to certainly compare.  But I would say it would be unfortunate to undercut the value energy efficiency by tying efficiency into a compliance plan for a carbon policy that may not exist over the long term.

So, in terms of, you know, clarity, the DSM framework has functioned well for a number of years, in terms of considering all different stakeholders' positions, factoring-in appropriate costs, and coming out with targets and budgets which are deemed appropriate from the Board's perspective and stakeholders.

MR. BRETT:  Thanks, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brett.  We will break for lunch now and return at 1:45.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:49 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:49 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good afternoon.  Please be seated.

Mr. Woon?
Procedural Matters:


MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, if I might, just before we --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry about that, Mr. --


MR. O'LEARY:  -- we think we can deal with the questions by Mr. Gardner that we said we'd take away and try and sort out offline, and actually, I think we do have responses from both Mr. McGill in respect of the MaRS seminar and the building skin seminar, if that was part of it.

MR. McGILL:  With respect to the building skin webinar, I believe it was, Enbridge had one person that was in attendance at that event, and they were also on the organizing committee at that event.

We have not identified building skins as a program in our LCIF because we feel that this initiative will be sufficiently covered by Union Gas, so we believe this is in line with how we typically share information and collaborate with Union in this respect.

If this program appears to be viable, based on the work that's underway, then we may become more deeply involved in the future if we see it as a potential conservation or abatement opportunity.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  And the second part of Mr. Gardner's question, and I may misstate this, but I think it related to the references in the evidence to the behavioural components of the GIF, and Mr. Johnson, I think you have made some enquiries and can respond at least in part to that?

MR. JOHNSON:  Sure.  Yes, I only have a very high-level bit of information to share, which is that, yes, under the GIF program or with GIF funding there is a pilot program looking at a behavioural program deployed using those GIF dollars.

MR. O'LEARY:  Hopefully that helps.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is.  Thank you very much.

Ms. Seers, I see we have -- letters have been filed, both letters from -- one from LCIF and the other one from California Carbon?

MS. SEERS:  Carbon.

MR. QUESNELLE:  CC.  Could you put together a cover letter in the form of your request for confidentiality, just contextualizing those letters, so that we are getting that record from you?

MS. SEERS:  Certainly, and I think Mr. Elson is here now.  I think he, perhaps, has an update in respect of the California Carbon information.  I'm not sure about the ICF information, or perhaps we can deal with subsequently once we've spoken --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I think if we just start the process from the very beginning, put that cover letter together in the form of the request, and then Mr. Elson can respond to it and anyone else who cares to as well, and we can deal with it sequentially and get it taken care of.

MS. SEERS:  We'll do that.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Okay.  I have OSEA up next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Woon:

MR. WOON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  I want to turn to Staff 24 on the attachment 1.

Mr. Johnson, I think earlier you started off the presentation kind of explaining what Enbridge did to come to its conclusion that no additional conservation measures would be prudent under this framework.  And from my understanding is both utilities kind of took the same kind of analysis where you looked at the opportunities under the MACC.  You applied a net to gross ratio, and then you also applied another adjustment for your franchise, how much you guys have in each of your franchises, and that's how much you identified is available under the MACC, correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  I think that's a fair summary.

MR. WOON:  And this is over a very high-level comparison, you took how much you were forecasted to save under DSM enrolled, since you are saving more under DSM, that's why it's not cost-effective to any more additional abatement under cap-and-trade, correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MR. WOON:  So I understand that from Union's evidence -- and this is Union Staff 31 -- they kind of took an additional step where they looked at the individual measures under the MACC and assessed what, if any, of those measures were not included in their existing DSM programs to see if they were identifying any gaps, and I think we touched upon this at the technical conference, but from my understanding, Enbridge did a similar analysis; correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  I'm not as familiar with Union's approach, but I think it was a little bit different, in that we referenced different parts of the MACC, so we reference the tables that talk about sort of groups of measures at a bit of a higher level.

MR. WOON:  So you are referring to the tables.  I have MACC in front of me.  I don't know if you have a copy of MACC with you.

MR. JOHNSON:  I do now.

MR. WOON:  I'm assuming that you are referring to probably on page 41, that type of -- Table 14?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, that's correct.  So we looked at the resident -- end-use commercial and industrial at this level.

MR. WOON:  So if we turn to the following page, page 42 of the MACC, Table 15, it identifies more the individual measures.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes I, see that.

MR. WOON:  So just based on the same -- am I correct to say that Enbridge hasn't looked at the individual measures identified in the MACC in comparison to what's offered under their existing DSM programs?

MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct, we didn't go through measure by measure at this level, we did at the end-use level, and again, because our conclusion there was once again that there wasn't anything that we missed of substance, we didn't go to another further level below that.

The other challenge -- and I think this actually came up with Union -- is the table 15, for example, that you are referring to, which has the individual measures under the end uses, doesn't have quantities associated with them, so even if you identified that there was something cost-effective, you wouldn't know if the size of that measure was extremely small, because they're then grouped up above in the table before.

MR. WOON:  So is it fair to say that there are potential abatement measures that have been identified by the MACC to be cost-effective under cap-and-trade?  And I'm talking about individual measures that might not be in your existing DSM plan.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, I think, as we discussed at the technical conference, within residential specifically -- so actually maybe I'll cover all three -- within residential specifically we did identify three areas where there were opportunities, one of which we have information that -- from the government that there may be a duplicate program coming out, so we didn't think that was worth pursuing, and the other two were very, very nominal, so again, that wasn't something that we thought was worth pursuing.  Within commercial and industrial we have custom programs that are flexible enough to really account for all end uses, so any type of project that falls under these end-use measures would qualify under those programs.

MR. WOON:  And when you were referring to the three items -- areas where you identified that you don't know if there would be cause and effect or not, are you referring to, sorry, the higher, mid-level, Table 14 kind of end uses you're talking about, or are you talking about individual measures?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, I am referring to Table 14, so the three specifically were clothes dryers, fireplaces, and swimming-pool heaters, so I think again as I mentioned at the technical conference we have a whole-home program which is intended to cover a wide range of opportunities within the home, but within that program we didn't have anything that addressed those three areas.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, would it be helpful if we had the page reference?  Because we are having difficulty locating the table.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.  Mr. Woon, where are we now in the --


MR. WOON:  Sorry, we are on the MACC.  We were discussing on page 41 of the MACC.  I am referring to table 14, and then we are referring to table 15 on the next page.  So I think this was discussed -- to assist the Board, from my understanding Enbridge looked at table 14, which groups up some of the individual measures to identify whether or not they would be worthy to pursue.  My questions were focused on table 15, where the MACC identifies individual measures that are cost-effective under the MACC.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. WOON:  So I want to move on to, still going back to Staff 24, one of the barriers that Enbridge has strived to incorporate more incremental measures beyond their existing DSM program has been government funding, and you've raised CCAP and the GreenON funding.

But my understanding is since Enbridge is obviously not the same as the government, aren't you always going to be at the discretion of government funding?  So isn't it not more prudent to approach the government with specific programs you think are -- well, let the MACC is identified to be cost-effective, similar to how you are approaching the government with your renewable natural gas program?

MR. JOHNSON:  So again, I think this also came up in the technical conference and certainly we have been in conversation with government, and continue to be in conversation with government.  Our observation is they seem to be preferring the route to issue RFPs for those opportunities.

MR. WOON:  So I want to refer to one of the statements made by Enbridge in Staff 24.  It's on page 3, so it's towards the end.

In the last paragraph, in the last sentence, it says, and I'll quote:
"Outside of the DSM framework, Enbridge is in discussions with GreenON to look at additional funds for new or enhanced programs.  This includes proposing new programs that may not be cost-effective..."

Sorry, I'm citing the wrong statement.  It is actually two paragraphs above where it says:
"Once the amount of government funding is known, utilities are in a better position to determine how best these funds can be leveraged and considered in the design and implementation of incremental abatement programs which complement the government's initiatives instead of competing with them.  Until such time, Enbridge believes that the development of any incremental DSM or abatement activities is not a prudent course of action as the true cost-effectiveness cannot be determined."

So I just want to focus on the latter half of that sentence, where you talk about incremental DSM or abatement activities.   I note there was a clarification earlier this morning about what's the difference between incremental DSM and abatement activities.  So from my understanding, abatement activities includes -- is much broader and would include more than just conservation measures; is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that would be correct.

MR. WOON:  So if Enbridge is taking the position that until government funding not known, it's not prudent to take the course of pursuing abatement activities.  Does that also relate to the abatement activities that they're proposing under the LCIF?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, this was really intended to reflect the large investment that is particularly going into energy efficiency.

There are funds that are encouraging innovation around low carbon.  However, the utility feels that it needs a consistent and reliable source of funding to ensure that it is meeting the spirit of the framework and pursuing longer-term low carbon abatement initiatives.

MR. WOON:  So in terms of the abatement activities that you are proposing under the -- with the LCIF funding, Union, in one of the responses to an undertaking, provided their timelines in terms of where are they at, how much they have spent to date, and their overall progress and where they're projected to be.

We don't need to pull it up specifically, because I understand it will be different.  But for the measures that Enbridge are proposing to do, is it more or less in the similar timeframe, where most of your pilot projects aren't going to be finished until the end of 2018, or well into 2019?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I believe that's a reasonable assessment, yes.

MR. WOON:  To go one step further, so most likely you won't be able to get the results from those pilot projects and studies done before you have to submit your 2019-2020 cap-and-trade compliance plans by this August?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think that would certainly be a fair statement.  You know, there are initiatives at different stages of the funnel, but I don't believe there's anything that would be that quick to turn around.

MR. WOON:  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Woon.  Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  I have a compendium that we need to get marked as an exhibit, please.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K3.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR ENBRIDGE PANEL 1


MS. GRICE:  Good afternoon, panel.  I am Shelly Grice representing VECC.

I just have a follow-up question related to the information that was provided after the break in response to Mr. Gardner's question, and Mr. Johnson referred to the reference at Exhibit C, tab 5, schedule 2, page 29, to educational and behavioural-based greenhouse gas reductions as being related to a low income behavioural pilot program.

I just wondered, by way of undertaking, if Enbridge would be able to provide further details about this behavioural program.

MR. JOHNSON:  I mentioned low income and if that was in the evidence, I missed it and I certainly didn't mean to say that, if I did.

MR. GARDNER:  Perhaps we misheard you.  We understand that that reference is in relation to residential only.  Thank you.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, your question is could we undertake to provide more information about that program?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, just the nature of the program, what it is focusing on.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J3.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  TO PROVIDE MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE LOW INCOME BEHAVIOURAL PILOT PROGRAM MENTIONED AT EXHIBIT C, TAB 5, SCHEDULE 2, PAGE 29

MS. GRICE:  Thank you very much.  If you could turn, please, to page 22 of the compendium, this table 1 shows Enbridge's volume forecast in cubic metres, and column 1 is showing the forecast volumes before DSM and abatement. Column 2 is showing the DSM volumes.  Column 3 is showing the customer abatement volume, and then column 4 is showing the forecast volumes after DSM and abatement.

I just want to focus on column 3.  Is it correct that I could replace the word -- the acronym GIF with customer abatement volume?  Is that what that's representing, the non-ratepayer GIF portion of the volume forecast?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, at this time, that is what that is comprising of, yes.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  If we could now turn to page 24 of the compendium, this is in response to a CCC Interrogatory No. 14 and it just outlines the Green Investment Fund dollars.  And it says here there is $100 million of GIF allocation; 58 million is going to Enbridge and 42 million is going to Union.

And in discussions that took place with Union, it came to light that GIF has provided an additional $15 million to Union to undertake work on an additional 4,000 homes.

I just wanted to follow up and see if Enbridge received additional funding as well.

MR. JOHNSON:  I think that was asked earlier and the answer was no.

MS. GRICE:  I'm sorry.  Thank you.  Has Enbridge put forward any residential or low income offerings as part of its midterm review submissions?

MR. JOHNSON:  As part of our midterm review, we haven't put forward any incremental residential or low income offerings.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I just wanted to follow-up.  Dr. Higgin took you to Environment Defence interrogatory response number 32 this morning, and if we could just pull that up, please.

What the interrogatory was requesting was a breakdown of the ratepayer-funded dollars separated from the GIF-funded program dollars, and then the last part of the table there shows the sum of ratepayer and GIF-funded programs.

And I just noted when we were going through the interrogatory that if you add up the ratepayer-funded of 43.162 million and the GIF-funded of 41.427 million, it's about $24 million less than the 109 million, and I just wondered if you could explain that, if I've -- maybe I'm missing something.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think we'll need to take an undertaking just to check the math.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That would be great.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Undertaking on that one?

MR. MURRAY:  That's Undertaking J3.6.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  TO EXPLAIN WHY, IF YOU ADD UP THE RATEPAYER-FUNDED OF 43.162 MILLION AND THE GIF-FUNDED OF 41.427 MILLION, IT'S ABOUT $24 MILLION LESS THAN THE 109 MILLION.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  If we can turn to page 3, please, of the compendium.  And we've looked at this table before, Table 3 at the top.  It sets out the MACC potential versus the DSM plan.

And if you look at the footnote number 6 related to the net savings column, it indicates that Enbridge has applied a Free ridership value of 15 percent for residential, and I just noted in our conversations with Union that they applied a 5 percent Free ridership value, and I just did some quick math and ran through 5 percent through the table, and subject to check, if you'll just agree with me that when you get to the net potential in Enbridge's franchise area, if you run 5 percent through, it allows for approximately a million dollars -- sorry, a million cubic metres of potential opportunity, and my question is:  I know these values were set in another proceeding.  Would you be able to explain why Enbridge is 15 percent and Union is 5 percent?

MR. JOHNSON:  I'm not familiar with the exact reason.  You know, best guess would be that it's based an either different program designs or different time periods in terms of penetration to the market, but I don't know for sure.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

If we could turn now, please, to page 18.  And Table 2 here shows the number of FTEs that Enbridge is planning to have in 2018 related to its cap-and-trade roles, and I believe we established at the technical conference that currently Enbridge has three vacancies, and one of them is, on the third line down, related to -- where it says "one new for 2018", that that position has not yet been filed, and then at the very bottom, where it says "two new for 2018", those two positions have not been filled; is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's correct at this time.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And if we just turn the page over and refer to section 28 at the bottom, and it says there that:
"Enbridge estimates the 2018 cost associated with the two additional FTEs will be approximately 350,000."

So if we add 175,000 for this third position, would you agree with me that it's close to $525,000 worth of salary costs that are yet to be filled?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I would, subject to check.  That math sounds about right.  I would...

[Witness panel confers]

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Mr. McGill made a clarification that I'd like to identify as well, not just -- you mentioned salary.  These costs would include pensions and benefit costs, so they're not just salary costs.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And your budget for 2018 assumes that all eight positions are filled for the full year; is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, we established a budget based on what we thought we absolutely needed to run an appropriate cap-and-trade plan in 2018.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I just wanted to follow up and ask:  In light of the MAADs application between Enbridge and Union, has Enbridge issued any internal directives that existing vacancies are frozen and should not be filled pending the outcome of that MAADs application?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  There has not been any explicit direction to that end that I'm aware of, no.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So just as a follow-up to that, is your plan then to fill those three positions in 2018?  And if so, do you have an approximate time when you will be filling those?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's fair to say that, even though there has been no edict not to hire, that we are awaiting the determination on the MAADs to make our resourcing decisions and to look at everything in whole, so that certainly is something that would be underway, post the decision, but, yes, I would like to have those roles filled, because certainly we are stretched thin.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you, and if we can just turn the page to page 19, please.  And page just lays out what the two additional FTEs are going to be working on, and just quickly, it's to undertake an annual technology scan and to identify and manage the development of pilot projects, and in our conversations with Union we understand that they have three positions that are undertaking similar work, in that they're assessing emerging technologies as well.

I wanted to ask:  Did Enbridge, when it established that it wanted two incremental FTEs, did Enbridge recognize Union's current level of staffing, given that Union and Enbridge worked together on the development of the abatement construct and came up with a process that's going to be followed, when you decided you needed to, were you recognizing or collaborating with Union, noting that they have three FTEs undertaking this work?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Speaking on behalf of Enbridge, we really took a ground-up review of what to -- what Enbridge required for sustaining the implementation of its compliance plan and related obligations.  We did not contemplate anything around Union's organization.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

And I have a question from CCC that I'm just going to ask.  So in the Union portion of the hearing, Union agreed to an undertaking, and that was Undertaking J1.4, to provide the number of FTEs at Union Gas prior to the merger between Enbridge and Spectra and the current number of FTEs today, and CCC would like to see if Enbridge would provide the same undertaking, so that would be to provide the number of FTEs at Enbridge Gas prior to the merger between Enbridge and Spectra and the current number of FTEs today.  Is that an undertaking you could provide?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I would like to note that Enbridge has resourced its cap-and-trade compliance plan on an incremental basis, so this is a separate deferral account that the will capture the actual resources that are incurred against cap-and-trade and seek to clear only the actual costs after the year.

MS. GRICE:  I understand that.  This is sort of an additional request, and we had the discussion with Enbridge about why it was needed, and so I'll just ask again if you would provide that undertaking.

MR. O'LEARY:  Perhaps I could ask Ms. Grice how she believes that it would be of any assistance to the panel, given Ms. Oliver-Glasford's response.

MS. GRICE:  Well, it's CCC's undertaking, and I believe Ms. Girvan stated that it was an issue that shed some light on the number of FTEs that typically are in an organization before and after a merger, and that there was relevance to this proceeding to have that information.

MR. O'LEARY:  I think the evidence here, Mr. Chair, is that the costs that are being -- that have been included in the application they're looking for approval from the Board to proceed are all incremental dealing with the FTEs that are responsible for administering the cap-and-trade program.

These questions, frankly, relate more to the MAADs application than to this particular proceeding.  I would argue that, with respect, it's not a relevant question.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think what the -- conversations that were -- had taken place with Union, the engaged -- they engaged a fair bit of conversations around the synergies and the potential for synergies, which I believe led to Ms. Girvan's question.  And if it's seen as different here, then I think it's different.

I don't know that we've had the same conversations about the synergies that Ms. Girvan had.  Mr. Rubenstein, you are free to -- no, I'm sorry.

So, anyway, I think the circumstances may be different.  I don't know.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, I guess it was just the synergies, exactly the way Ms. Girvan put it, it may be that the same number of -- or that the incremental number of employees for cap-and-trade are not needed, based on the synergies that come out of the MAADs application.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, certainly this is an application for 2018.  The MAADs application is going to be heard and there will be a decision made there, and the utilities will proceed on the basis of the decision made there and whether synergies are generated will be in part reflective of that decision.

If there's questions about whether or not there are going to be synergies arising in 2018 by the possibility of that occurring, perhaps they could be asked.  But they are very speculative in nature and therefore, I don't think they'd be of any benefit.

The application is that the FTEs that are required and requested in the application here are needed for 2018.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the undertaking that was provided by Union was going to provide a before and after the announcement, was it?  So I think what's that demonstrating is was there synergies already found.  Once the announcement was made, was there reductions, and that was -- I was going to inform any arguments that could be made.

So I think that -- I think that hold true on both sides of the equation.

MR. O'LEARY:  Is that something we would be able to provide?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Restated, it's the FTE count before and after the announcement?

MS. SEERS:  If I may, Mr. Chair ...

MS. GRICE:  I think it was now, it was today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I recognize what you are saying, but I thought there was a before and after component of it.

MS. SEERS:  Mr. Chair, if I may?  I have it here, so it is to provide the number FTEs at Union Gas prior to the merger, so not the announcement, but the merger, the effective date of the merger between Enbridge and Spectra and the current number of FTEs today.  And that's J1.4.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, if you think that would be helpful, we'll respond to that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J3.7.


UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER FTES AT UNION GAS PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE MERGER BETWEEN ENBRIDGE AND SPECTRA AND THE CURRENT NUMBER OF FTES TODAY

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Mr. Elson?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.   Good afternoon Board Panel.  Good afternoon, witness panel.  As you know, I represent Environmental Defence, and my name is Kent Elson, and I will be asking you questions today as I did with Union, all focusing on issue 1.4, which is whether Enbridge has reasonably and appropriately conducted its compliance plan option analysis and optimization of decision-making, specifically as it relates to an assessment of abatement activities.

I'll be referring to our compendium, which was marked as Exhibit K2.2, and I believe everybody should have a copy in front of them.

So I'll start with some general questions about conservation programs and for that purpose, I'm going to ask you to turn to tab 10, please, of our compendium.  As tab 10 is getting pulled up, it's page 24 -- sorry, page 42.  I belief it is an afternoon where I am going to describe a lot of numbers backwards, and I apologize in advance.

This is a list of the TRC net benefits from Enbridge's programs.  There isn't a total on the chart.  I've done the numbers, and the total over the years listed here is $2.5 billion.  Would you agree to that, subject to check?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  So again, this $2.5 billion is a difference between the benefits and the costs from a societal perspective.  In other words, it's the net benefits after the costs have already been subcontracted out, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, that's what TRC attempts to approximate.

MR. ELSON:  Great.  So another way of saying that is that the costs of the measures were fully offset by avoided energy costs, right, and then they produced another $2.5 billion in savings for avoided energy costs?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, over the projected life of the equipment.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And this 2.5 billion is a TRC figure, not a TRC Plus figure, and so this does not include any value for the benefit of carbon emissions, right?

And to add to that, I can point out that the TRC Plus I think started in 2016 and these figures start in -- go up in 2015.

MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you.  I was trying to remember if it was 2015 or 2016 where that was added.

MR. ELSON:  So then yes, this doesn't include the benefits from reducing carbon emissions, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  So in a sense, the carbon emission reductions associated with these conservation programs were free from a societal perspective, because the measures were more paid for by the energy costs, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, again I think as was discussed on Tuesday, the value of carbon, depending on when you go back in time, may or may not have value to society.

MR. ELSON:  Maybe not monetized, but we can leave that philosophical debate for another time.

MR. JOHNSON:  Fair enough.

MR. ELSON:  And I don't mean to harp on this number, but it is just a staggering number so I'll ask one last question which is to say, although it's obvious that it's even better than that, it's even better that those emissions were free, because for each tonne -- emissions reduction were free, for each tonne of carbon reduction there was a corresponding net benefit, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, can you say that again?

MR. ELSON:  For each tonne of avoided emissions, there was actually a corresponding benefit.  So instead of having to pay for emission reductions, your programs are producing emission reductions and benefits somebody, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  I think I would characterize it the other way around that did you earlier. It's that carbon is an ancillary benefit to the original project, which was generally driven by gas savings.

MR. ELSON:  All right.  So if you could turn to tab 11, page 43 of our compendium, and we've already looked at the equivalent response from Union, so I'm not going to get into this in much detail.

But if you turn over the page, which is page 44 of our compendium, there is a big chart there.  And this chart has Enbridge's gas and carbon cost savings from its 2018 programs over time, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  As a result of the 2018 programs, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Exactly.  So you implement conservation this year, but there are still savings in 2019, 2020, so on and so forth.  So this is mapping it out over that time, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, subject to a number of caveats below.

MR. ELSON:  Of course, and it is always forecasting.

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct, and assumptions around things like measured lives, et cetera.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  Thank you.

Now, if we could turn to page 45, which is the next page.  This is just a much easier summary to read than that big long chart.  And I produced this and provided you with an Excel spreadsheet on Monday.

Can you confirm that my arithmetic is correct in this table here, or if you haven't looked at that spreadsheet, at least do so subject to check?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, sorry, I haven't had a chance to verify the math.  The -- so again, subject to check, yes.  The one thing that I would call out is again the values that we had in that table in front, and so I'm assuming that you haven't discounted in this table for time value of money.

MR. ELSON:  Correct, and we'll get there.

So before discounting for the time value of money, you have the DSM cost on that first line being $56 million and the value of the natural gas savings and the greenhouse gas emission reductions being $362 million.  Right?

MR. JOHNSON:  I see that.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, so now if we could turn, and I'll get into -- and again, I understand that your confirmation of this table is subject to check, so if you do see any arithmetic problems, please of course state so on the record.  Thank you.

I will turn now to tab 13, which is page 46.  And this is the point at which we get to apply the net present value calculation to get a bit more specific, and if we could scroll down on this page to the circled figure, and so that's the $262 million there.  You see that?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, I see that.

MR. ELSON:  And so what we asked you to do in this interrogatory, as you may remember, is implement a suggestion that Union and I believe now both utilities have put forward, which that is as part of the DSM framework carbon costs be included; do you recall that?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so what we've done here or what you've done here is taken the program administrator cost test net benefits, calculated in the 2018 DSM plan, and then added carbon cost as an avoided cost; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Both the TRC Plus and the PAC test.

MR. ELSON:  Right.  Right.  Both are relevant numbers, and I'm just focusing on the program administrator cost test right now.

MR. JOHNSON:  I just wanted to call out, I mean, you are mentioning relative within a DSM framework.

MR. ELSON:  The calculation of the PACT.

MR. JOHNSON:  TRC and PACT are tested, are using the DSM framework.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, correct.  And really, when you see the PACT plus the GHG benefits, just for clarity, the program administrator test in the DSM framework doesn't include GHG-related benefits.  That's why we asked you to add the carbon costs; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Agreed that it did not include carbon or the -- I shouldn't say carbon, sorry, it did not include the TRC or the plus factor.

MR. ELSON:  Yeah, okay.  So just unpacking the program administrator cost there, or the net benefits, on the cost side you have the utility incentive costs and you have the utility program delivery costs; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  For the PACT?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  As well as the gas -- avoided gas cost.

MR. ELSON:  Oh, of course.  I'm just now talking about the cost side of things.  The cost side is the incentive, the utility incentive cost and the utility program delivery costs, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And on the benefits side you have natural gas-avoided costs, including commodity costs, upstream capacity costs, and downstream distribution system costs; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check, in terms of the first two, the distribution, I think, is an adder in the way the math works; it is not the actual distribution charge that one would see on the bill.

MR. ELSON:  But it's a --


MR. JOHNSON:  There is a component in there.

MR. ELSON:  A component in there.  Okay.  And so that's on the benefits side, and then in addition to those items we have now added the cost of carbon based on the long-term carbon price forecast; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And so what we've done there is, my understanding is the same as the cost metric in the MACC; would you agree to that?

MR. JOHNSON:  So again, I think as we mentioned earlier, we didn't have full visibility into exactly how the MACC worked.  The MACC did appear to apply the UCT as a secondary screen.  UCT is applied as a secondary screen in DSM as well, but there was an additional screen applied ahead of that.

MR. ELSON:  Well, let's turn up KT1.1, page 7, please.  And that's the MACC.  I think we're on the same page.  That is the cost metric.  But if that could get pulled up on the screen, that would be great.

MR. JOHNSON:  Which page, sorry?

MR. ELSON:  That's page 7 of the MACC.  So if we scroll up a bit on page 7, just to confirm, so this is the section described in the cost metric, and I think we were on the same page, in that you noted that the UCT was used, but I just want to be a hundred percent clear.

Here's the cost metric as described in the MACC, and we have listed the benefits and the costs, and those are the ones that we just discussed; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, as I say, we didn't have full visibility into exactly the mechanics of the MACC.  Our understanding is it was a proprietary model.  As you are pointing out from this, it does appear that UCT was at least a screen that was applied to the results.

MR. ELSON:  And just for clarity, although I think everybody knows this, the utility cost test is basically the same as the program administrator cost test.  Those names are using interchangeably often.

MR. JOHNSON:  I would agree they are often used interchangeably.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

Okay.  So just going back to page 46 -- I may come back to the MACC at some point, but going back to our compendium, page 46, that number, that $262 million, in a sense is saying that the program costs, so the incentive cost and the program delivery costs, are paying for themselves in avoided gas and carbon costs, and then on top of that we're achieving additional savings in the range of $262 million; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  I think the important thing to note about, again, if I look at -- on this particular page, where you've got the TRC and the PAC, within the DSM framework, the TRC is what we used to screen an opportunity to determine whether or not it is cost-effective.  The PAC is used as a secondary screen to prioritize.  That's what the DSM framework says, because the challenge with the PAC is you don't include the cost of the actual upgrades, which is obviously a very significant cost, so it is not a symmetrical test.

MR. ELSON:  I'm smiling because Union had a problem with me talking about the TRC and now I'm having a problem talking about the PAC, but your point is correct.  And I guess I just wanted to make clear my understanding, and I'm 99 percent sure that this is the case, that that $262 million means that the program costs that pay for themselves in avoided gas and carbon costs and on top of that we have additional savings of $262 million; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  I think what I'm struggling with is your terminology of "paid for themselves" because, again, those benefits don't accrue to all the people who paid for them, if I'm explaining myself.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Well, let's put it this way then.  The program costs are overall offset by the avoided gas costs and carbon costs, and then on top of that we have these additional savings of $262 million; right?

MR. JOHNSON:  I guess what I'm struggling with is, again, in the DSM framework, which is what I'm more familiar with, you use the TRC test to determine whether a project is cost-effective from the, as you sort of indicated, a societal point of view or from a customer point of view.

The PAC test is really intended in the framework as a secondary screen to guide the utilities on where to prioritize the dollars that they spend, but it's not a -- because it's not a symmetrical test, it's not -- stuff doesn't offset correctly, because you are missing a big chunk of the equation, which is the cost that the customer bears.

So if we say that all the benefits accrue to the program, but we're ignoring a significant cost, I have trouble saying that that is offset.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, and I think you're getting into a -- more a technical look at it than I am, which as more simplistic look.  But to go down that technical road, the TRC looks at it from a societal perspective, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Even from the individual participant's perspective.

MR. ELSON:  But the TRC is looking at it from a societal perspective, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, ignoring things like cross subsidization, but yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the program administrative test is looking at it, in essence, from a utilities' perspective.

MR. JOHNSON:  When you say from the utilities' perspective, though, it is guiding the utility on how to prioritize programs.  We are getting into a little bit of the nitty-gritty on the DSM, and this is probably better for a DSM framework discussion than cap-and-trade.

But the challenge with the TRC is because incentives act as a pass-through you one is doing a TRC test, it doesn't give the utility insight into which programs can be more cost-effective for where they use their incentive dollars.  So that PAC test is a secondary test to help guide the utilities on how to prioritize programs.

You could have two programs that are both TRC positive in an equal way, but one might be more effective in terms ever using your incentive dollars.  That's what the PAC test is used for within the DSM framework.

MR. ELSON:  So I think we're talking around each other here, and I'm just trying to confirm a simple point, which is that the program administrator cost test on the cost side has the utility incentive costs, and the utility program delivery costs, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And in the $262 million that we were just talking about, those utility incentive costs and those utility program costs have been offset completely by avoided gas and carbon costs.  And then on top of that, you have an additional $262 million in avoided gas and carbon costs, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  All I'm saying is that I agree that that's what the math says.  It is the word offset that I'm struggling with.

When you are talk about offset, to me there is a balance.  But in this particular PAC test, it is not a symmetrical test.  You are missing the cost of the actual upgrades in that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Johnson, how would you alter that number directionally, and to what magnitude to take care of what you're concerned with?

MR. JOHNSON:  That would be the TRC test above.

MR. ELSON:  So that, yes, and that's if -- both of them have a different basket, and I'm just talking about the program administrative basket.

I mean, frankly, they're both in the range of, you know, upwards of $200 million and I've just been focusing on the program administrator cost test, because that's what the MACC uses.

But let me continue on, because I think I have a fair answer from you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just for my own understanding, though, Mr. Elson, so if it is the TRC, so the customer component of it which isn't in there, is that just the delta between these two?

MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check, yes, it should be.  It is basically the investment that the customers are making.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All put together, thanks.

MR. ELSON:  So my understanding  -- and I'm sorry if I'm getting in the weeds here, but I just want to make sure it's clear on the record.

So let's use the example that was used this morning. You have a purchase of a furnace and there is an incremental cost to go from 90 percent efficiency to 95 percent efficiency.  And so the incremental cost to go from 95 -- sorry, from 90 to 95 is the cost of the measure.

And in the TRC, the entire cost of the measure is included, which is what the consumer contributes towards buying their furnace and also the amount that is -- well, just the entire cost is under the TRC, whereas under the program administrator cost test, they say, look, we know that the consumer is making a decision that they think is in their best interest.  So we're just focusing on how much we have to incent to the consumer in order to make that purchase.

Is that fair to say?

MR. JOHNSON:  Let's make break that into two steps, and I may have to come back to the second one.

With respect to TRC, no.  We look at incremental costs when we do our TRC tests.  So in your example, if the furnace would cost -- the 90 percent would cost $5,000 and the 95 percent efficient furnace would cost, you know, $7,000.  We would only look at that $2,000 as the incremental, and not the full cost.

Sorry, your second part?

MR. ELSON:  It's just to -- the TRC includes that entire $2,000?

MR. JOHNSON:  Right.

MR. ELSON:  Whereas under the program administrator cost test, what it includes is the incentive that you have to provide to the consumer in order for them to decide to make the upgrade.

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct, yes, it would not include the portion that the customer is paying for.

MR. ELSON:  And allows the customer to decide whether it is in their interest or not, in essence?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, and again my reason -- back to my reason for bringing up symmetry is because the benefits of the gas cost, for example, would flow to that individual participant.

So you're right.  They would choose to invest those money and the benefits of that gas savings would flow to that individual participant.

MR. ELSON:  Well, we have both of those numbers on here, so that's potentially helpful to have that clarification.

So if I could move on now to comparing what we have just discussed with the cost of purchasing the instruments, and if we could turn up Exhibit G, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1, page 1, in Enbridge's pre-filed evidence, and as that table is getting pulled up, someone may be able to just confirm the number, subject to check, which is that the cost of purchasing the customer carbon instruments is forecast to be $377 million.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, Mr. Elson, could you give us that reference again, please?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, it's G, 1, 1, and then the attachment, and then the first page of the attachment. There we go.

And so at the bottom right, we have the total customer-related instrument costs, and it is $377 million. Do you see that there?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  This table was prepared for rate-making purposes, so I --


MS. MURPHY:  I'll just add to that.  So yes, the number that you see at the bottom there, $377 million and change, that is not necessarily based on what we will pay.  It is based on the amount, the 18.99 per tonne that we are proposing to use for rate-making purposes.

MR. ELSON:  So that's, I guess you could say, your forecast.

MS. MURPHY:  Roughly.

MR. ELSON:  As close as you could get.  You don't know how much gas is going to be used, you don't know what the exact price is going to be, but this is your forecast.

MS. MURPHY:  Based on the amount that we are using in rates.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And so turning over a page, the facility instruments are $4.6 million, again with those caveats that this is a forecast number?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the admin costs are on Exhibit D1.1, page 1.  Perhaps you could just confirm, subject to check, that the administration costs relating to instruments -- so that's excluding the $2 million for the abatement, the LCIF -- that admin cost is $3.25 million.

I was hoping you guys would have had these numbers memorized.

MS. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So adding those numbers up together, subject to check, comes to $385 million to purchase instruments, roughly forecast for your 2018 cap-and-trade compliance plan, right, subject to check on the arithmetic?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. ELSON:  And that's of course just for this year, 2018?

MS. MURPHY:  That's correct, that's the 2018 forecast.

MR. ELSON:  So to compare that to your 2018 conservation program and to sum up and make sure that we've got straight what we just looked at, your 2018 DSM program is forecast to result in $262 million under the program administrator cost test in net benefits, and your 2018 cap-and-trade compliance plan is forecast to result in net costs of $385 million, related to the purchase of instruments.  That's correct, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Those is what the various components indicate, yes.  We're just trying to understand where you're going, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  I'll leave that for another day, but will move on for now just because my time is short.

I'd like to pull up, if possible, a document that I circulated by e-mail, and it is to follow up on some questions this morning, and so I don't have hard copies, I apologize, but I think we can pull it up here.

And this is just to have something on the record to follow up from a comment that Mr. McGill made in response to questions from CME about carbon pricing.

Do you remember that discussion, Mr. McGill?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  And the comment is it's Enbridge's understanding that it's, I guess you could say highly likely or likely that you are still going to be subject to a carbon price going forward, and there was a discussion of the federal back stop, but before we do that, could we have this document marked as an exhibit?

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K3.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  DOCUMENT SUBMITTED BY E-MAIL BY MR. ELSON.

MR. ELSON:  So I just thought it would be good to have on the record what those numbers are in terms of the federal back stop, and so if you look to the second page of this document in the bottom half of the page, there is a heading, "legislative increases in stringency", and it says:

"For jurisdictions with an explicit price-based system, the carbon price should start at a minimum of $10 per tonne in 2018 and rise by $10 per year to $50 a tonne in 2020."

Is that consistent your understanding, Mr. McGill?

MR. McGILL:  That's what the document says, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You misspoke.  You said 2020; is that right?

MR. ELSON:  2022, of course.  Thank you.

And so this is for jurisdictions that don't have a cap-and-trade system, so this wouldn't apply to Ontario as long as we continue to have a cap-and-trade system; right?

MR. McGILL:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so that was your comment earlier, is that even if cap-and-trade is cancelled, we would still be subject to these federal -- this federal carbon back stop, right?

MR. McGILL:  I think I said subject to some form of carbon-pricing regime.

MR. ELSON:  That's fair, that's fair.  And just to get an idea of the comparison here.  Subject to check, the long-term carbon price forecast in 2022 is $20; does that sound approximately right, in the mid-range?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. ELSON:  That sounds about right?  And it slowly goes up from 18 to $20, and so if we ended up with the federal carbon price back stop, we could end up with $50 versus $20 by 2022; that's fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's how it's currently being proposed, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

So if I could turn to conservation as a risk reduction tool, and I'd just like to ask if you would agree that conservation is a hedge against future carbon price increases above the forecast prices.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Only for the participants in those energy efficiency programs.

MR. ELSON:  Fair.  Continuing on the topic of risk, could we turn to -- well, let's just provide -- you know, I don't need to provide an example.  I'll keep going.  Let's go to the ICF report at tab 5, page 7.  And that's of our compendium.  And we've already looked at this already, but again, this is a presentation by ICF International on impacts of climate policy, which is also the consultant that the Board retained to do the potential study; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And so if we could turn to page 8, I asked Union a number of questions, and I'm going to try to roll up into one, and just look at some of these underlined figures here.

And you see at the first line here it says:

"Natural gas consumption will need to decline by 40 or 50 percent by 2030."

I'm just trying to make sure we are on the same page before asking a question about all of these points.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Just for context, this study was put together in 2015, and it was really put together, as I understand it -- I wasn't involved in the development of it, but at -- for educating and orienting senior management around what was coming with cap-and-trade.

MR. ELSON:  And is the point of that to say that there is a newer version that Enbridge has that we should be looking at instead?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, it's not.  It is just to provide a context that it was very early days.  In fact, you know, there were details that were presumed here that are -- weren't even -- didn't come to fruition, so I think it's -- it was just a kind of point-in-time assessment.

MR. ELSON:  And there is a newer version of this that was produced for Enbridge; right?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  There are several versions of it, so there is one that's dated later, but it's all based on the same premise, the same analysis.

MR. ELSON:  And I guess one example of that is in this document they are looking at one scenario where Ontario links with WCI and another scenario where Ontario doesn't link with WCI, and we now know that that linkage is happening, so where is -- in this report they look at both scenarios.  We now know we only need to look at one; is that an example of some changed circumstances?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I don't have all the pages for this particular study in front of me, so I'm not sure what's in this particular one; I think at one point we thought we might have been -- that natural gas electricity producers would be the point of regulation, for example.

MR. ELSON:  Yeah.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That changed, so those are the types of things I was referring to.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, I'm still going to ask you the same questions on this, because they're actually just as relevant with those caveats, so let me just try to do that as efficiently as possible.

The first item here listed is that natural gas consumption will need to decline by 30 to 40 percent by 2030, and I think I already have this answer from Union, but it's my understanding it's the case for Enbridge as well, that you don't have a report or analysis suggesting a different range for the decline in natural gas consumption from cap-and-trade; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Not that I'm aware of.  Again, this was a look at one specific sector of the cap-and-trade program without considering what might happen in the other sectors, for example, transport fuels, for example.

MR. ELSON:  And if you turn over a page, at the bottom, item 6 talks about the possibility of demand instruction and stranded pipe and storage assets.  Again, you don't have a study that is analyzing the likelihood of these scenarios coming to fruition, do you?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, we don't.  I would like to point out, though, because I don't think it is on the record so far, that again, this study was done 2015, and that was before the decision to double the size of our demand-side management investments.  So that should be kept in consideration.

MR. ELSON:  Well, let's turn up -- that's a good point.  Let's turn to the previous slide, please.

And so under item 3 here for energy efficiency, demand side management, it says that the rate of energy efficiency needs to be dramatically increased, it says at plus 5 times the current levels.  Do you see that there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I think that again, if I call it, that it was before the energy efficiency programs were doubled, before the knowledge of Green Investment Fund, which could add another one times there perhaps, and as well the additional funding from CCAP, you could find that you are up near that five times increase of energy efficiency.

MR. ELSON:  I think what I'm looking for is an alternative analysis to what was done here, and I don't think it's been completed.  So I'm going to ask the same question again.

Do you have an analysis of what the rate of energy efficiency needs to be, what that increase needs to be?  And if it's not five times, what is it, other than this document here?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  In the cap-and-trade model, we are procuring to meet our carbon obligation and those funds are being recycled through the government, through the GGRA, in part to GreenON, to invest in energy efficiency programming without a full site line to where and now that money is being spent.

It is not insignificant.  It is a huge step change.  It's impossible for us to assess what might be necessary in a cap-and-trade-type framework.

MR. ELSON:  So, Ms. Oliver-Glasford, are you suggesting that you're not worried about these potential scenarios?  Do you think it's all been sorted out?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, that's not what I'm suggesting.

MR. ELSON:  And would you agree that conservation is one of the ways that you hedge against some of these risks in the future?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it could be one way.  I think there are other ways, such as looking at ways to reduce emission intensity of the fuels going through the pipeline; so for example, renewable natural gas and the work in power-to-gas, specifically the blending that Mr. McGill spoke about before.  Carbon capture, sequestration; there are a number of things that have yet to be explored more fully that I hope will have more solutions and resourceful thinking going towards by 2030.

MR. ELSON:  And I would hope so, too --


MR. McGILL:  Just one other point, I think.  We're looking at four pages out of a presentation that I believe was in excess of 40 pages.  It's about three years old and it was premised on a number of assumptions with respect to cost-effectiveness of different GHG emissions reduction strategies or options, and a lot has changed since that point in time.

So I think this provided us with some guidance at the time.  Things change over time and to the extent that natural gas send-out or consumption will need to change in order for the province to meet its submission objectives could be different, based on different GHG emission reduction options that are available.

So if more vehicles are electrified, then you don't have to reduce gas consumption as much to meet the overall objective.

That's the point I'm trying to make is that there's a set of assumptions embedded in this, and they may not hold true.

MR. ELSON:  I guess, Mr. McGill, my main query is whether you'd done an analysis of those different scenarios and the likelihood of each -- you know, a scenario where more or less natural gas consumption needs -- more or less carbon emission reductions need to come from natural gas.

I think the answer is no, you haven't done that analysis -- although if you have, so please file it.

MR. McGILL:  That's not entirely true, and that analysis has been filed several times in the past -- or at least one version of it which was part of our submission with respect to the province's long-term energy plan.  I think that was submitted at the end of 2016.  ICF worked on that and there we found that electrifying vehicles is much more cost-effective than taking natural gas consumption out of buildings.

So that would have an impact on the findings here.  So that's just one example of how different mixes of abatement alternatives can have an impact on various sectors in the energy industry and the economy.

MR. ELSON:  Let's take one more look at the overall scenario.  If you could turn to tab 6, page 12 of the compendium, there's the line that you into he had to meet, right?  Do you see that grey area there?

MS. GRICE:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  That's your remaining gap to your 2020-2050 target?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  This is the province's gap, not the company's gap.  Just to be clear, this is the government's graph.

MR. ELSON:  Of course.  And just looking, there's a long way to go, isn't there?  I think you'd agree with that.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Well, at this time, we don't know how this will play out.  It is a forecast and I think that's part of why the cap-and-trade system has been utilized as the best available path forward at the current time for the province.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, I'm going to leave that area and talk about or ask about the availability of cost-effective conservation.

Can you turn to page 47 of the compendium, please, tab 14?  Do you see that there?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so this is the analysis comparing the 2018 DSM potential and the ICF conservation potential study, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  For 2018, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  You will see in the bottom two rows, you have Enbridge net annual savings, and the DSM pre-filed evidence is 74 cubic metres per year.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And then in the constrained scenario under the potential study, there is 81 million cubic metres per year?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And then in the semi-constrained, you go up to 92?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And this is based on Enbridge applying a net-to-gross factor which is the third row from the bottom.  Do you see that there?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So this is your evidence and if you turn over to page 48, I've done a bit of arithmetic.  I'll stick on the top table because it's much more straightforward.

On the top table, you'll see here that I have added the bottom two rows here, which is the spending per cubic metre of gas.  And then the bottom row we've added the increase in savings versus the 2018 DSM plan.

And so just based on your numbers, subject to check, if you go from the filed plan in 2018 to the semi-constrained scenario, you can increase savings by 24 percent.  That's based on Enbridge's numbers.

And just to confirm, this is the same as the spreadsheet that I sent to you on Monday which was in Excel with the underlying figures.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry.  So you are saying if you go from -- so subject to check, your math on the constrained, semi-constrained, and unconstrained is all in reference to the 2018 DSM filed plan?

MR. ELSON:  That's right, yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  Understood.

MR. ELSON:  So you see that there where you can get a 24 percent increase in savings from the filed plan up to the semi-constrained, because you are going from --


MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And then the spending per cubic metre of gas is roughly the same; it's about 92 cents per cubic metre?  That looks right to you, subject to check?

MR. JOHNSON:  The important detail that's missing from that would be that we have things like market transformation programs, which wouldn't necessarily be as cost-effective.  So we couldn't necessarily achieve the cost-effectiveness that's indicated there.

MR. ELSON:  That's fair, and that's because the CPS optimizes the plan to be as cost-effective as possible, right?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  So now the table at the bottom does the same thing, but removes the additional net to gross adjustment that Enbridge applied to the potential study figures.


Now, that is a contested issue, and I'm not going to ask you to agree that the -- there isn't a need for an additional net-to-gross adjustment to the potential study figures, but from an arithmetic perspective, from a mathematical perspective, are those numbers accurate, subject to check?


MR. JOHNSON:  Again, with obviously the key piece there that you've said is contested, and we certainly do contest about the removal of the net to gross, and one of the key reasons is it would imply that there's lots of cost-effective -- again, now this is all reference to a DSM framework, not a cap-and-trade framework, but within the DSM framework there's lots of cost-effective DSM that we could easily be doing.  We have our existing programs.  We work very hard at them.  We are very good at them.  And those are the numbers that we do achieve.


So I agree the math is correct, but again, certainly don't agree with the --


MR. ELSON:  The net to gross questions.


MR. JOHNSON:  The net to gross.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So I will move on then to questions about the MACC.  I asked this question to Union, and so I think it's helpful to ask it to you as well.


Was it your understanding, was it Enbridge's understanding, when you put your plans together that the cap-and-trade framework precludes you from looking at anything but the MACC in deciding whether and how much incremental conservation to implement?


MR. JOHNSON:  So I think I attempted to address that earlier this morning and saying that our view was the Board's guidance was that the MACC was to be the principal tool, so while other information could be used, there would need to be an extremely compelling case to not follow the MACC.


MR. ELSON:  And what would you need in order to look at something other than the MACC?  You said an extremely compelling case.  That's a pretty high standard.  What would be an example of when you would say, you know what, let's try to triangulate these numbers, look at something else?


In the meantime, if we could turn up KT1.2, which is the MACC.


MR. JOHNSON:  So a good example of that would be something like RNG, where you have a very significant amount of government funding that would come into play and would change the results of that, or again, we would say incremental energy efficiency programs where there is government funding that we could take advantage of, so where the MACC said that there is nothing cost-effective, but with government funding would help offset those costs.


MR. ELSON:  You've actually gone exactly where I was going to go, and if we could turn to page 14 of the MACC.  So if we look at that very pretty graphic there, you can see that you have marginal abatement charted here, and on the left-hand side you have the conservation, right?  You see there starting in green?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yep.


MR. ELSON:  And the conservation has a really significant negative cost per tonne of CO2; right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, certain aspects of it.


MR. ELSON:  Like, it's in the range of, you know, $140 for the dark-green bar there.  And then as you move from green to pink, presumably going into some of the residential areas, to blue, then you get to the yellow, which is RNG; right?


MR. JOHNSON:  I think I see that.  It is a little small, but, yes.


MR. ELSON:  If we could maybe zoom in a little bit on the yellow, on the right-hand side.  So the first big square is RNG landfill gas; right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.


MR. ELSON:  And so that cost per tonne is something in the range of $125; right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Looks roughly right.


MR. ELSON:  Maybe 130, maybe 40.  And then we get into some of the other -- let me just take a step back.  One of the issues with landfill gas is that most of it is flared right now, so it's not being vented to the atmosphere; right?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, with respect to larger landfills that's the case.


MR. ELSON:  Yeah.  And so there is no fugitive emissions benefits, in other words.


MR. McGILL:  Very little.


MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And so we then get to the other kinds of RNG, and when you're looking at the agricultural, the cost is really high, it's $527 a tonne, and then the last kind there is $1,867 a tonne; right?


MR. McGILL:  Right, yes, one point I would like to make, though, is that ICF did point out in this report that it did not include any -- the value of any environmental attributes that could be generated in the forms of offsets or RINs or other instruments with respect to the productivity of RNG in determining these values.


MR. ELSON:  Now, I think you just agreed with me that in the case of landfill gas it is already getting flared and so you are not reducing fugitive emissions, right?


MR. McGILL:  That's the case with landfill gas, but that's not all RNG.


MR. ELSON:  No, that's right.  I mean, the rest of it is the extremely expensive stuff, right, the $527 a tonne.


MR. McGILL:  Well, that's ICF's assessment, yes.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And that's okay.  That's a fair answer.  And I think you -- let's turn to Exhibit C, tab 5, schedule 2, page 7 of your evidence, and we may not need even to look it up, but Mr. McGill, in the evidence there is a number of criticisms of the MACC with respect to RNG; is that fair to say?


MR. McGILL:  I wouldn't characterize them as criticisms, I think we are trying to point out some of the factors that were recognized in the MACC report.


MR. ELSON:  And those are limitations relating to the -- to RNG.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  And so it seems to me that the way you have dealt with the MACC with respect to RNG is inconsistent with the way you've dealt with it, at least potentially dealt with it, with respect to conservation, in that you have, we've heard this morning, a concerted effort to pursue RNG despite the MACC showing how incredibly cost-ineffective it is, and yet are not putting forward any incremental ratepayer-funded conservation.


Now, I'm not expecting you to agree with that comment, but it is a point I'm going to make, and I'm just providing you with an opportunity to respond.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. McGILL:  Yes, I don't know if I made it clear this morning, but the design of our RNG procurement program, that the primary objective was to come up with a program that would have no ratepayer impact or very little risk of any kind of ratepayer impact, but still enable us to begin to bring quantities of RNG into the gas distribution system.


In discussions with government -- and I think there's a number of pieces of information, if not on the record already, but principally a letter from the Minister of Energy to the Chair of the OEB in December of 2016, I believe, that made it very clear that the province was interested in pursuing RNG.


You know, we are in a situation right now where it is highly likely that we will be faced with a renewable procurement standard or low-carbon fuel standard that we need to comply with, and a lot of the thinking around our program was that we need to find a way to get the RNG industry started in Ontario before we find ourselves in a position where we might be looking to be a purchaser of RNG in a buyer's -- or in a seller's market.


So that the government believed that it was the right thing to do, to subsidize getting the RNG industry started in Ontario, and we worked with them to try and find a way to do that, with minimal impact on our ratepayers.


So I just want to make that clear, that we weren't using the typical kind of tests that you would use to test the DSM measure with respect to what we are proposing to do with RNG procurement.


MR. JOHNSON:  Can I just add to that on the DSM front, because I think you characterized it that we had approached it differently and I don't think that's entirely true.  And then again, just as we've been doing that on the RNG front, on the DSM side we have as well.


We have been actively pursuing, as I mentioned earlier, opportunities that we have today, such for example GIF, and obviously pursuing bidding on RFPs.  Again where there is incremental dollars from government for energy efficiency, we've been pursuing that as well.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you for those answers.  I would like to highlight one other difference between RNG and conservation as it potentially impacts your business.


RNG, in a sense, is abatement, but not conservation because it reduces the carbon content of the gas going through the pipes that you own without necessarily reducing gas sales or supply-side investments.  Is that fair to say?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, RNG and hydrogen blending would serve to reduce the carbon intensity of the fuel we deliver.


MR. ELSON:  And whereas conservation reduces gas charges, which at some point reduce the supply side investments that you need to do?


MR. McGILL:  Possibly, to some extent.


MR. ELSON:  And I think it goes without saying that supply side investments require increases in rate base on which Enbridge earns its profits.  Is that fair to say?


MR. McGILL:  We recover the cost of capital with respect to our rate base.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, I have a few more questions, but perhaps we could have a short break.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That will be fine.  Let's return at 3:35, fifteen minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:21 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:42 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. O'Leary, any preliminary matters?  Mr. Elson?


MR. O'LEARY:  No, sir.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Just a few more questions.  And these relate to generally the topic of whether the impediments, if you will, or the reasons for not having incremental ratepayer-funded conservation this year would also apply to 2019, and one of those reasons, I think, is Enbridge's interpretation of the MACC and whether or not it suggests any incremental conservation.  Some of those issues I don't want to get into right now.  Another reason may be that Enbridge feels that incremental conservation should come under the DSM framework.


So are those the two broad reasons why we don't have incremental conservation in this plan this year?


MR. JOHNSON:  So, yes, I think both of those are valid.  Again, I think the comment about the conservation belonging to DSM isn't a reason not to do it, but rather it's, in our opinion, it would be better served there to avoid duplication and a lot of the confusion and discussion around things like top-down, bottom-up, et cetera.


The other piece that I think we've alluded to several times in the evidence that you didn't mention is, again, the significant amount of funding coming from CCAP that could, even if -- again, even if we were to have identified cost-efficient abatement within the cap-and-trade framework, we would want to proceed very cautiously to avoid potential duplication there.


MR. ELSON:  You are going to take me on a tangent for just two questions.  CCAP, of course, is funding that goes to a large amount of areas, and only a portion of it goes to conservation, right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, sorry, when I refer to that I just mean that there is a significant amount of dollars coming from there, not that all the dollars are coming -- or all the CCAP funding is going to conservation.


MR. ELSON:  And just for the sake of the record, I don't think we have a copy of CCAP on the record.  Could you undertake to file a copy?  I mean, it may already be, but if it's not, if you could undertake to file it.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I agree.  I'm not sure that there is a copy on the record, so we could undertake to put that on the record.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J3.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.8:  TO FILE A COPY OF CCAP ON THE RECORD.


MR. ELSON:  That will mean we can look to that document to see how much is put into conservation and I can move on.


So I would take it from your other questions that Enbridge at the moment is not putting together a plan for incremental conservation for 2019, you are not working on that right now, are you?


MR. JOHNSON:  So -- sorry, can you just repeat.  You said incremental conservation, correct?


MR. ELSON:  Correct, yes.


MR. JOHNSON:  Because again, within our existing DSM we're always, you know, making tweaks and improvements and trying to drive results as we are encouraged to within that framework.


Within the cap-and-trade framework, or I should say within the broader context, the other thing we've mentioned is we're constantly looking to the RFPs, actively bidding on RFPs, anytime that we see that there's synergies with our existing programs or opportunities where we think we can add value there, but at this point, you know, again without an updated -- with the understanding that we have of the information, we don't see a change in 2019 that suddenly there is going to be a bunch of cost-effective abatement within the cap-and-trade framework.


MR. ELSON:  Well, let me ask you this question:  If you were to -- let's just put aside, you know, what the MACC says, and I had a bit of this discussion with Union about, you know, if there is conservation potential which they acknowledged outside of the MACC, there may be, if you were to be putting together a plan to apply to the Board for incremental conservation, whether that be under the cap-and-trade framework or under the DSM framework, it would take, what, two or three months to put together that kind of plan?  You'd need budgets, you'd need details, what your proposed regulatory treatment is, so on and so forth?


MR. JOHNSON:  So I'll speak to the DSM side again.  I know you are saying ignore the MACC, and certainly that's obviously not possible for us to do, so again, within our view, within the cap-and-trade framework there isn't anything incremental.  Within the DSM framework, again, I think we've talked about how there is that existing cap of $2.  If there were to be a change there and we were to look at incremental programming, it would very much depend on the guidance and direction of how much that cap was changed.  You know, one of the other suggestions that's been talked about is adding carbon to the price of TRC, so I can't say for certain, in that different programs, larger programs, for example, might take more time to deploy, we might have some ideas that would be easier to expand upon, so there are some things we might be able to do quickly and some things that would take a bit longer.  We haven't really given that detailed thought at this point.


MR. ELSON:  And can you give me a bit more guidance about the timing that would be required?  You know, let's say you were -- you know, you talked about, you know, either small increases or sort of bigger increases.  Are we talking about the difference between one month to three months?  What kind of range of time is it taking you to put these together?


MR. JOHNSON:  I don't know that I can give you a really concrete answer on the spot for that.  You know, I think this may have come up briefly in the technical conference.  If we were to take a program that we had proposed before, like a behavioural program, something that we could quickly bring up to, you know, update the numbers for, I think that's something that we could potentially deploy, or at least design the program fairly quickly.


Something that was completely brand new, to your point, could take month and months to develop, due to proper market analysis, understand the technology, understand the market demand, and design the right program for that, so there really would be a big range.


MR. ELSON:  And so if you were to be focusing on existing programs, improving -- increasing the incentives, increasing the market outreach, would that be in the range of two or three months?


MR. JOHNSON:  Again, I would say that very much depends on the program, so, you know, just a small increase to an incentive may not have a huge impact on a particular program.  I don't have enough information in front of me of all the different programs to say which ones, you know, would benefit from an increase in incentives and which ones don't.


Again, as I said, the other thing I do want to comment on, and I apologize that I keep drifting into the DSM framework here.  Within the DSM framework we are always making, you know, modest tweaks to our program, where we see an opportunity to increase, you know, a prescriptive incentive, for example, to drive more results.  Those are things that we are constantly doing.


MR. ELSON:  So do you have a range?  Let's say -- I mean, it's not going to take you a year.  You know, I'm just trying to get some sort of range -- answer from you, even if that's quite a wide range.  It would be helpful to be looking at whether the things that happened this year are going to happen next year.


MR. JOHNSON:  So I think I've already told you I don't know that I can give you anything firm in terms of a range.  I've said there's some things that we could probably do relatively quickly within a few months and some things that would take many months.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you, that's helpful.  And so I am just looking down the pipe in this proceeding, and this relates, in part, to what kind of relief we may request from the Board.  And if you will come along with me, in terms of the timing, this hearing is going to be done shortly, and then submissions probably in mid-June, and the earliest that we would possibly have a decision would be July, but it may be August or later, and so if this Board were to make statements that made it clear that in 2019 there would be an expectation of incremental conservation, would you have time to put a plan together and have it approved by the Board?  It seems like it would be fairly tight.


MR. JOHNSON:  So, I'll talk about a couple of things.  I think the first is again we would strongly encourage that any incremental abatement occur in the DSM framework, I think as we've said, you know, for reasons in terms of efficiency, practicality, confusion over measurement, et cetera.


In terms of within this framework, that's very difficult for me to answer without knowing what rules would change, like what parts of the framework would change.  Without knowing that, it is difficult to say what we could or couldn't do.  It is a very open-ended question, and I guess I'm struggling with that.


MR. ELSON:  That's okay.  Well, let's look at where your view is that it should happen within in the DSM framework, and we have the midterm review coming out in December, right?


MR. JOHNSON:  The --


MR. ELSON:  The midterm review decision.


MR. JOHNSON:  -- decision, yes.


MR. ELSON:  After the midterm decision happens in December, you are not going to have time to put together a plan at that stage, right, for 2019?


MR. JOHNSON:  What I would say is if there was a decision in the midterm review to increase conservation for 2019, again if it was a small increase, that's something that it might take a few months at the beginning of 2019 to get going with, so we would potentially lose a few months.  But we certainly endeavour to meet whatever the Board indicated we should do.


MR. ELSON:  But you'd also need to then apply for that funding, so that people could kick the tires on what your plans are, right?  Like there would be a couple of steps required; wouldn't that be the case?


MR. JOHNSON:  Again, I think I'm struggling with how open-ended that is.  If we're talking about something small, I think that could be done relatively quickly.  If you're talking about significant increases, then you're right, new programs -- we're back to that issue of brand new programs and significant work that would need to be done.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think, just to add to Mr. Johnson's comments, while I'm not a part of the DSM proceedings, I understand that there are still a number of months before that December decision and perhaps there could be a stakeholder session, or some other piece that might provide an additional milestone.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Ms. Oliver-Glasford.  I think that's as much as we can go on that area, and I may be requesting some directions from the Board about some of these procedural issues.


But I'm going to ponder those answers for now and end my questions at this stage.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Mr. Poch?  I know I -- I see you've got -- due to the problems with scheduling bridging it over.  But if we can get it all done today, we're certainly willing to go.  But if you want to just start and know that that's a possibility.


MR. POCH:  Sure, and it's not a problem for me to split it, Mr. Chairman, so whatever conveniences the Board.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:

Panel, let me start with your Exhibit C, tab 5, schedule 2 at page 25.


Mr. Chairman, I should say I've abandoned using a compendium because things have been moving -- it's a bit of a moving target.  I've provided Ms. Adams were a list of where I'm going, so hopefully that's not going to slow things down too much.


At paragraph 75, this was in your original filing back in November or December, and you said:

"At present, Enbridge does not have sufficient insight into the underlying analysis of the MACC study to fully understand what is driving the clear differences between the MACC study results, the conservation potential study results, and the utilities' DSM plans."

Then we asked you in Exhibit I1.EGDI.GEC.29B, in part B we asked you since you filed that application have you investigated and obtained a fuller understanding of the MACC study as part of your preparation for the midterm review.


And you answered in part B:

"No further detail beyond what is provided by the final MACC has been obtained for either the midterm review or the compliance plan proceeding."

So let me first ask you, have you since had any opportunity to talk to ICF to obtain further clarification from them?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think Mr. Johnson, in his comments earlier, identified that part of the issue -- or not issue, but the reality is that irrespective of whether the -- you know, the MACC was a good product.  It's just that it was based on an underlying proprietary model that ICF used, and so they made some adjustment to the CPS data and took some different slicing-and-dicing, if you will.  And so it's difficult to know exactly -- to follow that path.


MR. POCH:  My question was simply have you spoken to them to try to get -- to dig down deeper into that, or is where we are -- is where it rests your answer in part B there?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, there was a discussion where they took the time to, you know, reorient the path. But again, without the numbers, sometimes it's difficult to follow all the specifics.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Do you now understand that -- The -- let's make sure we are on the same page -- that the MACC used what's called the business-as-usual approach in the CPS for the -- at least in two scenarios, the constrained and semi-constrained, and the MACC did not use the optimized approach that the CPS used which is where they mixed some measures approached with the business-as-usual approach and some with the more aggressive approaches?


Are we -- is that your understanding as well, and that's what led to the -- one of the reasons for the higher savings in the CPS than the MACC?


MR. JOHNSON:  I certainly heard that discussion on Tuesday with Union, and I did go and look in the MACC where it does talk about the business-as-usual.  But again, without seeing the numbers, I can't say that I understand that fully.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, there's been a few concerns raised by Union and yourselves about pursuing incremental ratepayer-funded energy efficiency that is DSM.  One of them is risk, and the Board's cap-and-trade framework specifically requires you to consider risk in developing your compliance portfolio.


So we asked -- and I'm going to ask you to turn up JC4.  In part (c), we asked you what did the company do to compare risk of different potential compliance options including both the purchase of emission allowances and the pursuit of customer and facility abatement options, and was it quantified.


And your answer to both (c) to that and the following question were that the evaluation of risk will be -- for potential compliance options will be completed at the time a purchase is contemplated.


Can I take from that that answer was really about looking at risk of the instrument purchase option, and am I also correct that that answer implies that there was no formal analysis of incremental DSM risk, or of the DSM risk versus carbon instrument risk?  Is all that true?


MS. MURPHY:  I agree that that answer, we did -- looking back at your question, I see you were asking as well about abatement and we did focus more on the procurement side, and so the answer there holds true for procurement.


With respect to the incremental energy efficiency question, I don't think we've contemplated the risk of that to any large degree, just simply because we haven't identified any cost-effective energy efficiency in our plan for the year.


MR. POCH:  So according, you haven't done any comparison of risk between these those two options to the extent they compete; is that fair?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think as Ms. Murphy is outlining, we did assess what abatement opportunities were existing for energy efficiency.  There were none that were deemed to be cost-effective, so really it was ruled out because it was deemed that it may be more costly in fact going back to the point from the Ontario commissioner, environmental commissioner, it's a certainty and so I believe the panel at Union Gas made this as well, that you could actually invest in the additional energy efficiency and you could double pay.


So we really needed to take a prudent cost optimized approach, and the MACC tool was the tool that provided that basis to say there is no cost-effective energy efficiency.


MR. POCH:  So the answer to my question is you just didn't get as far as, in your view, of needing a risk analysis, because there was nothing about which you were --


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I would say --


MR. POCH:  Is that fair?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's not accurate to say out of hand that we didn't do any review.  We did do a review.  There was no cost-effective energy efficiency, and with the risk of the CCAP entering the market it was deemed that it would not be prudent to assume a certain cost when we didn't have sight line to all the fact-finding --


MR. POCH:  I'm not asking -- sorry, I'm not asking whether you did analysis of DSM.  I think you've been quite clear about what you've done there.  I was asking if you've done an analysis of the risk associated with DSM, as opposed to the risk with carbon instruments, and I take it the answer is no, because you didn't see any opportunity for DSM in this context.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I would agree that there is no express outline of that.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, turning to the risk that you have talked about, you talked about -- at least -- and I know Union talked about this -- I believe you've talked about it -- you worry about a risk in pursuing more aggressive DSM, more aggressive approaches in the CPS that aren't carried forward into the MACC, because you are worried about, as you've said, non-achievement and the cost of that, and you just referred to that a minute ago.  I've got that right?  Or duplication with the government programs.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, the ratepayer is paying $2 a month for energy efficiency.  They are paying an additional seven to eight dollars a month for cap-and-trade, and if we can optimize within that, that's our mission one.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And just in terms of being able to juggle things, given that everything has uncertainty and you are -- one of the uncertainties you are worried about is DSM achievement, let me just ask this:  Allowances are auctioned quarterly, correct?


MS. MURPHY:  That's correct, the auctions are held quarterly, but there is also a secondary market that's available at any time.


MR. POCH:  And that's an emerging market that is always available or will likely always be available?


MS. MURPHY:  That's a market now that we're joined with WCI that's been in existence for a while now.


MR. POCH:  And so if incremental DSM -- carbon-driven DSM wasn't going well or alternatively was exceeding your expectation, you could adjust your bids and purchases of allowances as you go to accommodate that, correct?


MS. MURPHY:  I think that's fair.  We could adjust our procurement strategy if we saw that -- and it is actually quite hard to see avoided emissions, because they are not coming through a meter, so, you know, we do track our volumes and convert that to emissions and see where we are, and we can adjust our purchasing strategy as needed.  However, if the customer is being for that abatement project or that energy efficiency project, and now we're buying allowances because it wasn't as effective, now we're charging the customer twice, so I guess there would be some concern -- even though it's possible, there could be some concern there that we are charging the customer for maybe ineffective energy efficiency and then going by allowances to make up the difference.


MR. POCH:  Your administrative -- if you are talking about an existing DSM program and tweaking it to go farther but going farther because you've been given some head room, for example, under the $2 a month rule, your admin costs are largely fixed and your biggest variable cost there is likely to be the added incentives you have to pay to more participants; is that fair?


MR. JOHNSON:  Again, that's a very open-ended question.  With small tweaks I would agree with that.  If we were launching new programs then we could have significant overhead increases as well.


MR. POCH:  So if you didn't have participation, you wouldn't have extra -- you wouldn't be paying incentives to the new participants.


MR. JOHNSON:  I see, yes, so, again, you know, some small tweak where you increase the incentives and there was no participants, I would agree with you.  A new program where we had done a bunch of design, you know, built up a team, maybe did some marketing, those would be your sunk costs, so it would depend on the case.


MR. POCH:  And just going back to the flexibility you have on the allowance purchase front, is my understanding correct that the regulations allow to you carry forward extra -- if you have an extra inventory of allowances you can carry a certain amount forward over the year end?


MS. MURPHY:  Yes, so it's a four-year compliance period, and we don't need to surrender allowances until after the end of that four-year period.


MR. POCH:  And you have to -- you are going to have to wrestle with uncertainty on that front for any number of reasons.  You could have a cold winter.


MS. MURPHY:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  Right.  So you've got to -- because of DSM, because of weather, because of any number of things, you are going to be watching your meters at the gate, and that's what's going to determine how many allowances you have to obtain by year end, correct?


MS. MURPHY:  That's right, so we do our forecast, which is in the compliance plan, but then we're tracking the actuals as well, and what we are ultimately responsible for surrendering to the government is based on the actual, not our forecast.


MR. POCH:  And just in terms of the risk from the DSM effort, if you were to go that route, you wouldn't -- you would probably want to diversify your approach to minimize risk; is that fair?


MR. JOHNSON:  I'm not sure I entirely understand what you mean by "diversify" there.


MR. POCH:  You wouldn't put all your -- if the Board said to you, we're going to give you -- you can go up to $2.50 a month per customer, you wouldn't spend that all necessarily on one measure, in one segment, with one program approach, you would probably spread that out amongst a number of different measures or different approaches to hedge your bet, to diversify your risk.


MR. JOHNSON:  Again, I think that's a very open-ended question.  It depends on what guidelines we were given, you know.  If we were told go after a specific area, then that's what we may have to do, but --


MR. POCH:  You had discretion.


MR. JOHNSON:  If we had discretion I think we would generally try and target programs across a number of different areas.


MR. POCH:  And I think you've already indicated that if you are just talking about tweaking existing programs, you've got a little more certainty, a little less admin overhead, additional within overhead, as opposed to whole new programs, maybe the risk's a bit bigger there; is that fair?


MR. JOHNSON:  I think that's a fair statement.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And is it true that increasing incentives for a given measure can often increase -- all else being equal, can in many cases increase participation and thereby lower the Free rider rate, obviously with rate impact implications?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, I mean, I think we're getting into a DSM -- very much into a DSM conversation, DSM framework conversation here.  I think that actually, in fact, did come up either in DSM or one of these IRs, and then my statement would be, it would depend on the particular measure, and why I say that is there's some measures that are much more focused on, say, our technical support or work that we do to identify that, and then the incentives are help, but they are not, you know, as critical in deciding factor, so a change in that incentive might not have a big impact, where another program which is really incentive-focused, that may have a bigger impact.


MR. POCH:  And indeed, if you wanted to look to get your best bang for your buck and keep your risk low, there is a number of information sources you could turn to.  ICF has given their advice in the CPS, there is other jurisdictions you could look at, there is the experience that you are having at the margin with your own programs; is that fair?


MR. JOHNSON:  Again, are we talking within a DSM framework here?


MR. POCH:  Either in the cap-and-trade framework or a DSM framework.


MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  So again, within a cap-and-trade framework we didn't identify anything that was cost-effective, so within a DSM framework we would certainly look to where we could best use that.  Again, I'm struggling, because there's a big -- a lot of assumptions that I don't have in this in terms of what rules are being set, are there any -- you know, within the DSM framework we sometimes have, you know, direction to spend within certain areas, we have incentives towards ourselves to encourage us in terms of our results, so there are just a lot of variables.  I'm struggling to answer that.


MR. POCH:  I'm thinking in advance of all that being nailed down, if you were asked -- if this Board invited you to come forward with enhanced DSM proposals, as Mr. Elson was getting to at the end of his cross there, to make some proposals, and tell us what tweaks to the regulatory framework you'd need, I was just suggesting to you you've got some starting points, you've got some advice from ICF already, you've got your own information, you've got other jurisdictions you can look at.  So you are not starting from square one.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'd just like to confirm that you are talking about DSM.


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, I mean we've been in the market for DSM for a long time.  We have a lot of existing programs.


As I say, within our existing DSM framework we make changes that we're always trying to -- we're incented to drive as much result as we can, so we're always trying to do that.  So if there were changes within the DSM framework -- for example, you mentioned lifting the cap -- we would for sure now take a step pack and look at where we could make best use of those funds.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  All right.  I just wanted to ask about -- it's actually not about your forecasted gas, but let me ask the question.


Did you include in your gas throughput forecast that determines what allowances you think you are going to need to get, any adjustment for savings from these various new government programs you are concerned about, apart from the GIF one, which I know you've specifically dealt with -- guess there are two GIF programs there, the thermostats and the whole home.


Apart from that that we were taken to earlier, have you included any other adjustment in your -- for this big scary pot of money out there?


MS. MURPHY:  So in our forecast, we do take into account the GIF volume, as you mentioned, but we really have not taken into account the impact of any other government programs, the GreenON or whatnot, and the impact that that could have on our throughput.


MR. POCH:  But you're confident that the flexibilities you have will allow you to cope with that, in terms of meeting your commitments?


MS. MURPHY:  That's really just one piece.  The weather is also a variable in our throughput, so we believe in our compliance plan.  We have a plan that we've built that would allow that flexibility to monitor actuals versus forecast, and that we do have that flexibility to react.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Looking at your CNI  prescriptive measure rebates and your resource acquisition programs, in your DSM, in the DSM world -- and I'm asking about that because, first of all, let me see if we agree, that tends to be an area where you are getting a lot of -- you are getting some good bang for the buck.  Is that fair?


MR. JOHNSON:  Are you referring to CNI in general, or CNI prescriptive specifically?


MR. POCH:  Well, you tell me.


MR. JOHNSON:  CNI, in general, yes.  I think prescriptive tends not to be as cost-effective, but it is still reasonably cost-effective.


MR. POCH:  And I take it it's still more cost-effective -- it tends to be more cost-effective in the residential, for example?


MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check, I think that's reasonable.


MR. POCH:  And it's my understanding that in those programs where you offer rebates, either as prescriptive or as part of a package, they tend to be in the sort of 5 to 20 or 25 percent range of the incremental cost of the measures.  Is that ballpark about right?


MR. JOHNSON:  They can vary.  I would suspect most fall in that range.  There are some that would be higher than that.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Have you done a measure by measure analysis of the opportunities to increase participation rates for individual measures in your portfolio that, at least to date, government programs aren't targeting -- and I gather that to date, we don't know of any CNI targeted programs from government, and whether that be by better marketing or higher incentives, or did I -- did I understand earlier that like Union, you did this analysis, you've only done the analysis at a somewhat higher level of comparison to the MACC?


MR. JOHNSON:  So I guess a couple of things in there.  One, you mentioned no government funding for CNI.  I believe there are some.  Unfortunately, I can't speak specifically to it, but I've heard comments about potential RFPs in that area.


The second -- to answer your actual question, are you referring to within -- again within a cap-and-trade framework or within a DSM framework?


MR. POCH:  No, within a DSM framework to start.  Let's start there, first of all.


MR. JOHNSON:  So I can't say that we've done it measure by measure.  But as I say, we are incented within our existing program to always be looking for that and we are -- every year we do make -- I shouldn't say every year.  As a general statement, we often do make changes to our programs to increase incentives or change incentives for programs where we see that we can get better uptake.


MR. POCH:  I think I answered your question.  What I'm really after, though, is under the cap-and-trade framework because we're -- in comparison to the MACC, have you gone down to that measured specific level and looked at how you could increase opportunities in some specific measure areas, or is that where you held it to a higher level of comparison, as I understood earlier?  Have I got that right?


MR. JOHNSON:  I think so, depending what you mean by the higher level.  Again we did look both at the sort of total commercial industrial and then within sort of the specific end use categories, and again, especially within the CNI space, because we have a custom program that is flexible and can target, you know, virtually all types of measures.


Even if there was a gap that we had from a prescriptive measure, our custom program would cover that.


And that's actually one of the other things I just wanted to draw attention to in that comparison with the prescriptive is, there's times where prescriptive measures end up being captured in our custom program, just because if one more than one measure is done at the same time, there can be interactive effects and we want to make sure we're not double counting anything.


MR. POCH:  I wasn't asking about looking for measures that you weren't pursuing -- because, as you say, you have some flexibility to catch them in your custom, what have you.


I was asking if you've looked at, measure by measure, opportunities for improving participation and improving penetration for measures that you already are doing.


MR. JOHNSON:  As I say, we didn't do that measure by measure within the cap-and-trade.  We are generally -- and I can't say we cover every measure every year by any stretch of the imagination, but we are regularly within our DSM program looking for ways to optimize that to derive the greatest result that we can.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Both companies have talked about a concern of rate impacts of incremental ratepayer-driven DSM, rate impacts for nonparticipants.


Let me ask:  When we were in this room a couple of years ago and Enbridge was proposing GTA pipeline, in part, as I understand it, to serve the emerging new load in the Toronto core, were you then or are you now allocating the costs of that project, or a portion of that the cost of that project to the specific customers who its needed to serve?  Or do all your customers, whether they are participating in load growth or not, bear that cost?  Leaving aside that the --

MR. McGILL:  Just a moment.


MR. POCH:  I was going to say leaving aside the T customers at the --


MR. McGILL:  Well, there is a cost allocation process to allocate costs to our different customer rate classes, and that cost allocation process takes into account all of the elements of the company's rate base, and there's sophisticated modelling that goes through several steps in order to allocate costs to those different customer classes.


So I would argue that the customers that derive certain costs bear those costs in the rates, based on that allocation methodology.


MR. POCH:  Their rate class?


MR. McGILL:  Whether they are GTA costs, or cost of meters, or distribution of pipe.


MR. POCH:  You allocate it to the rate class.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Within the rate class, you don't distinguish between the customers living in the new condominiums that are being built at the foot of Bay Street as opposed to the rest of your residential rate 1 customers?


MR. McGILL:  Well, the rate classes are devised to try to group customers with similar characteristics together.


MR. POCH:  Yes, sure.  But in answer to my question, the GTA costs that went to the residential rate class, that rate class, you didn't then further allocate between those customers that are causing you this problem of meeting a peak and the new customers and the old customers, for example?


MR. McGILL:  Well, the rate design that applies to each customer class attempts to do that by some rates have a demand charge, some rates that don't.  Rates have different blocks, different base customer charges.


So yes, that mechanism attempts to allocate cost equitably to different customers and customer classes based on the demands they put on the system.


MR. POCH:  So the fellow in an apartment in -- existing apartment at Yonge and Eglinton, he's not going to see any increase in his rates from the GTA proposal, and the fellow in the new apartment on Front Street is going to see them because, in their rate -- their rates are going to change, you've allocated -- your structure allows them -- in effect, you are treating those guys as the participants?


MR. McGILL:  If both of those customers were in the same rate class --


MR. POCH:  Yes, they are.


MR. McGILL:  -- they would be allocated costs on the same basis, and then within that rate class, the amount they pay is driven by the structure of the rate itself.


And as I said, depending on the nature of the class you have a different rate structure within each rate.  You have different blocking, you have different base rates, some rates you have demand charges --


MR. POCH:  Right.  And those two --


MR. McGILL:  -- and that's how you attempt to --


MR. POCH:  Sorry.


MR. McGILL:  -- address that.


MR. POCH:  And those two customers who are in the same rate class are getting the same rate structure.


MR. McGILL:  Yes --


MR. POCH:  So --


MR. McGILL:  -- but they are not necessarily paying the same price.


MR. POCH:  If they use the same amount as each other they are paying the same price.


MR. McGILL:  With the same load profile --


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. McGILL:  -- the same amount, yes, they would.


MR. POCH:  Yes, they would.  You don't distinguish between the existing customer and the new customer or the customer that's relocating to this area that's caused you to build this -- invest this capital.


MR. McGILL:  You don't calculate a customer rate for each of our 2.2 million customers.


MR. POCH:  That doesn't disturb you, that doesn't alarm you, you think that's fair, right?


MR. McGILL:  It is fair within the context of the rate-setting process, which has been -- like, I've been doing this for 30 years.  We've been setting rates the same way for 30 years.  And so if there is a problem with that, that's for a different proceeding before this Board.


MR. POCH:  I'm not suggesting there is a problem with that; I'm trying to draw a parallel that you seem very alarmed about, you know, rate impacts for non-participants in DSM in a given year but not so alarmed when we get to the supply side.  All right.  This is argument.  I think I can move on.


MR. O'LEARY:  I was only going to ask, Mr. Chair, through you, as to whether Mr. Poch is suggesting that the fact that the rates that have been set and the methodology used to set those rates, including all the cost allocation methodologies, are not just and reasonable?


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I think Mr. Poch made his point at the end.  It was drawing the other conclusion.


MR. O'LEARY:  Where he's going with that...


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  I wanted to ask about some -- just some -- this -- that the carbon costs and the 15 percent adder, and you've filed a letter where you've asked the Board to consider putting the carbon costs into the avoided cost analysis.


First of all, we agree that there's a 15 percent adder right now in the DSM framework on top of the avoided -- the traditional avoided costs, if you will, and that's intended to be for various externalities and internal costs that weren't explicitly captured, such as explicitly captured one like gas costs; right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Umm... it was intended to account for things like environmental benefits.


MR. POCH:  And the genesis of that one was it came from -- there was a -- the government asked the IESO to put a 15 percent adder on the electric side and this Board chose to mirror that on the gas side.  I think -- and I have a hunch -- Ms. Oliver-Glasford is the one with the history here, can confirm that.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's roughly how it went.


MR. POCH:  Okay, on the electric side, much less -- it's much less carbon-intensive there than on the gas use, obviously.  There is carbon -- there is some carbon in the generation of electricity and decreasingly so in Ontario, but there is much more on the gas side per BTU or however you measure it; fair?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think that's fair, although I don't think that the 15 percent adder was ever directly attributed to one thing or the other.


MR. POCH:  No, I'm just -- in fact, it wasn't, and I'm just trying to make the point that -- well, let me just keep moving forward.


Can you turn up page 32 of Mr. Neme's evidence, table 1.  And it's in our compendium at page 12.  I've forgotten the exhibit number in Mr. Neme's evidence.  I can find it.  It is Exhibit L.


And I just wanted to see there that -- can we go back to table 1, page 32, are we at?  Let me just see.  I'm sorry, I've lost my reference here.  Yes.  I am looking at page 32 of his evidence.  I think we better go -- you're looking at a different exhibit there.  I'm sorry.  Can we just turn up Exhibit -- Exhibit L, page 32.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you have it in your compendium, Mr. Poch?  Maybe not.


MR. POCH:  I don't think I do.  Page 32 of that exhibit.  I think we're almost there.  There we are.  That table.  Yeah.


And I just wanted to -- this table is looking at
the -- in the right column, the -- Mr. Neme's analysis of the incremental impact between the constrained and the semi-constrained options in the CPS, and I just wanted to draw your attention to the benefits section, and he's calculated the avoided gas cost of that movement from -- the difference between the constrained and semi-constrained is $56 and the value of the avoided carbon emissions is 17.  Do you see that?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Now, I just took that, the ratio between those, that suggested to me that the carbon emissions are about -- the value of them is about 30 percent of the avoided gas cost, ballpark.  Does that strike you as in the ballpark?


MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check, that looks right.


MR. POCH:  That's based on ICF's numbers, obviously, for that incremental piece.


So in a sense, ICF have told us in their view the -- in incremental DSM, the avoided carbon compliance cost is roughly twice the current 15 percent DSM adder, it's 30 percent of the gas avoided cost, as opposed to the 15 percent adder, right?  So this is not an insignificant change we're talking about adding carbon costs.


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, you've lost me there.  Can you say that again?


MR. POCH:  Well, yes, looking at that, it suggests that the carbon costs are about 30 percent of the avoided gas cost, which is basically the avoided costs on a TRC basis.  And so I was just suggesting -- we have a 15 percent adder, so whatever's in there for carbon, your request that the carbon be rolled into avoided costs, we're now talking about moving, at least doubling and probably much more than that, as our -- to account for the adder, doubling the adder, rather, to account for carbon costs; it's not an insignificant --


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  The portion would be a smaller portion of the overall if you had the electricity and the water there, so --


MR. POCH:  Right.  That would be a bit of a change to that.  Fair enough.  Thank you.


In fact, if we to go JT2.4, we were looking at this earlier, I believe, Mr. Elson, and there's the boxed values there.


Scroll down to the -- there we are.  That's -- these are Enbridge values.  And if we just take the difference between -- in that first -- the first one there, the TRC ones, between the first column and the second column, between the 222 million and the 165 million, that's 57 million, ballpark, subject to -- take my math subject to check, and so that's the -- the only difference between those columns is the GHG value, right?  So that 57 would be -- that implies that the value of the GHGs on your existing DSM portfolio is about 57 million.


MR. JOHNSON:  That's using -- yes, that's using the long-term price forecast.  And so why that appears greater than it would using carbon prices of today is again that forecast -- that number increases over time.


MR. POCH:  Sure.  And we know that forecast in fact is increasing faster than inflation, right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Correct, the mid-range price forecast.


MR. POCH:  And if we just look at the difference between columns 2 and 3, the difference there being that the difference between the TRC and the TRC Plus, so that's the 15 percent and if we take the difference between those -- I think my math tells me it's about 29 million.  Does that sound right to you?


MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check, yes.  What we were trying to demonstrate here was we were trying to be helpful in terms of the response to add the value of carbon.  And again, as I think we've just discussed, the 15 percent adder, it wasn't clear to us if that was intended to account for some portion of carbon.  So we gave the full range of zero to -- you know, it was intended to fully account for carbon.


MR. POCH:  That's fine.  I was really just really responding to Ms. Oliver-Glasford's point that there were some other tweaks once you get to the TRC.  They've got some electricity savings that are in there, you've got some water savings.  And this is perhaps -- you know, that's a valuable point and this takes all of that into account and explicitly for Enbridge's existing DSM.  So I was did just again comparing those two numbers I've distilled out of this table, the 57 being the value of GHGs, and the 29 being the 15 percent -- and again, it's a roughly a 2-to-1 ratio, that the GHG is roughly twice the 15 percent adder.


MR. JOHNSON:  Subject to check, that seems reasonable.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So you've suggested that customer abatement of the energy efficiency type, at least that portion of it that's funded by ratepayers, be assessed in the DSM framework.  But that framework has a different cost-effectiveness test, as we've repeatedly heard, than the cap-and-trade framework.


Would you agree that it's inappropriate to use a different test for two competing options to address cap-and-trade compliance?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I believe we should be using one approach, and I think we should be using one framework.


MR. POCH:  So the big question then is what's the best test to use.  And you're saying use that same test for the various competing options for cap-and-trade?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm saying there are a lot of unknowns and caveats, and pieces that have been developed over time for a very complicated DSM framework and implementation.  And I think it's best to keep all of these those pieces in discussion there, and to keep cap-and-trade capturing what those forecasts are, and then procuring based on the output of those.


MR. POCH:  I'm not sure you're answering my question.  My question was -- it strikes me that it is inappropriate
-- if you are doing what this Board in its cap-and-trade framework has asked you to do, which is to compare competing options for meeting your compliance, your cap-and-trade compliance needs, it seems to me the most appropriate thing to do is to make sure you use the same cost-effectiveness test in comparing option A to option B, whether it's DSM or renewable gas, what have you.


Does that make sense to you that when you are comparing options, you want to make sure you use the same cost-effectiveness test?


I'm not saying you don't take into account other considerations, but --


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think perhaps I'm getting confused, because I think there are two different objectives that we're talking about, one objective for cap-and-trade and one for DSM.


So I think to try and split an issue between two frameworks is a very difficult proposition.  Where does one end and another begin, especially when the DSM framework is built on an adjusting target, if you will.  It adjusts each year with a target adjustment mechanism, all kinds of pieces.


So to try and know where you're starting from -- if you were running a race, you would want to know what your starting line was.


MR. POCH:  Let me distil this for you, because I think you're not gasping my question and I apologize if I'm not being clear.  Imagine we're in a different world where you hadn't been doing any DSM.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. POCH:  Imagine you are in a different world and you hadn't been doing any DSM.  There is no DSM framework.  You just have a cap-and-trade compliance framework and you are asked, as you've been asked, to compare purchase of instruments versus customer abatement.  Would you agree that in that situation, you'd want to use the same cost-effectiveness test for those two things?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's hard to speculate upon that.  I think -- you know, I don't disagree that might be one way to proceed.  But I do think that there are things that are implicit in cap-and-trade and the time horizon that we're dealing with that would force other discussions, other policy discussions that we haven't had.


So, while the point might be a fair point, I think it would still involve additional discussion and resolution over particular policies on how to deal with that energy efficiency.


MR. POCH:  Sure.  You've obviously pointed out one, the different allocation of who gets the benefits and costs.  I appreciate that.


Now, of course we are in a world where there is a DSM framework, and in GEC-21, I don't think you need to turn it up, we recited your Exhibit C, tab 5, schedule 2, page 26, and you there you cited the Board's observation:

"The Board is after of the confident that any potential overlap can be appropriately addressed through the robust evaluation and measurement and verification EM&V process of the DSM framework.”

Enbridge then states it "believes that managing any overlap via the EM&V process will be overly complex and difficult."


So I guess my question is: How does the driver of energy efficiency change the EM&V that you need to do for energy efficiency?  Isn't it the same?


You want to track your results.  You want to look at free ridership, you want to...


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think again we have a construct in DSM that's built ground up.  We've got rules that have been developed and honed over, you know, decades now.  And I think we're looking at a cap-and-trade obligation that is a -- that is a gate station throughput actual that we have to meet.


So to try and -- just imagine that we were to do some incremental energy efficiency through cap-and-trade and then, at the end of the period, somehow when we're doing clearance, we are going to have a debate around did we actually get any results from that energy efficiency program or not because we won't actually know, other than to trust the ground up number that we've developed.  And I think we could have just as much debate at the back end as the front end if we start to try and do some analysis like that.


So I think the DSM framework has been built because there is value in energy efficiency, and so that approach to dealing with it is appropriate.


MR. POCH:  So are you saying that you don't see any use if we were -- if the Board tells you we would like to see some customer abatement because of this new reality we are in of cap-and-trade, customer abatement beyond what you're doing already in DSM, are you saying that you would resist using any of the existing mechanisms the Board's developed for evaluation and monitoring and verification, mechanisms that they've developed in the DSM world?  You think none of these are applicable or desirable to be applied in this scenario?  Am I hearing you right?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I don't think I'm saying that I would deny any of those EM&V protocols.  What I am saying is that cap-and-trade is based on actuals, and DSM is developed based on forecasts and deemed savings estimates, so I think that's where the disconnect is, so to try and match those things up is like trying to match up apples and oranges.  It is always going to be that way, and after the fact trying to prove out then, it is going to be difficult to know whether the ratepayers got the value of that additional piece, whereas in DSM you can deal with it differently.  You can track it differently, you can make sure that you've got all -- you are dealing with things in an apples-to-apples manner.


MR. POCH:  Just one more question and I will be done.


In Staff 2, attachment 1, page 8, which is also in our compendium, page 29, this was the company's presentation to the government -- wait until it's pulled up.  There you are.


And in the -- scroll a little farther -- you can see there that -- you've made a point that you expect RNG to be less expensive than electricity, especially in the later years and especially on peak.  And I wanted to ask about the relevance of that comparison.  Is it because environmental imperatives and thereby government policy indicates we are going to need to shift loads from carbon and methane-emitting gas and on to low-carbon options and electricity is the principal alternative and RNG is also a low-carbon option that could substitute for electricity, especially peak?  Is that why you are drawing that comparison, the kind of competing for that space, those two options?


MR. McGILL:  I don't think we were trying to call that out specifically.  I think what we were trying to do was demonstrate that when you measure the energy on a consistent unit basis, so one of the problems that we have is we talk about gJs, cubic metres, cost per cubic metres, the electric side talks about cost per kilowatt hour, and all we were trying to do here was put RNG on the same footing as electricity to try and demonstrate that it was more cost-effective than electricity at the time, and I'm not sure of the date of this presentation.  It was -- whether it was pre or post the Fair Hydro Plan, so that had an impact on this as well.


MR. POCH:  Right.  Well, we won't put too much on the second significant digit.  But what about the logic of what I was suggesting to you that, you know, down the road RNG may be, in effect -- a comparator may be electricity; it's one of the reasons you think it's promising; is that fair?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And I'm wondering if you could say the same is true of energy efficiency, of DSM, that you can reduce heating or other gas loads that might eventually be -- otherwise be needed to be switched to electricity, indeed, peak electricity loads.  Is that fair?


MR. McGILL:  Well, it depends, I guess, on the end use, the type of customer, as to, you know, what is the most practical alternative.  I think, in terms of the conservation measure, traditionally the main objective has always been to reduce consumption in order to reduce the participants' energy bill.  And we've got what I would call an ancillary benefit now associated with that, in that that energy bill also is reduced to the extent that the customer is paying for some carbon cost in that bill.


So that all of those benefits of the reduced bill are going back to the -- that one end customer that participates in the program, so that I think it's difficult -- it helps us in terms of potentially staying competitive against electricity in an environment where carbon prices are higher, so that's why conservation is important to us.


MR. POCH:  I know this is a painful subject for you in the gas world, but isn't it clear that to meet the current government policy objectives we are going to probably have to see some fuel switching from gas to electricity, absent either significant efficiencies in the gas side or substitution of non-carbonation fuels?


MR. McGILL:  I think that's a potential outcome, and I think we were alluding to it earlier, that it, you know, it depends on where the most cost-effective carbon abatement is across the entire Ontario energy marketplace, so in terms of industrial process, in terms of vehicles, in terms of building and water heating, which is the market that we're primarily involved with, so, you know, if it's -- you know, I think we demonstrated in the materials we submitted in terms of our comments on the long-term energy plan that in terms of cost-effectiveness, you are far more cost-effective to electrify vehicles.


It just so happens that if you drive the average car $20,000 a year and fuel with gasoline you will emit about 4 tonnes of carbon, which is about the same amount of carbon attributable to a residential customer on average that is heating with gas and heating their hot water with gas.  So when you look at what's more cost-effective, to change that heating system out to some kind of electricity alternative or change their vehicle to electricity, and what we found was it's much more cost-effective to look at changing over the vehicle.


So as the whole marketplace evolves I think there is going to be a lot of things that impact on what the most cost-effective abatement alternatives are.


MR. POCH:  All right.  I guess where I was headed with this, it seems to me that if you are looking at the long-term avoided costs for evaluating efficiency in this carbon world, one of those may be that the alternative is even more expensive electricity, and that sort of adds to this to the need for energy efficiency on the gas side.


MR. McGILL:  That could potentially be the case.


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my questions.  Thank you for the indulgence.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No problem.  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

Procedural Matters:

Tomorrow, a few things at play here.  One of them -- my apologies, when we moved to nine o'clock on Thursday morning I didn't mention to anyone that I couldn't be here at nine o'clock tomorrow morning, but I can at 9:15, so we can do 9:15 and keep things moving as we can.


Mr. Rubenstein, you will be up first at 9:15.


We still want to keep the option open of having the joint panel sometime tomorrow after Enbridge, but we will know at the end of this panel whether or not it's necessary.


So we'll make that determination fairly early on tomorrow, and then everybody will know how to best plan the rest of the day.


I understand we'll be moving to the Environmental Defence and GEC panel immediately after Enbridge, and then we'll see what the rest of the day holds.  I'll leave it to Staff to discuss the options of starting any of the confidential tomorrow, and whether or not -- I don't want to suggest that we will, but what are our options, and we can maybe talk about that tomorrow morning.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, if I may, I'm assuming that if there is this -- whenever this joint panel is, the intention is that will be for the Board's use and it's not for counsel's cross-examination.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That was our original intent, yes, thank you.


MS. SEERS:  Mr. Chair, if I may.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MS. SEERS:  With respect to the confidential panel, we would have a bit of difficulty starting tomorrow, because there is one witness who is not here and could only be here on Monday, so that would be our strong preference to start on Monday, if at all possible.  And the schedule for tomorrow seems ambitious in any event, so --


MR. QUESNELLE:  It does, it does.


MS. SEERS:  -- I would expect that's where we would end in any event --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah.  It may be that we have -- or perhaps do their confidential panel tomorrow --


MS. SEERS:  And with respect to the joint panel, I guess, and the Panel -- the Board Panel may not be in a position to answer this question, but one -- at this time, but one question we had is, we'd appreciate direction when the Board can provide it as to the topic so t hat we could determine who to put up and also whether it's intended that EPCOR would be a part of that panel also or only Union and Enbridge at this time?


MR. QUESNELLE:  At this time, probably just Union and Enbridge.  The whole idea of it was to see if there was anything we needed to ask about what we've learned in contrast, and we don't have any topics for you right now, so obviously we haven't seen any need and that's why we're not sure if we'll need it or not.  So it will depend on what we hear tomorrow morning.


MS. SEERS:  If that's the case, perhaps it would be an option to have the joint panel go before EPCOR, if that's sufficient.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It could be, yes.  On the confidentiality, we are still expecting a letter that will frame up your request and contextualize the two letters that we've received.  And then we'll turn to others to see if anyone has submissions on that, and we will deal with that as soon as we can.


MS. SEERS:  We'll have that tonight, thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Oh, Mr. Rubenstein?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask through the Chair to Union when is their expectation they would have a response to undertaking J2.8.  If you recall, this was the undertaking where they were going to seek -- there were further documents related to the LCIF, and there was discussion that if there is, maybe they needed to be before the joint panel.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MS. SEERS:  We'll have that tomorrow.


MR. QUESNELLE:  With that, we are adjourned and we will reconvene at 9:15.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:54 p.m.
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